
 
 

Shelton City Council 
Meeting Agenda 

May 7, 2024 at 6:00 p.m. 
Civic Center & Virtual Platform 

 
 
 
A.  Call to Order 

• Pledge of Allegiance 
• Roll Call 
• Late Changes to the Agenda 

 
B.  Council Reports 
 
C.  Consent Agenda (Action) 

1.  Vouchers numbered 110497 through 110529 and EFT payment numbers 280 through 292 in the  
     total amount of $276,051.14 
2.  Vouchers numbered 110532 through 110582 and EFT payment numbers 293 through 312 in the  
     total amount of $133,010.55 
3.  Vouchers numbered 110583 through 110634 and EFT payment numbers 313 through 327 in the  
     total amount of $149,287.18 
4.  Minutes: 

• Business Meeting of March 5, 2024 
• Study Session of March 12, 2024 
• Business Meeting of March 19, 2024  

 
D.  Presentations 
     1.  Overlook Park Eagle Scout Project 
     2.  Swearing-in of Limited Commission Officers 
     3.  National Public Works Week Proclamation 
     4.  Police Department Annual Report 
     5.  2023 Transportation Benefit District Annual Report 
 
E.  Business Agenda (Study/No Action/Public Comment Taken) 
     1.  Resolution No. 1328-0324 WWTP Back-Up Disinfection System Grant Acceptance – Presented by  
          Public Works Director Jay Harris 
     2.  Resolution No. 1331-0424 Amendment #3 Satellite Plant Tank Wetland Delineation Work – Presented by 
          Public Works Director Jay Harris 
     3.  Council Protocol Manual & Strategic Goals Update – Presented by City Manager Mark Ziegler 
     4.  Use Agreement for Mason County Historical Society – Presented by City Manager Mark Ziegler 
     5.  Resolution No. 1330-0424 Approving C Street Landfill Environmental Covenant – Presented by  
          City Manager Mark Ziegler   
           
F.  Action Agenda (Action/Public Comment Taken) 
     1.  Resolution No. 1317-0224 Police Vehicle Purchase – Presented by Finance Director Mike Githens    
 
G.  Administration Reports 
      1.  City Manager Report 



  
  
 
H.  General Public Comment (3-minute time limit) 
      The Council invites members of the public to provide comment on any City-related topic. To make comments in person, please 
        sign in on the public comment sheet and keep an instruction card. If you would like to comment on a Business or Action item, please 
        list the agenda item number on the list. To comment virtually using Zoom, please use the “Raise Hand” feature to alert the City Clerk. 
        If you have joined Zoom on your telephone, dial *9 to use the “Raise Hand” feature. City Councilmembers and City Staff will not enter 
        into a dialogue during public comment. If the Council feels an issue requires follow up, Staff will be directed to respond at an    
        appropriate time. 
 
I.  New Items for Discussion 
 
J.  Announcement of Next Meeting – May 21, 2024 at 6:00 p.m. 
 
K.  Adjourn 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Special Note for Virtual Public Participation 
 

The meeting can be viewed at: https://www.youtube.com/user/cityofshelton 

The public can provide comments virtually by: 
Email:  donna.nault@sheltonwa.gov (before 5:00pm the day of the meeting)  

Telephone: (360) 432-5103 (before 5:00pm the day of the meeting) 
Join the Zoom meeting by clicking on the link posted on the City Council’s webpage 

 
Your comments will be relayed directly to the Council. 

https://www.youtube.com/user/cityofshelton
mailto:donna.nault@sheltonwa.gov


 

Updated 5/1/2024 
 

  
2024 Looking Ahead 
    (Items and dates are subject to change) 

 
 

 
Tues. 5/14 
6:00 p.m. 

Special Meeting Council Vacancy Interviews Packet Items Due: 
5/3 @ 5:00 p.m. 

Tues. 5/21 
6:00 p.m. 

Regular Meeting Consent Agenda 
• Vouchers/Payroll Warrants/Meeting Minutes 

Presentations 
• MCHS Museum Q1 LTAC Presentation 
• Christmastown USA LTAC Presentation 
• Swear-in Police Officer 
• Swear-in New Councilmember 
• March Financial Status Report 

Business Agenda 
• Public Hearing Resolution No. 1329-0424  

6-Year Transportation Improvement Program 
(TIP)  

• Resolution No. 1332-0524 Contract with SCJ 
Alliance for Transportation Plan Update 

Action Agenda 
• Civic Center Rotating Art Gallery 
• Council Protocol Manual & Strategic Goals 

Update 
• Use Agreement for Mason County Historical 

Society 
• Resolution No. 1328-0324 WWTP Back-Up 

Disinfection System Grant Acceptance 
• Resolution No. 1330-0424 Approving the  

C Street Landfill Environmental Covenant 
• Resolution No. 1331-0424 Amendment #3, 

Satellite Plant Tank Wetland Delineation 
Work 

Administration Report 
•  

Packet Items Due: 
5/10 @ 5:00 p.m. 

Tues. 5/28 
6:00 p.m. 

Study Session Study Agenda 
• Central Mason Fire & EMS 
• WWTP Back-Up Disinfection Project 

Packet Items Due: 
5/24 @ noon 

Tues. 6/4 
6:00 p.m. 

Regular Meeting Consent Agenda 
• Vouchers/Payroll Warrants/Meeting Minutes 

Presentations 
•  

Business Agenda 
•  

Action Agenda 
• Resolution No. 1329-0424 6-Year 

Transportation Improvement Program (TIP) 

Packet Items Due: 
5/24 @ 5:00 p.m. 



 

Updated 5/1/2024 
 

• Resolution No. 1332-0524 Contract with SCJ 
Alliance for Transportation Plan Update 

Administration Report 
•  

Tues. 6/11 
6:00 p.m. 

Study Session Study Agenda Packet Items Due: 
6/7 @ noon 

Tues. 6/18 
5:45 p.m. 

SMPD Meeting Consent Agenda 
• Vouchers/Meeting Minutes 

Business Agenda 
•  

Action Agenda 
•  

Administration Report 
•  

Packet Items Due: 
6/7 @ 5:00 p.m. 

Tues. 6/18 
6:00 p.m. 

Regular Meeting Consent Agenda 
• Vouchers/Payroll Warrants/Meeting Minutes 

Presentations 
• April Financial Status Report 

Business Agenda 
•  

Action Agenda 
•  

Administration Report 
•  

Packet Items Due: 
6/7 @ 5:00 p.m. 

Tues. 6/25 
6:00 p.m. 

Study Session Study Agenda 
• Flock Demonstration 

Packet Items Due: 
6/21 @ noon 

Other – TBD 

• Project and Funding Authorization for Wallace Kneeland/Shelton Springs Intersection Improvements 
• Height Limit Ordinance 
• Resolution No. 1305-1123 AMI Project Award 
• Resolution No. 1316-0124 Interlocal Agreement with Mason County for Reimbursable Work, Supplies 

and Services 
• International Property Maintenance Code  































































































 
 

CITY OF SHELTON, WASHINGTON - CITY COUNCIL 
City Council Meeting Minutes 

March 5, 2024 – 6:00 p.m. 
Civic Center & Virtual Platform 

COUNCILMEMBERS AND PERSONNEL  
Councilmembers: Personnel: 
Mayor Eric Onisko City Manager Mark Ziegler  
George Blush City Clerk Donna Nault  
Tom Gilmore Capital Projects Manager Aaron Nix 
Miguel Gutierrez Public Works Director Jay Harris  
Sharon Schirman Parks & Recreation Supervisor Jordanne Krumpols 
Melissa Stearns Senior Planner Jason Dose    
    
CALL TO ORDER 
Call to Order: 6:00 p.m. 
Pledge of Allegiance: Mayor Onisko 
Roll Call: City Clerk Nault – Absent: Deputy Mayor Joe Schmit 
 
A motion was made by Councilmember Blush and seconded by Councilmember Gutierrez to excuse the absence 
of Deputy Mayor Schmit. Passed. 
 
LATE CHANGES TO THE AGENDA 
None 
 
CITY COUNCIL REPORTS 
None 
 
CONSENT AGENDA 
1. Vouchers numbered 110150 through 110185 and EFT payment numbers 185 through 196 in the  
     total amount of $94,839.67 
2. Vouchers numbered 110191 through 110219 and EFT payment numbers 197 through 208 in the  
     total amount of $171,257.25 
 
A motion was made by Councilmember Blush and seconded by Councilmember Gutierrez to approve 
the consent agenda as published. Passed. 
 
PRESENTATIONS 
1. Proclamation – American Red Cross Month  
 
Mayor Onisko read the proclamation. Discussion followed. 
    
BUSINESS AGENDA 
1. Resolution No. 1320-0224 TIB Grant Acceptance for Olympic Hwy. N. Improvements – Presented by Capital  
    Projects Manager Aaron Nix 
 
Capital Projects Manager Nix presented information regarding the TIB grant acceptance for Olympic Hwy. N. 
improvements. Discussion followed. No public comment. 
 
A motion was made by Councilmember Gutierrez and seconded by Councilmember Schirman to forward 



 

City Council – March 5, 2024 - Meeting Minutes 
Civic Center & Virtual Platform  Page 2 of 3 

Resolution No. 1320-0224 to the March 19, 2024 action agenda for further consideration. Passed. 
 
ACTION AGENDA 
1. Resolution No. 1311-0124 Pavement Condition Index (PCI) Study – Presented by Capital Projects  
     Manager Aaron Nix 
 
Capital Projects Manager Nix presented information regarding the pavement condition index study. 
No discussion. No public comment. City Clerk Nault provided a reading of Resolution No. 1311-0124. 
 
A motion was made by Councilmember Gutierrez and seconded by Councilmember Blush to adopt 
Resolution No. 1311-0124 as presented. Passed. 
 
2. Resolution No. 1315-0124 Storm Department Vehicle Purchase – Presented by Public Works Director  
    Jay Harris 
 
Public Works Director Harris presented information regarding a storm department vehicle purchase. No 
discussion. No public comment. City Clerk Nault provided a reading of Resolution No. 1315-0124. 
 
A motion was made by Councilmember Gutierrez and seconded by Councilmember Blush to adopt 
Resolution No. 1315-0124 as presented. Passed.  
 
3. Parks Advisory Board Appointment – Presented by Parks & Recreation Supervisor Jordanne Krumpols 
 
Parks & Recreation Supervisor Krumpols presented information regarding the Parks Advisory Board 
appointment. Discussion followed. No public comment. 
 
A motion was made by Councilmember Gutierrez and seconded by Councilmember Schirman to approve the 
appointment of Kathy McDowell to the Parks & Recreation Citizen Advisory Committee. Passed. 
 
4. Meadows Edge Final Plat Approval – Presented by Senior Planner Jason Dose 
 
Senior Planner Dose presented information regarding the Meadows Edge final plat approval. Discussion followed. 
No public comment. 
 
A motion was made by Councilmember Gutierrez and seconded by Councilmember Schirman to authorize the City 
Manager to sign the final plat for the Meadows Edge subdivision. Passed. 
 
5. Resolution No. 1318-0224 Mason County Garbage Rates - Presented by City Manager Mark Ziegler 
 
City Manager Ziegler presented information regarding Mason County garbage rates. No discussion. No public 
comment. City Clerk Nault provided a reading of Resolution No. 1318-0224. 
 
Resolution No.1318-0224 did not receive a motion and was not adopted. 
 
6. Resolution No. 1319-0224 MOU with Mason County for .09 Funds – Presented by City Manager  
    Mark Ziegler 
 
City Manager Ziegler presented information regarding the MOU with Mason County for .09 funds. 
No discussion. No public comment. City Clerk Nault provided a reading of Resolution No. 1319-
0224. 
 
A motion was made by Councilmember Schirman and seconded by Councilmember Blush to 
approve Resolution No. 1319-0224 as presented. Passed. 
 



 

City Council – March 5, 2024 - Meeting Minutes 
Civic Center & Virtual Platform  Page 3 of 3 

7. Designated Crisis Responder Contracts – Presented by City Manager Mark Ziegler 
 
City Manager Ziegler presented information regarding the Designated Crisis Responder contracts. Discussion 
followed. No public comment. 
 
A motion was made by Councilmember Gutierrez and seconded by Councilmember Stearns to waive the three-
touch rule and approve the contracts with Thurston Mason Behavioral Health Administrative Services 
Organization and Olympic Health and Recovery Services for designated crisis responder services and authorize 
the City Manager to sign. Passed. 
 
ADMINISTRATION REPORT 
1. City Manager Report 

• Welcome Kathy McDowell back to the Parks Advisory Board. 
• The House and Senate just approved their budget which includes design funds for the Simpson Railroad 

trail project. 
• CGI video updates for the City website 

 
GENERAL PUBLIC COMMENT (3-minute time limit) 
In-Person: Zoom: 
Dean Jewett Colleen Carmichael 
 
NEW ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION 
None 
 
ANNOUNCEMENT OF NEXT MEETING 
Study Session – March 12, 2024 at 6:00 p.m.  
City Council Meeting – March 19, 2024 at 6:00 p.m. 
 
MEETING ADJOURN 
Mayor Onisko adjourned the meeting at 6:33 p.m. 
 
 
 
 
___________________________  _________________________________ 
Mayor Eric Onisko  City Clerk Donna Nault 



 
 

CITY OF SHELTON, WASHINGTON - CITY COUNCIL 
Study Session Minutes 

March 12, 2024 – 6:00 p.m. 
Civic Center & Virtual Platform 

 

City Council - Study Session 
March 12, 2024 
Civic Center & Virtual Platform Page 1 of 1 
 

 

COUNCILMEMBERS AND PERSONNEL  
Councilmembers: Personnel:  
Mayor Eric Onisko City Manager Mark Ziegler 
Deputy Mayor Joe Schmit City Clerk Donna Nault  
George Blush Public Works Director Jay Harris 
Tom Gilmore 
Miguel Gutierrez  
Sharon Schirman 
Melissa Stearns 
 
CALL TO ORDER 
Call to Order: 6:00 p.m. 
Roll Call: City Clerk Nault – All Present 
 
STUDY AGENDA 
1. Emergency Preparedness Basics – Presented by Public Works Director Jay Harris 
 
Public Works Director Harris presented information regarding emergency preparedness basics. 
Discussion followed. 
 
NEW ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION 
None 
 
ADJOURN 
Mayor Onisko adjourned the meeting at 7:07 p.m. 
 
 
 
 
_________________________________  _________________________________ 
Mayor Eric Onisko     City Clerk Donna Nault 



 
 

CITY OF SHELTON, WASHINGTON - CITY COUNCIL 
City Council Meeting Minutes 
March 19, 2024 – 6:00 p.m. 

Civic Center & Virtual Platform 

COUNCILMEMBERS AND PERSONNEL  
Councilmembers: Personnel: 
Mayor Eric Onisko City Manager Mark Ziegler 
Deputy Mayor Joe Schmit City Clerk Donna Nault 
George Blush Finance Director Mike Githens  
Tom Gilmore Parks & Recreation Supervisor Jordanne Krumpols 
Miguel Gutierrez Capital Projects Manager Aaron Nix 
Sharon Schirman   
Melissa Stearns Guest – Liz Arbaugh – Mason County Historical Society    
   
CALL TO ORDER 
Call to Order: 6:00 p.m. 
Pledge of Allegiance: Mayor Onisko 
Roll Call: City Clerk Nault – All Present 
 
LATE CHANGES TO THE AGENDA 
Liz Arbaugh – Executive Director of Mason County Historical Society to be added to Presentations. 
 
CITY COUNCIL REPORTS 
None 
 
CONSENT AGENDA 
1. Vouchers numbered 110227 through 110260 and EFT payment numbers 209 through 214 in the  
     total amount of $334,017.06 
2. Vouchers numbered 110280 through 110316 and EFT payment numbers 215 through 225 in the  
     total amount of $683,534.39 
 
A motion was made by Councilmember Gutierrez and seconded by Councilmember Blush to approve the 
consent agenda as published. Passed. 
 
PRESENTATIONS 
1. Washington State Heritage Grant – Presented by Liz Arbaugh   
 
Executive Director Arbaugh presented information regarding a Washington State Heritage Grant to build archival-
quality storage. Discussion followed. 
 
2. January Financial Status Report – Presented by Finance Director Mike Githens 
 
Finance Director Githens presented an overview of the financial reports through the month of January. 
Discussion followed. 
    
 
 
 



 

City Council – March 19, 2024 - Meeting Minutes 
Civic Center & Virtual Platform  Page 2 of 3 

 
BUSINESS AGENDA 
1. Resolution No. 1322-0324 Library Deck Grant Acceptance – Presented by Parks & Recreation  
    Supervisor Jordanne Krumpols 
 
Parks & Recreation Supervisor Krumpols presented information regarding accepting grant funds 
for the library deck. Discussion followed. No public comment. 
 
A motion was made by Councilmember Gutierrez and seconded by Councilmember Blush to 
forward Resolution No. 1322-0324 to the April 2, 2024 action agenda for further consideration. 
Passed. 
 
Mayor Onisko recessed the regular meeting and opened a public hearing.  
 
2. Public Hearing Ordinance No. 2020-0224 Frontage Improvement Charge & Transportation Impact  
    Fees Code Updates – Presented by Public Works Director Jay Harris Capital Projects Manager    
    Aaron Nix 
 
Capital Projects Manager Nix presented information regarding frontage improvement charges and 
transportation impact fees. Discussion followed. Public Testimony: Dean Jewett. City Clerk Nault 
provided a reading of Ordinance No. 2020-0224. 
 
A motion was made by Councilmember Gutierrez and seconded by Councilmember Stearns to 
forward Ordinance No. 2020-0224 to the April 2, 2024 action agenda for further consideration. 
Passed. 
 
Mayor Onisko closed the public hearing and resumed the regular meeting. 
 
3. Resolution No. 1321-0224 ADA Transition Plan Contract – Presented by Capital Projects Manager  
    Aaron Nix 
 
Capital Projects Manager Nix presented information regarding a contract for ADA transitions. 
Discussion followed. No public comment.  
 
A motion was made by Councilmember Gutierrez and was seconded by Councilmember Blush to 
forward Resolution No. 1321-0224 to the April 2, 2024 action agenda for further consideration. 
Passed.  
 
4. Resolution No. 1323-0324 Amendment #2-Safe Routes to School Crossing Improvement Project–  
    Presented by Capital Projects Manager Aaron Nix 
 
Capital Projects Manager Nix presented information regarding an amendment to the Safe Routes to 
School project. Discussion followed. No public comment.  
 
A motion was made by Councilmember Gutierrez and seconded by Councilmember Blush to forward 
Resolution No. 1323-0324 to the April 2, 2024 action agenda for further consideration. Passed. 
 
5. Resolution No. 1324-0324 Approve Angleside Grant Agreement – Presented by Capital Projects  
    Manager Aaron Nix 
 
Capital Projects Manager Nix presented information regarding the grant agreement for the 
Angleside project. Discussion followed. No public comment. 
 
 



 

City Council – March 19, 2024 - Meeting Minutes 
Civic Center & Virtual Platform  Page 3 of 3 

 
A motion was made by Councilmember Gutierrez and seconded by Councilmember Gilmore to 
forward Resolution No. 1324-0324 to the April 2, 2024 action agenda for further consideration. 
Passed. 
 
ACTION AGENDA 
1. Resolution No. 1320-0224 TIB Grant Acceptance for Olympic Hwy. N. Improvements – Presented by Capital  
    Projects Manager Aaron Nix 
 
Capital Projects Manager Nix presented information regarding accepting grant funds for improvements to 
Olympic Hwy. N. Discussion followed. No public comment. City Clerk Nault provided a reading of Resolution No. 
1320-0224. 
 
A motion was made by Councilmember Gutierrez and seconded by Councilmember Schirman to adopt 
Resolution No. 1320-0224 as presented. Passed. 
 
ADMINISTRATION REPORT 
1. City Manager Report: 

• City crews and parks staff are gearing up for spring time 
 
GENERAL PUBLIC COMMENT (3-minute time limit) 
In-Person: Zoom: 
Jackie Jewett Colleen Carmichael 
Dean Jewett 
 
NEW ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION 
None 
 
ANNOUNCEMENT OF NEXT MEETING 
Study Session – March 26, 2024 is cancelled  
City Council Meeting – April 2, 2024 at 6:00 p.m. 
 
MEETING ADJOURN 
Mayor Onisko adjourned the meeting at 6:57 p.m. 
 
 
 
 
___________________________  _________________________________ 
Mayor Eric Onisko  City Clerk Donna Nault 



 

City of Shelton 
National Public Works Week Proclamation 

 
May 19 – 25, 2024 

 
“Advancing Quality of Life For All” 

 
WHEREAS, public works professionals focus on infrastructure, facilities, and services that are of vital 
importance to sustainable and resilient communities and to the public health, high quality of life, and well-
being of the people of Shelton; and, 

WHEREAS, these infrastructures, facilities, and services could not be provided without the dedicated efforts of 
public works professionals, who are engineers, managers, and employees at all levels of government and the 
private sector, who are responsible for rebuilding, improving, and protecting our nation’s transportation, 
water supply, water treatment and solid waste systems, public buildings, and other structures and facilities 
essential for our citizens; and, 

WHEREAS, it is in the public interest for the citizens, civic leaders, and children in Shelton to gain knowledge of 
and to maintain an ongoing interest and understanding of the importance of public works, first responders 
and public works programs in their respective communities; and, 

WHEREAS, the year 2024 marks the 64th annual National Public Works Week sponsored by the American 
Public Works Association/Canadian Public Works Association be it now, 

RESOLVED, I, Mayor Eric Onisko, do hereby designate the week of May 19 – 25, 2024 as National Public Works 
Week; I urge all citizens to join with representatives of the American Public Works Association and 
government agencies in activities, events, and ceremonies designed to pay tribute to our public works 
professionals, engineers, managers, and employees and to recognize the substantial contributions they make 
to protect our national health, safety, and quality of life. 

SIGNED this 7th day of May 2024, in Shelton, Washington. 

 

       

        ___________________________________________ 
        Eric Onisko, Mayor 



2023 Annual Report 
Washington State Accredited Police Department  



MISSION STATEMENT 

Our mission is to provide excellent service and protection through leadership 
and partnership with the community.  Protecting the community is at the core 
of what we do, but we also provide a variety of traditional and non-traditional 
services.  We will accomplish our mission by being leaders in the community an 
working hand-in-had with the public to make Shelton a great place to live. 

LOYALTY - BE FAITHFUL TO THE LAW, COMMUNITY, EACH OTHER, AND OUR 
FAMILIES  

We will be faithful to the United States Constitution and laws of Washington, the 
public trust and the community we serve, the Shelton Police Department, our fellow of-
ficers, and our families. 

 DUTY - FULFILL OUR OBLIGATIONS  

We will strive to fulfill our duty to the best of our abilities. We will conduct ourselves 
with self-discipline, professionalism and confidence. We will exercise self-restraint and 
objectivity in the face of emotions and extreme circumstances. We will always work to-
wards excellence through constant self-improvement.  

RESPECT - TREAT OTHERS AS THEY SHOULD BE TREATED  
We will treat everyone as we would want to be treated, even in negative situations. We 
will be courteous and respectful in our dealings with each other and the public. We will 
provide fair access, whenever possible, to information that people require to make deci-
sions about their lives.  

SERVICE - PUT OTHERS BEFORE OURSELVES  

We will put the welfare of others before our own interests. We will do our job with 
caring and compassion. We will foster teamwork, both within our department and 
with other agencies.  

HONOR - LIVE UP TO ALL OF OUR VALUES  

We will lead honorable lives both on and off-duty. This honor will be the source of our 
leadership and pride.  

INTEGRITY - DO THE RIGHT THING  

We will consistently do what is right, legally and morally. We will communicate with 
honesty and candor. We will earn the trust of the community and each other.  

PERSONAL COURAGE - CONQUER FEAR, DANGER, AND ADVERSITY  

We will recognize our fears and put them aside to do what is necessary. We under-
stand that one needs both moral and physical courage.   



Chief’s Message 



 

Chief of Police 

Chris Kostad 

Captain Patton 

Sgt. Moran 

Fleet/Equipment 

Sgt. Downs 

K9/FTO 

Dayshift Patrol Dayshift Patrol Nightshift Patrol Nightshift Patrol 

Detectives 

Belleville/Gettle 

Records/Evidence 

Sgt. Diaz 

Firearms 

Sgt. DeRoche 

Training 

Chief of Police:  Chris Kostad 

Address:   525 W Cota St, Shelton, WA 98584 

Business Office:  (360)432-5145 

Non-Emergency: (360)426-4441 

Emergency:  911 

Website:  https://sheltonwa.gov/government/departments/police/index.php 



2023 Patrol 

 2023 2022 2021 

Calls for Service 13,212 12,070 11,064 

Reports Written 1,654 1,695 1,520 

911 Calls 301 246 275 

Reports to Det 321 251 224 

Arrest Reports 520 578 504 

Average Calls Per Day 36 33 30 

 

February 2023 Officer Whitley responded to a suspicious call 

for service and located a male victim with multiple gunshot 

wounds.  Officer Whitley’s quick response, recognition of the 

severity of the injuries, immediate actions and effective triage of 

the gunshot wounds resulted directly in saving the victim’s life.  

The suspect was arrested and booked into the Mason County 

Jail. 

December 2023 Officer Portillo arrived to parking lot located a 

subject who had overdosed, she was unresponsive and appeared 

to be deceased. Officer Portillo administered Narcan and started 

other life saving efforts until medics arrived. 

2023, the Shelton Police Department became a participant with 

Washington State’s Target Zero Plan to reduce traffic fatalities 

and serious injuries from traffic accidents, leading up to a goal of 

zero fatalities by 2030.  Officer Ford coordinated Shelton Police 

Department’s involvement in the plan.  The plan funds high visi-

bility enforcement from the Shelton Police Department on our 

local highways and roadways in conjunction with other local 

law enforcement agencies.       



2023 Traffic Accident Statistics 

  2023 2022 2021 

Accident Reports Written 292 278 272 

Injury Accidents 62 73 53 

Pedestrians Injured 5 7 6 

Pedal-Cyclist Injured 4 4 3 

DUI Accidents 13 15 9 

Fatalities  3 3 0 

Hit & Run 62 77 41 

 

Traffic Citations 2023 2022 2021 

Criminal Citations 85 125 126 

Infractions 131 113 109 

 

Traffic Complaints 364 407 525 

Citation Revenue: 

   City Share  County Share  State Share 

 $64,518.94 $739.95 $43,345.50 



Detectives    

 2023 2022 2021 

Cases 321 251 228 

Arson 1 2 0 

Burglary 30 41 14 

Fraud/Forgery 22 22 33 

Homicide 3 3 1 

Sexual Assaults 44 31 35 

Other 221 152 96 

Noteworthy Events 

May 2023 detectives investigated an embezzlement case 

where over $500,000.00 was stolen.  The suspect was     

arrested and is currently awaiting trial. 

 

August 2023 Vancouver Police Department ICAC 

(Internet Crimes Against Children) partnered with the 

Shelton Police Department to arrest a suspect  who 

groomed and eventually sexually assault a child whom he 

met on a video gaming site. In 2024 he pled guilty and 

was sentenced to 10 years in prison. 

 

September 2023 detectives responded to a homicide in 

downtown Shelton.  The suspect was identified by the 

witnesses, but fled the scene.  The suspect and accom-

plices were later located and taken into custody.  The 

suspect and one accomplice are awaiting trail, the other 

accomplice has pled guilty. 



K-9s Lex and Valor along with their handlers Sgt. Diaz and Sgt. Downs have 
completed several hundred hours of training.  This ongoing training was con-
ducted to remain proficient in obedience, scent tracking, building and article 
searches and apprehension. 

The K9 Unit would like to thank Vested Interest K9 for its generous donation 

of a stab and bullet resistant vest to K9 Valor.  Vested Interest K9 (vik9s.org) 

is a 501c3 charitable organization that’s mission is to provide K9s with bullet/

stab protective vests & assistance for law enforcement K9’s in the U.S.   

The success of this program would not be possible without the continued 
support and donations from the public, as the teams are funded purely by 
public donations. 

K9 Officer Lex K9 Officer Valor 

            25 Deployments   11 Apprehensions 

 

3 DV Assaults 5 Assaults  5 Warrants 1 Arson   

6 Burglaries 2 Pursuits  1 Theft  2 Court Order Violations 



New Hire: 
December 2023 Officer Mullins was hired as an entry level police  
officer.  He is a graduate of Eastern Oregon University, he has a pas-
sion for hunting and fixing automobiles. He began his training with 
the Criminal Justice Training Academy in December undergoing 
more than 720 hours of training, he is due to graduate in April 2024. 

New Hire: 
August 2023 Officer Houston was hired as an entry level police    
officer. He hails from a family deeply rooted in law enforcement, 
his brothers serve as troopers with Washington State Patrol and 
Tennessee State Patrol.  He began his training with the Criminal 
Justice Training Academy in October undergoing more than 720 
hours of training, he is due to graduate in February 2024. 

New Hire: 
May 2023 Officer Blaylock was hired as a Lateral Officer. Officer 

Blaylock began his career as a Reserve Police Officer with the   

Shelton Police Department in 2010. He was an Officer with  the 

Squaxin Island Police Department.  



Officer of the Year:  

Cpl. Portillo, is an 11-year law Enforcement Veteran and began his career in the 

state of Nevada. May of 2021, Corporal Portillo was hired by the Shelton Police 

Department and has subsequently filled the positions of: Patrol Officer, Officer in 

Charge, Field Training  Officer, Detective and Less-than Lethal Weapons Instruc-

tor. 

 
 

Corporal Portillo statistically was a top performer in 2023 and is described as   

professional, dependable and a pleasure to work with by his supervisors and peers. 

In 2023, there were several assaults and homicides within the Shelton area that  

related to our Guatemalan community. Due to Corporal Portillo being bilingual 

and  familiar with Guatemalan customs and culture he was able to contact,          

integrate, and interview members of the Guatemalan community, developing      

relationships, and mutual trust. Corporal Portillo actions greatly assisted multiple 

felony investigations. 



Sergeant 

Sgt Diaz, was promoted to Sergeant, he began is career in 2015 when 

he attended the Shelton Police Department Reserve Academy.  In 

2016 he graduated from the Criminal Justice Training Academy and 

was appointed as a commissioned officer. He is a K9 Handler, Lead 

Firearms Instructor, Field Training Instructor/Officer and Red Dot 

Instructor. He was born in Mexico, lived in California since he was 3 

years old. He joined the United States Marines and proudly served 8-years, he is an 

Operation Enduring Freedom Combat Veteran. He has an associate degree in 

criminal justice, and is scheduled to graduate from the University of Phoenix with 

a bachelor’s degree in Management in June 2024.  

Detectives 

Michael Gettle was assigned from patrol to detectives in April of 

2023.  He was awarded a training scholarship to attend the 2023 

Northwest Regional “Internet Crimes Against Children” (ICAC) 

Conference in the fall of 2023.  Through his dedication to investigat-

ing crimes against children, Detective Gettle has solidified working 

relationships with various law enforcement agencies across Wash-

ington State.  He was instrumental in the ground work of making the Shelton    

Police Department an affiliate of ICAC, which has brought investigative assistance 

to Shelton from ICAC experts and additional training opportunities.  

Promotions 



Chief of Police 
Chief Chris Kostad began his career with the Shelton Police Department in 2006.  
He has held the positions of Officer, Field Training Officer, Detective, Corporal,      
Sergeant, Lieutenant and Captain. As Captain he managed the Department’s daily 
operations to include hiring, staffing, training, he is a thoughtful goal-setter and 
true professional. What makes him a great fit for the position of Chief is his 
knowledge and experience combined with his commitment to implementing best 
practices. 

Captain 
Captain Daniel Patton began his career with the Shelton Police Department in 
2007. In 2023 he attended the FBI National Academy for a 10-week program in 
Quantico, Virginia.  Coursework includes intelligence theory, terrorism, manage-
ment science, communication, forensic science and officer wellness.  Participation 
is by invitation only through a nomination process.  Captain Patton was one of 
sixteen Washington State law enforcement officers to attend the FBI National 
Academy in 2023 among the more then 10,000 current law enforcement officers in 
Washington State.   Captain Patton has held the positions of Officer, Detective, 
Corporal and Sergeant . 



Shop with a Hero 

The Shelton Police Department partnered with Walmart, Mason County Sheriff’s 

Office, Washington State Patrol and Central Mason Fire to provide a Christmas 

shopping opportunity for kids in need, 27 children shopped with an officer.  The 

children are given a set amount of money, they mainly buy presents for their family 

members rather than themselves. The partnership with Walmart is amazing and 

they generously donated all the money for these purchases. 

Shopping with officers help build a positive relationship between law enforce-

ment and children. This creates a positive experience and memories for both the 

children and officers. 



Training 

The Shelton Police Department attended over 2,875 hours of training. All     

officers must complete no less than 24 hours of in-service training. In 2023  

officers received well over 48 hours of training, some received over 100 hours 

of training. 



Administration Division 

The Shelton Police Department’s Administration Division is responsible for the 

overall function of the department.  They are dedicated to providing the highest 

quality service and continually assesses our department and community’s needs. 

 

2023 The Shelton Police Department successfully completed a rigorous accredita-

tion program.  This program certifies the Shelton Police Department is operating 

under the best practices and standards for law enforcement. 

    Chief Carole Beason        Chief Chris Kostad         Captain Dan Patton 

         1/16/21 - 11/1/24    11/2/24 - Present 



Professional Standards 
The Administration Division maintains the professional standards policies and 
procedures. These are the guidelines for officers to carry out the mission of the 
Shelton Police Department.   

14 Use of Force Incidents: 
Aggravating Factors:   Bias—Based Policing: 

 Intoxication-5    Females-2     Males-12 

 Mental Health-2   White-11   African American-2  Hispanic-1 
 

Type of Force 

 Physical controls-8 Taser (air)-1  Taser (contact)-1 

 Taser (aimed)-1  Leg restraints-1  K9 deployment w/contact-2 
 

All use of force reports are reviewed by use of force Supervisor Trained Employees. 
The reports are then approved by the Captain. 
 

Citations Issued Bias-Based Policing: 
 Criminal Traffic Citations Traffic Infractions 

Race # by race % by race # by race % by race 

White 46 54.1% 64 48.8% 

Black 0 0% 0 0 

Hispanic 34 40% 58 44.2% 

Asian 0 0 3 2.2% 

Native American 3 3.5% 4 3.1% 

Unknown 2 2.4% 2 1.5% 

TOTAL 85  131  



Pursuits: 

Pursuit Statistics 2023 2022 2021 

Total Number of Pursuits/eluding 1 2 4 

Day Pursuits 0 0 0 

Night Pursuits 1 2 4 

Pursuits Stopped by Suspect 0 1 0 

Pursuits Discontinued by Officer 1 0 2 

Pursuits Terminated by Collision 1 1 2 

Spike Strip 0 0 0 

The total number of pursuits for 2023 has reduced 50% in comparison to the pre-

vious year and the pursuit was within the policy as compared to 2022.  This indi-

cates previous pursuit training has been successful in understanding the current 

pursuit laws, policies and procedures by the officers. 

Pursuit training is conducted in the classroom, at the driving range and with daily 

bulletins to reinforce our pursuit policy. 

 1 Officer Complaint: 

A citizen complained about officer enforcing parking regulations in an alley, the 

disposition was Unfounded. 



Designated Crisis Responder 

The Shelton Police Department has partnered with Olympic Health and Recovery 

Services, Designated Crisis Responder  (DCR) Jim Clark. Jim responds to calls   

involving individuals experiencing mental health compilations.  Officers and Jim  

work together to get the proper help and assistance the person in crises may need 

rather than just taking them to jail.   

DCR provides mental health support, in a variety of ways to include crisis mitiga-

tion, conflict resolution, de-escalation of individuals and detention of a person   

determined to be imminent risk due to mental health or substance abuse.  

Encounters can range from phone call, in person contact to crisis declination. 

DCRs have a network of working relationships with treatment providers, housing 

providers, veterans services and other social providers to help individuals contact-

ed by law enforcement. 2023 DCR has conducted over 350 crises responses. 

Community Oriented Policing 

Sgt. Diaz & Cpl. Portillo met with the Hispanic church leaders from St Edward’s 

Church.  They had a roundtable discussion about issues affecting the Guatemalan 

population, strategies and solutions in building trust within the Guatemalan     

Hispanic community.  The Officers visited the church on numerous occasions for 

community oriented events. 



Chief Carole Beason retired from the Shelton Police Department November 2023. 

She became Shelton’s first female police chief in 2021.  While as Chief, she was a 

trainer with 21st Century Policing and Gold Training. She started her career in 

1996 with the San Diego Police Department.  She was a law enforcement officer 

with San Diego Police Department and retired after 25 years as a Lieutenant, she 

lead the sex crimes unit, child abuse unit, internet crimes against children task 

force and the sex registrant unit.  

Officer Warren Ohlson retired after dedicating 20 years with the Shelton Police 

Department. Warren was a firearms instructor, training officer with the reserve 

academy and has been a staple with the Police Department since 2002, his 

knowledge, calm demeaner, willingness to help anyone and his stories will be 

missed. 



Records  

The Records Division is staffed with two full time Records/Evidence Clerks.  Some 

primary goals are: responding to public records requests, maintaining compliance 

with Washington State Archives and assisting citizens, prosecuting attorneys and 

officers. 

  2023 2022 2021 

Concealed Pistol Licenses  50 56 66 

Daily Reports 13,212 12,070 11,064 

Public Record Requests 1,196 1,000 1,031 

Tours 5 1 2 

Evidence  

The Property and Evidence Division is managed by the two full time Records/

Evidence Clerks.  They are responsible to securely hold all valuable pieces of       

evidence collected at crime scenes, items of found property and safekeeping.  

  2023 2022 2021 

Forfeited Money $1,208.00 $1,024.53 .00 

Items in Evidence 3,320 2,828 2,832  

Items Auctioned/Destroyed/Returned 600 741 931 

Unclaimed Money $842.10 $173.00 $359.09 

 



Group A Crimes Against Persons 

  2023 2022 2021 

 Murder 3 3 1 

 Manslaughter 0 0 0 

 Rape  23 14 13 

 Sodomy 1 0 0 

 Fondling 20 21 27 

 Incest 0 1 0 

 Statutory Rape 2 3 0 

 Aggravated Assault 45 35 38 

 Simple Assault 134 133 117 

 Intimidation 2 1 8 

 Unlawful Imprisonment 3 5 5 

 Violation of No Contact Order 51 46 39  

 TOTAL 284 264 248 

Group A Offenses 

Group A offenses include statistical data on the incident, all offenses committed 

during the incident, all property involved, weapons involved, the victim, offender 

demographics, arrest information and clearance status. 

 

Group B Offenses 

Only arrest data is collected on Group B Offenses.  Bad checks, curfew/loitering/

vagrancy, disorderly conduct, Driving Under Influence, drunkenness, non-violent 

family offenses, liquor law violations, peeping tom, trespass and all other non-

traffic offenses. 



Group A Crimes Against Society 

  2023 2022 2021 

 Animal Cruelty 0 0 0 

 Drugs/Narcotics 16 9 9  

 Drug Paraphernalia 2 6 9 

 Pornography 2 2 1 

 Weapon Offenses 14 12 8  

 Total 34 29 27 

Group A Crimes Against Property 

  2023 2022 2021 

 Robbery  10 14 3 

 Burglary  54 74 35 

 Theft/Larceny  202 254 317 

 Motor Vehicle Theft  48 57 44 

 Arson 5 3 1 

 Vandalism 107 101 137 

 Counterfeit/Forgery 10 17 15 

 Extortion 3 1 0 

 Fraud/Embezzlement 24 22 25 

 Stolen Property 3 5 3 

 Total 466 548 580 



  2023 2022 2021 

 Bad Checks 0 0 0 

 Disorderly Conduct 16 9 17 

 DUI 23 46 36 

 Liquor Law Violations 3 1 3  

 Trespass 41 43 27 

 All Other Offenses 107 122 102 

 Total 192 221 185 

 

 Group B Adults Arrested 187 210 185 

 Group B Juveniles Arrested 5 11 6  

Group B Arrest Offenses 

Group A Arrests 

Offense Arrested  Offense Arrested 

Murder 2  Burglary 8 

Unlawful Imprisonment 1  Theft 43 

Rape 1  ID Theft 1 

Fondling 1  Stolen Property 1 

Robbery 6  Vandalism 19 

Aggravated Assault 26  Drugs/Drug Paraphernalia 12 

Simple Assault 65  No Contact Violation 13 

Arson 1  Weapon Violation 4 



Chief John “Jack” Burke  4/1923 - 5/1938 

Chief Ray Starwich  6/1938 - 12/1942 

Chief Andrew Hansen  1/1943 - 8/1945 

Chief Paul Hugley  9/1945 - 12/1946 

Chief Edward W White  1/1947 (resigned before taking office) 

Chief Claude Havens  1/1947 -3/1949 

Chief Paul B Hinton  4/1949 - 4/1964 

 Acting Chief Frank Rains  5/1965 - 7/1965 

Chief Richard Camper  7/1965 - 7/1966 

Chief Frank Rains  8/1966 - 12/1984 

Chief Delbert D McNeal  1/1985 - 6/1987 

Interim Chief Al Johnson  7/1987 - 10/1987 

Chief S.R. “Johnny” Johnston  11/1987 - 3/2000 

Interim Chief Bob Holter  3/2000 - 4/2001 

Chief Terry Davenport  4/2001 - 3/2011 

Chief Dave Eklund  4/2011 - 5/2014 

Interim Chief Les Watson  5/2014 - 11/2014 

Chief Darrin Moody  11/2014 - 1/2021 

Chief Carole Beason  1/2021 - 11/2023 

Chief Chris Kostad  11/2023 - Present 

Shelton Police Department 1923—2023 



Year at a Glance 

Year at a Glance 

Chief of Police 1/1/23-11/1/23  Carole Beason 

Chief of Police 11/1/23—12/31/23  Chris Kostad 
   

Budget  $3,736,337.00 
   

Personnel   18 Commissioned Officers 

  2 Civilian Employees 
   

Calls for Service  13,212 

Case Reports Generated  1,654 

911 Calls for Service  301 

Officer Rate per 1,000 Population  1.73 
   

Population  10,420 

Land Area  6.11 Square Miles 
   

15 Years of Service  Sgt. Moran 

5 years of Service  Sgt. DeRoche 

 

1 Lateral Hire  Officer Blaylock 

2 Entry Level Hires  Officers Houston & Mullins 

   





City of Shelton
Transportation Benefit District 

2023 Annual Report

Reporting 
Requirements

RCW 36.73.160 (2) – A district 
shall issue an annual report, 

indicating the status of 
transportation improvement 
expenditures, revenues, and 

construction schedules, to the 
public and to the newspapers of 

record in the district.

Prepared By:
City of Shelton
Public Works Department
525 W Cota St.
Shelton, WA 98584

Railroad Avenue - Completed Western Gateway Project – Pavement & Pedestrian Improvements

Shelton City Council
Eric Onisko, Mayor

George Blush, Councilmember
Tom Gilmore, Councilmember

Miguel Gutierrez, Councilmember
Sharon Schirman, Councilmember
Melissa Stearns, Councilmember

Seat #6, Currently Vacant



Transportation Benefit District 
Annual Report Statement
The City of Shelton is pleased to present its Transportation Benefit District (TBD) 2023 
Annual Report. This report is written to summarize 2023 revenues and expenditures 
associated with TBD funds and project schedule updates. 
Background
The Shelton City Council created the Shelton Transportation Benefit District (TBD), a 
quasi-municipal taxing jurisdiction authorized by State law to fund street maintenance. 
Shelton voters approved a sales tax increase of 0.2% (Two-tenths of one percent) for ten 
years to fund street maintenance projects within the City limits. Revenues collected 
from this additional sales tax levy are held in separate accounts and used only for 
authorized street maintenance projects.
Governance
When the Transportation Benefit District was established in 2015, the Shelton City 
Council assumed Governance to oversee activities, expenditures, and revenues. The 
Transportation Benefit District special revenue fund was created in 2021 to clearly show 
the beginning and ending fund balances as well as budgeted transfers to authorized 
uses. The money will remain in these funds until it is allocated by the City Council, 
through Resolutions, for use on qualifying projects. All business for the Shelton 
Transportation Benefit District will take place during regular City Council meetings.
Why was the TBD Established?
City street infrastructure is aging, and funding is needed for street and sidewalk 
maintenance. Transportation infrastructure is one of the City’s most valuable 
investments, and deferred maintenance drives repair costs higher. State and Federal 
funding for maintenance and preservation of City streets has been reduced in recent 
years. While these revenues have decreased, costs continue to rise, making it difficult 
for the City to adequately preserve and maintain streets and sidewalks.
TBD Leverage Strategy
The City continues to use the strategy of leveraging future TBD funds as a local match 
when applying for grants of State and Federal funds. Each time the City is successful in 
receiving grant funds, large planned pavement maintenance projects are completed at a 
fraction of the total cost, benefiting all the residents in the City.

TBD Funding:
The following schedule of revenues, expenditures, and 
changes in fund balance summarizes TBD finances for 
the fiscal year of 2023:

2023 Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures & Changes in 
Fund Balance

City of Shelton, Washington
Transportation Benefit District

Year ended December 31st, 2023
Revenues
TBD Sales & Use Tax, 0.2%  $732,126.16
Interest Earnings   $52,785.52
Total Revenues    $784,911.68

Expenditures
Street Maintenance   $207,126.16
Construction    $591,092.42
Total Expenditures   $798,218.64

Summary
Net Changes in Fund Balance  (-$13,306.96)
Beginning Total Fund Balance  $1,540,534.50

Ending Total Fund Balance    
     $1,527,227.54

TBD FY 2023 Budgeted & Completed Projects
Front Street Paving (Completed): $100,000
Western Gateway (Completed):  $131,592
Brockdale Paving (Completed):  $40,000
Systemic Pedestrian
      Safety Improvements (Budgeted): $19,500
Olympic Hwy North “C” St to 
      Wallace Kneeland Blvd (Budgeted): $300,000 
     $591,092

TBD Funds Received by year:
2016:  $274,877.84   2021:   $687,474.41
2017:  $494.805.17     2022:   $698,510.41
2018:  $551,165.62      2023:   $732,126.16
2019:  $685.809.53      2024 YTD:  $191,326.87
2020:  $651,202.66        Total Funds Received                  $4,967,298.67



TBD Dollars at Work

Western Gateway Project

Downtown Connector Brockdale Paving

Civic Center Parking Lot

Safe Routes to School (7Th & Franklin) Safe Routes to School (HS X-Walk)

N 13th Street – Chip Seal

Safe Routes to School (Evergreen Elem.)

Downtown Connector



TBD Dollars at Work

Front Street Paving

Olympic Highway N. – 2025 
Upcoming Road Restoration Turner Ave. – Before

Olympic Highway N. at I Street Railroad Avenue between 8th Street 
and 1st Street

Lake Blvd - After

Olympic Highway S. – Mid-Block 
Pedestrian Crossing

Turner Ave - After

Lake Blvd - Before



Street Maintenance/Operations

Signal Maintenance

Street Sweeping Roadside Mowing

Vactor Truck

Crosswalk Painting

Patch Truck

Snow Removal

Grind & Overlay

Pothole Patch Sidewalk Grind



Council Briefing Form  Revised 07/01/2020 

 

CITY OF SHELTON  
COUNCIL BRIEFING REQUEST 

(Agenda Item E1) 

Touch Date:   03/26/2024  
Brief Date:     05/07/2024   
Action Date:   05/21/2024  

Department: Public Works 
   
Presented By:  Jay Harris, Public Works Director 

 
  
APPROVED FOR COUNCIL PACKET: PROGRAM/PROJECT TITLE: 

WWTP Back-Up Disinfection Grant 
Acceptance & Parametrix Design 
Contract Approval 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
- Resolution No. 1328-0324 WWTP  
- Attachment A – DOH Grant    
  Agreement and Parametrix Scope  
  of Work. 
 
 

   

 
Action Requested: 
 

 Ordinance 

 Resolution 

 Motion 

 Other 
 

ROUTE TO: REVIEWED: 
 

 
 
Dept. Head  J.O.H 

 
 

 
Finance Director   

 
 

 
Attorney  

 
 

 
City Clerk  

 
 

 
City Manager 

 
      

 
DESCRIPTION OF THE PROGRAM/PROJECT AND BACKGROUND INFORMATION:   
The City was awarded $143,687 from the National Estuary Program in order to begin design work on providing 
secondary disinfection treatment options for out of specification wastewater effluent before it is discharged into 
Oakland Bay. The plan is to install the secondary disinfection system in the existing slack tide tank at the plant. 
The Department of Health (DOH) has provided guidance regarding the use of the slack tide tank to hold out of 
spec wastewater within the previously published Conditionally Approved Area Management Plan (CAAMP). 
Traditionally, most jurisdictions utilize Sodium Hypochlorite (bleach) in providing a secondary treatment option 
in this instance. Recent studies have suggested that Peracetic Acid treatment is a safer and more viable option 
in providing secondary treatment, as the contact time is much less and the chemical component itself is much 
safer to handle and store. The City’s consultant, Parametrix, will consider both options, weighing the positives 
and negatives of each treatment option for further consideration.  
 
City staff is planning to meet with Council at the May 28th Study Session to discuss the project in greater detail. 
   
ANALYSIS/OPTIONS/ALTERNATIVES:  
The City could elect to not pursue this option, as there is a cost associated with adding this additional treatment 
element at the wastewater treatment facility. DOH has indicated, through the CAAMP, a willingness to bypass 
the mandatory 21-day beach closure when off-specification water is discharged, as this additional treatment 
option will address any negative discharges of off specification effluent flows. For the benefit to Oakland Bay 
water quality, this is a positive project to move forward with.  
 
BUDGET/FISCAL INFORMATION:  
Most of the design work associated with this project will be covered by DOH grant. Additional resources will 
need to be identified and utilized to construct the facility in the future. The attached scope and budget prepared 
by our on-call consultant, Parametrix, has identified the cost to design the backup disinfection facility at 
$159,264,44. The grant does not cover the entire consultant design costs and approximately $16,000 will be 
needed from sewer rate funds to cover the additional cost. The cost to construct this facility is estimated at 
approximately $1,000,000, but the costs will be refined once design work proceeds.  
 



Council Briefing Form  Revised 07/01/2020 

PUBLIC INFORMATION REQUIREMENTS:  
Materials, as it relates to this project, are in the process of being developed. Any information relevant to this 
project is available through the Public Works Department.    
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION/MOTION:  
“I move to place Resolution No. 1328-0324 onto the Council’s action agenda for further consideration at the 
 Council’s May 21, 2024 meeting.”   



 1  

RESOLUTION NO. 1328-0324 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SHELTON, WASHINGTON, AUTHORIZING THE CITY 
MANAGER TO APPROVE THE GRANT AGREEMENT WITH THE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH FOR BACK-UP 

DISINFECTION TREATMENT DESIGN WORK AT THE WASTERWATER TREATMENT PLANT AND TO 
APPROVE A CONTRACT FOR DESIGN OF THE PROJECT BY PARAMETRIX INC. 

 
WHEREAS, the City applied for and received National Estuary Grant Funds from the State Department 

of Health (Attachment A) to begin design work on a back-up disinfection system at the City’s main 
wastewater treatment plant in the amount of $143,687; and 

WHEREAS, these monies will be utilized in order to prepare design and construction documents for 
the placement of back-up disinfection of out of specification effluent water, as outlined within the 
Conditionally Approved (DOH) Area Management Plant (CAAMP); and  

WHEREAS, this system, if implemented, will help provide assurances to the regulatory agencies that 
the City has the ability and capacity to treat out of specification water when circumstances present 
themselves (which are very rare); and 

WHEREAS, the Department of Health has authorized the City to proceed with investigating a newer 
technology that utilizes Peracetic Acid for treatment of out of specification effluent instead of traditional 
Hypochlorite (Bleach), which may be safer and more cost effective than traditional treatment options; 
and 

WHEREAS, City Staff would like to utilize the grant funds to complete the design plans for the project 
and use the information to apply for grant funds to construct the back-up disinfection system at the 
plant; and 

WHEREAS, Parametrix Inc. has provided a scope of work and cost estimate (Attachment A) for these 
needed design services and were the original design engineers in the construction of the existing 
treatment plant.  

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, by the City Council of the City of Shelton that the City Manager is 
authorized to sign the grant agreement with the Department of Health for design of the back-up 
disinfection treatment system at the main city wastewater treatment plant and to execute a work order 
to the City’s on-call design engineers, Parametrix, Inc. to design the disinfection system improvements. 
The City Manager is also authorized to sign any additional agreements with the State Department of 
Health and/or change orders with Parametrix Inc. to complete the design of the backup disinfection 
project. 
 
INTRODUCED on the 7th day of May 2024 and PASSED by the City Council at its regular meeting held on 
this 21st day of May 2024. 
 
                                                                          __________________________________ 
ATTEST:                                                                Mayor Onisko 
   
____________________________  
City Clerk Nault 
 









































































DRAFT Scope of Work 

City of Shelton  216-2125-859 

Design Services – WWTP Back-Up Disinfection 

System 

1 April 2024 

     

Exhibit A 

City of Shelton 

Design Services – WWTP Back-Up Disinfection System 

  

General 

During rare events when the Shelton WWTP UV disinfection system cannot treat effluent due to flow 

excursions or process upsets that degrade the effluent water quality, the state Department of Health 

has requested a back-up disinfection system be added to Shelton’s main Wastewater Treatment 

Plant (WWTP). The City of Shelton (City) has agreed to construct a back-up disinfection system at 

their WWTP to reduce the potential for the WWTP effluent not meeting permit. The system will 

include injection of peracetic acid at the Ultraviolet light (UV) basin effluent weir downstream of the 

existing UV disinfection system and upstream of the effluent holding tank. The peracetic acid system 

will include a peracetic storage tank, dosing pump, and control programming. A baffle wall system 

will be installed in the Effluent Holding tank to achieve sufficient contact time for disinfection. 

Disinfected effluent will leave the Effluent Holding tank and be released into Hammersley Inlet. A 

redundant effluent UV transmittance sensor will be integrated into the WWTP control system to control 

and operate the back-up disinfection system. This scope of work covers professional services by 

Parametrix for design of the WWTP back-up disinfection system. 

Basis Of Design 

This scope of work assumes the WWTP back-up disinfection system design will be based on the 

following criteria: 

 The back-up disinfection system will be provided by injecting a peracetic acid solution at the 

UV Basin effluent weir downstream of the existing UV system.  

 The design assumes that adequate chemical contact time can be achieved by baffling the 

existing Effluent Holding tank currently used for holding effluent during periods of slack tide.  

 The design assumes that no chemicals other than peracetic acid will be used, and a 

redundant UV transmittance instrument will be added. 

 The back-up disinfection system will operate when effluent UV transmittance is below 

existing UV system’s capability to disinfect adequately. 

 The peracetic acid injection pump will be paced to dose at a rate based on effluent UV 

transmittance, turbidity, and effluent flow. 

 The WWTP supervisory control and data acquisition (SCADA) system can be expanded to 

include the new back-up disinfection system equipment during the construction phase.  

 The electrical source to power the peracetic acid injection system will be provided from the 

Existing Control Building. 

 The electrical design and electrical equipment will be located outside of classified hazardous 

locations and not requiring Class I, Div I- or Div II-rated wiring methods or equipment.  



DRAFT Scope of Work 

City of Shelton  216-2125-859 

Design Services – WWTP Back-Up Disinfection 

System 

2 April 2024 

     

Assumptions 

 The work is being funded by a federal Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) grant. The 

funding identifies four different tasks. Task 3, Design Services, will be prepared by 

Parametrix, Inc., as outlined in the scope of work – WWTP Back-Up Disinfection Project 

Design.  

 Task 1 – Quality Assurance Project Plan (QAPP) Development will be prepared by the City. 

 Task 2 – Project Administration and Reporting associated with the overall grant funding and 

program will be provided by the City. 

 Task 4 – Broader Impacts and Communication associated with the project will be provided by 

the City. 

 Bidding, construction services, and SCADA system configuration and commissioning during 

construction are not included in this scope of work but can be provided under a separate 

scope of work. 

Task 3 – Design Services 

Subtask 3.1 – Project Management  

Subtask Objectives 

 Establish and maintain communication between the design team and the City. 

 Monitor and report on status of scope, schedule, and budget throughout the duration of the 

project. 

Approach 

Specific activities of the project management task include the following: 

 Prepare in-house quality control/quality assurance (QC/QA) project plan and provide 

associated coordination. 

 Prepare project schedule including design and estimate construction schedule, track, and 

provide two updates. 

 Preparation of monthly progress letter for submission to the City’s project manager. The 

letter, with associated enclosures, will include the following: 

→ Description of work performed during billing period. 

→ Comparison of work accomplished with expenditures, budget, and scheduled activities. 

 Meetings: 

→ Coordinate and attend an internal meeting with the design team to review individual 

responsibilities and key project elements.  

→ Attend and document two project design review meetings, scheduled as needed (1 hour 

each with one Parametrix staff). 

→ Prepare and update Action Items List, including action items and decisions made in 

meetings covered in other tasks. 



DRAFT Scope of Work 

City of Shelton  216-2125-859 

Design Services – WWTP Back-Up Disinfection 

System 

3 April 2024 

     

Assumptions 

 City will have key decision-making staff at the meetings. 

 Decisions documented in meeting notes will be the basis of moving forward with the design. 

Deliverables 

 Monthly progress letters with invoices (six assumed). 

 Meeting summary from project management meetings (no agenda included). 

 Action Items list. 

 Schedule. 

Subtask 3.2 – Preliminary Design 

Subtask Objectives 

Identify, size, and select peracetic acid disinfection equipment. Determine an initial baffle 

configuration within the existing holding tank. Locate and select water quality monitoring locations 

and sensors. 

Site visit to identify the power source locations for the back-up disinfection system electrical load 

along with investigating conduit and wiring routing for the additional equipment. 

Approach 

 Determine an initial baffle configuration within the existing holding tank by determining the 

design condition and estimating the contact time and chemical concentration requirements. 

 Add a redundant UV transmittance probe and turbidity probe for water quality monitoring and 

controlling the back-up disinfection system. 

 Prepare a technical memorandum (TM-1) with recommendations for the disinfection system 

and effluent holding tank baffling. 

 Perform an on-site review meeting (1-hour meeting with three Parametrix attendees) of TM-1 

and perform a site visit to coordinate the physical layout of the system with the City staff.  

 Finalize TM-1 and present to the City (for City’s coordination with the Washington State 

Department of Heath [DOH] and Department of Ecology [DOE] as needed for DOH and DOE 

review). 

Assumptions 

 City acceptance of the information presented in the final predesign technical memorandum 

will constitute approval by the City (along with DOE and DOH). Revisions following City 

(including DOH and DOE) acceptance will be considered out of scope. 

 Baffling walls will be added to Effluent Holding tank to achieve adequate disinfection contact 

time within the existing effluent holding tank. 

 A new electrical utility service will not be required. 



DRAFT Scope of Work 

City of Shelton  216-2125-859 

Design Services – WWTP Back-Up Disinfection 

System 

4 April 2024 

     

Deliverables 

 Draft and final predesign technical memorandum, up to 3 pages and general concept 

drawings (PDF). 

 Predesign technical memorandum to list electrical power source and general arrangement 

drawing to identify equipment locations including instrumentation and control information. 

Subtask 3.3 – 85% Design   

Subtask Objectives 

Provide a 85% design review package for City review, including drawings and specifications. 

Approach 

 Based on input from the City, further the design of the peracetic acid disinfection system. 

Prepare drawings: See drawings listed at the end of this scope. Prepare design criteria 

summary, including capacities and sizing of major equipment. 

 Collect equipment lead times for input into updates of project contract requirements. 

 Update the Engineer’s Opinion of Probable Construction Cost. 

 Provide quality control technical review for Parametrix products. 

 Prepare electrical designs, equipment selection, calculations to support the additional 

equipment. 

 Prepare drawings and specifications for the project. 

 Prepare for, attend, and document a virtual design review meeting with City staff (2-hour 

meeting).  

Assumptions 

 The Bidding Specifications and Forms, Division 0, will be provided by the City. 

 Technical specifications will be CSI 6-digit style format (CSI MasterFormat).  

 The City will have 10 days to review the 85% design package. 

 Comments on the 85% design will be addressed in the 100% Bid Documents. 

 The 85% design review and response resolution period will be limited to a 2-week period. 

Deliverables 

 Responses to City review comments from 85% design review submittal. 

 85% design package (electronic PDF) consisting of the following: 

→ Drawings. 

→ Specifications.  

→ Updated Engineer’s Opinion of Probable Construction Cost. 

→ Project schedule.  



DRAFT Scope of Work 

City of Shelton  216-2125-859 

Design Services – WWTP Back-Up Disinfection 

System 

5 April 2024 

     

Subtask 3.4 – 100% Bid Documents 

Subtask Objectives 

Produce a set of 100% bid documents (design drawings and technical specifications) that are ready 
for public bidding.  

Approach 

 Update the 85% design with City comments. 

→ Division 0 Specifications, Forms, and Terms and Conditions provided by City. 

→ Technical Specifications. 

 Provide quality control technical review for Parametrix products.  

 100% Bid Documents and drawings for bidding.  

Deliverables 

 Responses to City review comments from 85% design review submittal. 

 100% Bid Documents:  

→ Updated Engineer’s Opinion of Probable Construction Cost (electronic PDF). 

→ Electronic PDF (submitted to Builders Exchange or City’s preferred bid site). 

  



DRAFT Scope of Work 

City of Shelton  216-2125-859 

Design Services – WWTP Back-Up Disinfection 

System 

6 April 2024 

     

Exhibit B 

Drawing List 

 G-1: Title, location and vicinity maps, drawing index 

 G-2: General notes, civil and mechanical legend, and abbreviations 

 P-1: P&ID Process Legend 

 P-2: Peracetic Acid System 

 S-1: Structural notes  

 S-2: Structural holding tank baffles and baffle details 

 S-3: Peracetic acid room plan and section and details 

 M-1: Mechanical Legend and Abbreviations 

 M-2 Mechanical Details 

 M-3 Peracetic Acid System plan and sections 

 E-1: Electrical notes, legend, and abbreviations 

 E-2: Electrical site plan 

 E-3: Electrical Panel layout and load calculations 

 E-4: Electrical Power and Lighting Plan and conduit schedule 

 E-5: Electrical Details 

 I-1: Network Block Diagram 

  



DRAFT Scope of Work 

City of Shelton  216-2125-859 

Design Services – WWTP Back-Up Disinfection 

System 

7 April 2024 

     

Exhibit C 

Budget 

 

 



Client: City of Shelton
Project: Backup Disinfection WWTP
Project No: 216-2125-859

Shelton WWTP - Backup Disinfection System Jo
el

 S
. L

in
ke

Al
la

n 
M

aa
s

Sc
ot

t W
ei

ric
h

Ca
m

er
on

 B
. 

Ca
rls

on

Ro
be

rt
 R

oh
le

r

St
ev

en
 W

ag
ne

r

Cl
iff

or
d 

M
. W

es
t

D
en

is
e 

D
. P

et
er

so
n

M
ar

k 
M

ol
ln

ow

Fr
an

k 
Po

st
le

w
ai

te

M
ar

vi
n 

Ca
sa

no
va

Jo
se

ph
 R

. M
er

th

Sa
nd

ra
 L

. C
os

gr
ov

e

Be
ck

y 
Ta

yl
or

Je
ss

ic
a 

M
. P

ic
kn

er

DRAFT

Sr
 E

ng
in

ee
r -

 
PM

/C
iv

il/
M

ec
h.

 
Le

ad

Sr
 C

on
su

lta
nt

 - 
Pr

oc
es

s/
M

ec
h.

Pr
oc

es
s/

M
ec

h 
En

gi
ne

er
 - 

El
ec

tr
ic

al
 E

ng
in

ee
r 

III
 - 

El
ec

./
Co

nt
ro

ls
 

Su
pp

or
t

Sr
 E

le
ct

ric
al

 E
ng

 - 

Sr
 E

ng
in

ee
r -

 
St

ru
ct

ur
al

 L
ea

d

Sr
 D

es
ig

ne
r -

 
M

ec
h.

 C
AD

 D
ra

ft
er

El
ec

tr
ic

al
 D

es
ig

ne
r 

II 
- 

Ci
vi

l/
St

ru
ct

ur
al

/E
le

c.
/C

on
tr

ol
s 

CA
D

 

D
es

ig
ne

r -
 M

ec
h.

 
CA

D
 D

ra
ft

er

Sr
 M

ec
h/

Pr
oc

es
s 

En
gi

ne
r Q

C

Sr
 E

le
ct

ric
al

 
En

gi
ne

er
 - 

El
ec

./
Co

nt
ro

ls
 Q

C

Sr
 E

ng
in

ee
r -

 
St

ru
ct

ur
al

 Q
C

Pr
oj

ec
t C

on
tr

ol
s 

Sp
ec

ia
lis

t

Pu
bl

ic
at

io
ns

 
Su

pe
rv

is
or

Pr
oj

ec
t 

Ac
co

un
ta

nt

$260.00 $300.00 $195.00 $210.00 $240.00 $260.00 $220.00 $185.00 $170.00 $285.00 $240.00 $300.00 $150.00 $145.00 $145.00
Task SubTask Description Labor Dollars Labor Hours
01 Project Management- 6 months $13,790.00 76 22 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 48 0 6

01    Project Controls 56 16 40
02    Reporting & Communication 20 6 8 6

02 Preliminary Design $36,840.00 166 30 14 22 22 10 14 10 16 10 0 2 1 15 0 0
01    Drawings 112 24 6 10 10 4 8 10 16 10 14
02    Cost Opinion 18 2 4 6 6
03    QA/QC 3 2 1
04    Review Meeting with City 33 6 6 8 6 6 1

03 85% Design $74,035.00 357 4 17 60 51 38 24 21 41 40 8 8 2 17 26 0
01    Drawings 199 1 8 26 20 18 10 20 40 40 16
02    Specifications 92 4 22 20 10 10 26
03    Cost Opinion 20 2 6 6 6
04    QA/QC 18 8 8 2
05   Preliminary Comment Responses 10 2 2 2 2 1 1
06    Review Meeting with City 18 3 3 4 3 2 2 1

04 100%, Bid Documents $33,110.00 162 1 8 26 18 12 9 14 14 14 4 4 4 20 14 0
01    Drawings 103 1 6 18 8 4 4 14 14 14 20
02    Specifications 33 6 6 4 3 14
03    Cost Opinion 7 2 2 2 1
04    QA/QC 12 4 4 4
05    90% Review Comment Responses 7 2 2 2 1

Parametrix Labor Totals: $157,775.00 761 57 39 108 91 60 47 45 71 64 12 14 7 100 40 6
Totals: $157,775.00 $14,820.00 $11,700.00 $21,060.00 $19,110.00 $14,400.00 $12,220.00 $9,900.00 $13,135.00 $10,880.00 $3,420.00 $3,360.00 $2,100.00 $15,000.00 $5,800.00 $870.00

Other Direct Expenses
Mileage - $0.67/mile $289.44
Other Expenses $1,200.00
Other Direct Expenses Total: $1,489.44

Project Total $159,264.44

Prepared by Parametrix 4/17/2024



Council Briefing Form  Revised 07/01/2020 

 

CITY OF SHELTON  
COUNCIL BRIEFING REQUEST 

(Agenda Item E2) 

Touch Date: 04/10/2024  
Brief Date:    05/07/2024        
Action Date: 05/21/2024  

Department: Public Works 
   
Presented By:  Jay Harris, Public Works Director 

 
  
APPROVED FOR COUNCIL PACKET: 

  PROGRAM/PROJECT TITLE: 
Amendment #3, Satellite Treatment 
Plant Tank Project (Wetland 
Delineation Work) 
   
 ATTACHMENTS:  
 - Resolution No. 1331-0424 
 - Attachment A, Scope of Work,    
   Cost Estimate   

 
Action Requested: 
 

 Ordinance 

 Resolution 

 Motion 

 Other 
 

ROUTE TO: REVIEWED: 
 

 
 
Dept. Head  J.O.H 

 
 

 
Finance Director   

 
 

 
Attorney  

 
 

 
City Clerk  

 
 

 
City Manager 

 
      

 
DESCRIPTION OF THE PROGRAM/PROJECT AND BACKGROUND INFORMATION:   
Staff is proceeding with design work for a 0.5 MG reclaimed water storage tank at the City satellite wastewater 
treatment plant with grant money awarded from the Department of Commerce. The design for this project is 
nearly complete and the location of the nearby offsite wetland boundary that was delineated in 2005 must be 
verified as a part of permitting requirements for the project. 
 
ANALYSIS/OPTIONS/ALTERNATIVES 
If the wetland delineation work is not approved, the project will become un-permittable as the City’s Community 
Development Department has indicated that an updated formal wetland delineation is required in accordance 
with the City’s Critical Areas Ordinance. The original wetland delineation was completed in 2005, prior to 
construction of the original plant in 2007. Wetland systems are dynamic, as they expand and contract, based on 
multiple physical and environmental factors. State law sets limits on the validity of wetland delineations, which 
are typically good for approximately 5-years.  
 
BUDGET/FISCAL INFORMATION 
The proposed work scope and cost estimate are included as Attachment A. The additional $12,000 will be  
absorbed as part of the design work for this project:  
 
PUBLIC INFORMATION REQUIREMENTS:  
Grant, design, contracts, and associated documents as it pertains to this project have been included within past 
and present Council packet materials. All materials are available and can be obtained from the Shelton Public 
Works Department.   
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION/MOTION:  
“I move to place Resolution No. 1331-0424 on to the action agenda for the May 21, 2024 Council meeting for 
further consideration.”   



  

RESOLUTION NO. 1331-0424 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SHELTON, WASHINGTON, AUTHORIZING THE CITY 
MANAGER TO APPROVE SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENT NO. 3 TO THE PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 

AGREEMENT WITH GRAY & OSBORNE, INC. TITLED, SATELLITE WASTEWATER TREATMENT PLANT 
TANK PROJECT 

 
WHEREAS, on September 4, 2018, the City Council approved a contract with Gray and Osborne, Inc. 

for the design of a new reclaimed water tank at the Satellite Wastewater Treatment Plant; and 

WHEREAS, in July of 2020, Council adopted Resolution No. 1156-0320 approving contract 
amendment #1 to the design contract with Gray and Osborne, Inc. providing additional scope, budget, 
and time, to better align the project with the tasks identified in the Interlocal Agreement with the 
Squaxin Island Tribe; and  

WHEREAS, in September of 2021, the City was awarded a net amount of $2,000,000 for the project in 
the 2021-2023 State Capital Budget, utilizing the State’s Coronavirus State Fiscal Recovery Funds 
through the federal American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA), administered through the State Department of 
Commerce; and 

WHEREAS, in January of 2023, the City Council approved contract amendment #2, adding $138,200 
to the current contract, for a cost not to exceed $234,200, and extending the contract end-date to 
December 31, 2024, to complete design efforts for the Satellite Wastewater Treatment Plant Reclaimed 
Tank; and 

WHEREAS, Gray & Osborne, Inc. has proposed Supplemental Agreement No. 3, which will add 
$12,000 to the Contract amount (for a total not to exceed $246,200), to provide wetland delineation 
services on the adjacent wetland system, as required by the local permitting authority in order to 
acquire the local permits for the project. 

WHEREAS, the additional resources to provide these services will be integrated into the grant award, 
as part of the design efforts towards this project. 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, by the City Council of the City of Shelton that the City Manager is 
authorized to sign Supplemental Agreement No. 3 to the Professional Services Contract with Gray & 
Osborne, Inc. to allow for wetland delineation services in an amount not to exceed $12,000, as outlined 
within the scope and cost estimate within Attachment A.  
 
INTRODUCED on the 7th day of May 2024 and PASSED by the City Council at its regular meeting held on 
this 21st day of May 2024. 
 
                                                                          __________________________________ 
ATTEST:                                                                Mayor Onisko 
   
____________________________  
City Clerk Nault 
 



 

 

PO Box 853     ●     Anacortes, WA 98221     ●     Tel. 206-954-0901 

linda@krippnerconsulting.com 
 

          March 26, 2024 

Dominic J. Miller, P.E. 

Gray & Osborne, Inc. 

2102 Carriage Drive SW 

Building I 

Olympia, WA 98502 

 

RE:  Shelton Reclaimed Water Tank: Scope & Cost Estimate for Wetland Study Update  

 

Dear Mr. Miller, 

 

This scope of work has been prepared for you by Krippner Consulting, LLC to provide an 

updated wetland survey and report as required by the City of Shelton for the City’s proposed 

reclaimed water tank at their existing reclaimed water facility. The proposed project is located 

south of the Shelton airport and west of US highway 101 at the city’s existing reclaimed water 

facility on West Fairgrounds Road. The reclaimed water facility is on an 11-acre parcel, Parcel 

420123100000. A wetland is located on the southeast portion of the parcel. 

 

The wetland study update will include a review of existing information and an updated field 

delineation of the wetland boundary that is located on the site. The field survey will be 

conducted by Linda Krippner and Steve Krippner in accordance with City of Shelton reporting 

requirements. Wetlands will be identified in accordance with the 1987 US Army Corps of 

Engineers Wetland Delineation Manual and the 2010 Regional Supplement to the Corps of 

Engineers Wetland Delineation Manual: Western Mountains, Valleys, and Coast Region. The 

wetland boundary and data plot locations will be marked with flagging in the field unless the 

boundary is clearly the same as it was in 2005. A formal survey of these flags by an engineering 

survey crew will be required and we will include this formal survey in our wetland report. A map 

of the flagged wetland boundary and our data plots will be prepared for the engineering 

surveyors. Wetlands will be classified in accordance with the Washington State Wetland Rating 

System for Western Washington, Washington State Department of Ecology Publication No. 14-

06-029 (Hruby 2014).  

 

A wetland survey report will be prepared for the project. This report will include the results of 

the field survey and wetland rating, site photos, data sheets, maps required for the wetland rating, 

and a map showing the wetland boundary and standard wetland buffer.  

 

  



Wetland Survey Update for City of Shelton’s Proposed Reclaimed Water Tank 

   

 2 

This work will be charged on a time and materials basis not to exceed $7,620 without your 

written approval. The estimated cost is summarized in the table below.  

 

Task Hours Rate Total 

Wetland Delineation 28  $          135   $       3,780  

Wetland Rating 8  $          135   $       1,080  

Wetland Report 16  $          135   $       2,160  

Expenses - mileage, lodging, supplies      $          600  

Total for Wetland Study Update      $       7,620  

 

 

The field work is scheduled to occur on April 2, 2024. The wetland survey report will be 

prepared within three weeks of receiving the survey of the wetland boundaries from the 

engineering surveyors. 

 

Thank you for the opportunity to prepare this scope of work. Please let me know if you have any 

questions. 

 

 

Sincerely,  

 

 
 

Linda Krippner 

Professional Wetland Scientist (PWS) 

Krippner Consulting, LLC 

 

 



Principal/  

Project 

Manager 

Hours

Project  

Engineer 

Hours

AutoCAD  

Technician

Hours

Survey   

Crew

Hours

1 Project Management 2

2 Wetland Study Update 2 4 8

2 2 4 8

$230 $185 $120 $275

$460 $370 $480 $2,200

Total Fully Burdened Labor Cost: 3,510$          

Direct Non-Salary Cost:

Mileage & Expenses (Mileage IRS Rate) 108$             

Subconsultant

Krippner Consulting (Wetland Study) 7,620$          

Subconsultant Overhead (10%) 762$             

TOTAL ESTIMATED COST: 12,000$        

*

Tasks

Hour Estimate:

Estimated Fully Burdened Billing Rate:*

Fully Burdened Labor Cost:

Actual labor cost will be based on each employee's actual rate.  Estimated rates are for determining total 

estimated cost only.  Fully burdened billing rates include direct salary cost, overhead, and profit.

EXHIBIT D PART 3

ENGINEERING SERVICES

SCOPE AND ESTIMATED COST

City of Shelton

Wetland Study Upate for Reclaimed Water Tank

#18287.00 Page 1 of 1



Council Briefing Form  Revised 07/01/2020 

 

CITY OF SHELTON  
COUNCIL BRIEFING REQUEST 

(Agenda Item E3) 

Touch Date:  04/09/2024 
Brief Date:       05/07/2024 
Action Date:  05/21/2024 

Department: Executive 
   
Presented By:  Mark Ziegler, City Manager 

 
  
APPROVED FOR COUNCIL PACKET: 

  PROGRAM/PROJECT TITLE: 
   Council Protocol Manual & Strategic 
   Goals Update 
 
  ATTACHMENTS:  
   - Revised Protocol Manual 
   - Revised Policy 100-10 
   - Revised Strategic Goals    

 
Action Requested: 
 

 Ordinance 

 Resolution 

 Motion 

 Other 
 

ROUTE TO: REVIEWED: 
 

 
 
Dept. Head   

 
 

 
Finance Director   

 
 

 
Attorney  

 
 

 
City Clerk  

 
 

 
City Manager 

 
      

 
DESCRIPTION OF THE PROGRAM/PROJECT AND BACKGROUND INFORMATION:   

Council conducted a retreat on Marrch 25 to receive training and strategic measures. Mandatory training on 
the Open Public Meeting Act and Public Records Act were conducted by the City Attorney. The Council 
Protocol Manual, Policy 100-10 relating to Council agenda Briefings and Reports, and the 2022-2025 Council 
Strategic Goals were reviewed. 

 
The Council Protocol Manual is a living document requiring regular review and editing to meet best practices 
and Council priorities. The most recent version was adopted in February 2023. Council discussed potential 
revisions to the manual at the March 25 Council retreat as well as a study session held on April 9. 
 
There are grammatical and clarifying edits proposed that do not substantially change the document.  
 
Substantive revisions include: 
 

PAGE SECTION PURPOSE OF EDIT 

6 Oath of office Update to current oath 

17 Mail and deliveries Update to current process 

22 Proclamations Add a procedure and application process to receive requests for 
proclamations 

28 Attendance via Electronic 
Communication 

Amend to require votes via video and roll call  

31 Development of the Agenda Reference updated policy  

32 General Public Comment Moved in meeting agenda  

33 Consent Agenda Refine and clarify consent agenda items and allow for Council to 
move an item to the action agenda 



Council Briefing Form  Revised 07/01/2020 

33 Business Agenda Removing public comments from each agenda item  

44 Leaving Office Update to current process 

44-46 Filling Council Vacancy Update voting procedure 

 

In order to accommodate revisions of the Protocol Manual, Policy 100-10 Council Briefings and Reports is 
proposed to be edited to better align with expectations of Council and the public when making non-emergency 
decisions. The policy revisions also create efficiencies for routine items that have already been considered by 
Council or approved through the budget process.  
 
The 2022-2025 Council Strategic Goals were reviewed in the retreat to ensure alignment with a Council that 
changed three seats. The only edit to the document is adding a diversity, equity, and inclusion statement to 
align with community expectations.     

 
ANALYSIS/OPTIONS/ALTERNATIVES:  
Council may choose to adopt all, none or several of the proposed revisions noted above. All revisions may be 
considered separately, each does not affect a different revision within the Protocol Manual. 
   
BUDGET/FISCAL INFORMATION:  
No anticipated effect on budget or expenses. 
 
PUBLIC INFORMATION REQUIREMENTS:  
Information may be obtained by contacting the City Clerk. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION/MOTION:  
“I move to place the Council Protocol Manual, Policy 100-10 and 2022-25 Council Strategic Goals as presented 
on the May 21 City Council action agenda for further consideration.” 



 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

CITY OF SHELTON 
 
 
 
 

CITY COUNCIL PROTOCOL MANUAL 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

City Council Protocol Manual draft edits accepted version 04242024 – Draft edits 2024February 21, 2023 
 2 

 

Table of Contents 
 
OATH OF OFFICE ..................................................................................................................................................... 5 

Foreword ............................................................................................................................................................... 6 

Chapter 1 ................................................................................................................................................................ 7 

Introduction and Overview ................................................................................................................................ 7 

1.01 Council-Manager Form of Government ............................................................................................. 7 

1.02 Association of Washington Cities and Municipal Research & Services Center of Washington ......... 7 

1.03 Purpose of City Council Protocol Manual .......................................................................................... 7 

1.04 Overview of Basic City Documents .................................................................................................... 7 

1.05 Orientation of New Councilmembers ................................................................................................ 9 

Chapter 2 .............................................................................................................................................................. 10 

Shelton City Council: General Powers and Responsibilities ............................................................................ 10 

2.01 City Council Generally ...................................................................................................................... 10 

2.02 Role of Councilmembers .................................................................................................................. 10 

2.03     Role of Mayor ................................................................................................................................... 11 

2.04 Absence of Mayor and Councilmembers ......................................................................................... 11 

2.05 Election of Mayor and Deputy Mayor ............................................................................................. 12 

2.06 Appointment of City Manager ......................................................................................................... 12 

2.07 Advisory Bodies and Council Participation on Outside Boards........................................................ 12 

2.08     Dual Office Holding........................................................................................................................... 14 

Chapter 3 .............................................................................................................................................................. 15 

Support Provided to City Council ..................................................................................................................... 15 

3.01 Staff/Clerical Support ....................................................................................................................... 15 

3.02 Office Equipment ............................................................................................................................. 15 

3.03 Meeting Rooms ................................................................................................................................ 15 

3.04 Mail and Deliveries........................................................................................................................... 15 

Chapter 4 .............................................................................................................................................................. 16 

Financial Matters ............................................................................................................................................. 16 

4.01 Council Compensation ..................................................................................................................... 16 

4.02 Expenses .......................................................................................................................................... 16 

4.03 Travel Policy ..................................................................................................................................... 16 



 

City Council Protocol Manual draft edits accepted version 04242024 – Draft edits 2024February 21, 2023 
 3 

 

Chapter 5 .............................................................................................................................................................. 19 

Communications .............................................................................................................................................. 19 

5.01 Overview .......................................................................................................................................... 19 

5.02 Correspondence from Councilmembers .......................................................................................... 19 

5.03 Local Ballot Measures ...................................................................................................................... 19 

5.04 Proclamations .................................................................................................................................. 20 

5.05 State Public Records Act .................................................................................................................. 20 

Chapter 6 .............................................................................................................................................................. 22 

Conflicts of Interest and Liability of Elected Officials ....................................................................................... 22 

6.01 Conflicts of Interest .......................................................................................................................... 22 

6.02 Liability and indemnification............................................................................................................ 22 

Chapter 7 .............................................................................................................................................................. 23 

Interaction with City Staff/Officials .................................................................................................................. 23 

7.01 Council-Manager Plan of Government ............................................................................................ 23 

7.02 City Council Non-interference ......................................................................................................... 23 

7.03 City Manager Performance evaluation ............................................................................................ 24 

7.04 City Council/City Staff Relationship ................................................................................................. 24 

7.05 City Council/City Attorney Relationship .......................................................................................... 24 

7.06 Roles and Information Flow ............................................................................................................. 25 

7.07 Council Attendance Policy ............................................................................................................... 25 

7.08 Attendance via electronic communication ...................................................................................... 26 

Chapter 8 .............................................................................................................................................................. 27 

City Council Meetings....................................................................................................................................... 27 

8.01 Meeting Schedule ............................................................................................................................ 27 

8.02 Public Notice of Meetings and Hearings .......................................................................................... 27 

8.03 Special Meetings .............................................................................................................................. 27 

8.04 Study Sessions .................................................................................................................................. 28 

8.05 Placing Items on the Agenda ........................................................................................................... 28 

8.06     Development of the Agenda ............................................................................................................ 29 

8.07 Order of Business ............................................................................................................................. 29 

8.08     General Meeting Procedures ........................................................................................................... 34 

8.09 Open Public Meetings Act ................................................................................................................ 35 

Chapter 9 .............................................................................................................................................................. 36 



 

City Council Protocol Manual draft edits accepted version 04242024 – Draft edits 2024February 21, 2023 
 4 

 

Parliamentary Procedure ................................................................................................................................. 36 

Chapter 10 ............................................................................................................................................................ 37 

Protocol Administration ................................................................................................................................... 37 

10.01  Review ............................................................................................................................................... 37 

10.02  Adherence to Protocol ...................................................................................................................... 37 

10.03  City Attorney as Protocol Advisor ..................................................................................................... 38 

Chapter 11 ............................................................................................................................................................ 39 

Additional Training and Resource Materials .................................................................................................... 39 

11.01  Association of Washington Cities [(800) 562-8981] ......................................................................... 39 

11.02  National League of Cities [(202) 626-3000] ...................................................................................... 39 

11.03  International City/County Management Association [(202) 289-4262] ........................................... 39 

11.04  International Institute of Municipal Clerks [(909) 944-4162] ........................................................... 39 

11.05  Government Finance Officers Association [(312) 977-9700] ............................................................ 40 

11.06  Municipal Research & Services Center of Washington [(206) 625-1300] ......................................... 40 

11.07  Appendix ........................................................................................................................................... 40 

11.08  Other Reference Materials................................................................................................................ 40 

Chapter 12 ............................................................................................................................................................ 42 

Leaving Office ................................................................................................................................................... 42 

12.01  Return of Materials, Equipment, and records .................................................................................. 42 

12.02  Filling Council Vacancies ................................................................................................................... 42 

APPENDIX ............................................................................................................................................................. 45 

Tips for Successful Public Service .................................................................................................................... 45 



 

City Council Protocol Manual draft edits accepted version 04242024 – Draft edits 2024February 21, 2023 
 5 

 

 

 
CITY OF SHELTON 

 

                                      OATH OF OFFICE 

 
STATE OF WASHINGTONCOUNTY OF 
MASON         

 

 
 

 
I, ___________________, do solemnly swear that I am a citizen of the 
United States and the State of Washington; that I will support the 
constitution of the United States and the constitution and laws of the   
State of Washington; and will, to the best of my judgment, skill and 
ability, faithfully and impartially perform the duties of the Shelton City 
Council, Seat No. ___, for the City of Shelton, Washington as such duties 
are prescribed by law. 

 
 

 ____   
Signature of Councilmember 
 
 
 
 
Subscribed and sworn to before me this__day of  ,   . 
 

 
 
Attest: 
 
_____________________________________ 
City Clerk



 

City Council Protocol Manual draft edits accepted version 04242024 – Draft edits 2024February 21, 2023 
 6 

 

Foreword 
 
In the course of serving as a public official, there are myriad issues with which you will become 
involved.  This Protocol Manual attempts to centralize information on common issues related to 
local government and your role as a Member of the Shelton City Council. 
 
The issues that are addressed in this publication are often complex and subjective. This manual is 
intended to be a guide and is not a substitute for the counsel, guidance, or opinion of the City Manager 
or City Attorney. 
 
The protocols included in this reference document have been formally adopted by the City Council. 
Provisions contained herein will be reviewed as needed to respond to changes in the law and the will 
of the Council. 



 

City Council Protocol Manual draft edits accepted version 04242024 – Draft edits 2024February 21, 2023 
 7 

 

Chapter 1 
Introduction and Overview 
 
 

As a City Councilmember, you not only establish important and often critical policies for the 
community, you are also a Board Member of a public corporation with a sizeable annual budget. The 
scope of services and issues addressed by the city organization are very significant. 

 

1.01 Council-Manager Form of Government 
 

The City of Shelton is a Council-Manager form of government.  As described in the Shelton Municipal 
Code and Revised Code of Washington, a City Council’s role is that of a legislative policy-making 
body which determines the local laws that regulate community life. Also, the City Council 
determines public policy and gives direction to the City Manager to administer the affairs of the city 
government in a businesslike and prudent manner. 

 

1.02 Association of Washington Cities and Municipal Research & Services Center of 
Washington 
 

The Code City Handbook, published by the Municipal Research & Services Center (MRSC), provides 
a wealth of general information on the major functions of a Councilmember’s job as a locally elected 
official. Another publication that goes hand in hand with the handbook is Knowing the Territory, 
Basic Legal Guidelines for Washington Municipal Officials, published by MRSC. This report discusses 
basic powers; basic duties, liabilities, and immunities of officers; conflict of interest and appearance 
of fairness; prohibited uses of public funds, property, or credit; competitive bidding requirements; 
the Open Public Meetings Act; Public Records Act; and immunities from tort liability. These 
documents should be reviewed and considered an integral part of procedures utilized within the 
City. 

 

1.03 Purpose of City Council Protocol Manual 
 

This Protocol Manual is to assist the City Council by documenting accepted practices and clarifying 
expectations. Administration of City Council affairs is greatly enhanced by the agreement of the City 
Council and staff to abide by these practices. While attempting not to be overly restrictive, 
procedures are established so that expectations and practices can be clearly articulated to guide 
Councilmembers in their actions. 
 

1.04 Overview of Basic City Documents 
 
This Protocol Manual provides a summary of important aspects of City Council activities. However, 



 

City Council Protocol Manual draft edits accepted version 04242024 – Draft edits 2024February 21, 2023 
 8 

 

it cannot incorporate all material and information necessary for undertaking the business of the 
City Council. Many other laws, plans, and documents exist which bind the City Council to certain 
courses of action and practices. The following is a summary of some of the most notable 
documents that establish City Council direction. 
 
Shelton Municipal Code 

The municipal code contains local laws and regulations adopted by ordinances. Title 1 
of the code contains general provisions including City Classification. Title 2 of the Code 
addresses Administration and Personnel. In addition to these administrative matters, the 
municipal code contains a variety of laws including, but not limited to, zoning standards, 
health and safety issues, traffic regulations, building standards, and revenue and finance 
issues. 

Personnel Policies and Procedures Handbook 

The City has a series of Personnel Policies and Procedures that govern hiring, firing, and 
conditions of City employment. Under the oversight of the City Manager, these Policies 
are updated as needed to reflect changes in federal and state law and City policy.     

Revised Code of Washington 

The Revised Code of Washington (RCW) contains many requirements for the operation of 
city government and administration of meetings of city councils throughout the state. 
Shelton is an “optional code city,” which means it operates under Title 35A of the RCW 
and the “general laws” of the state. As an optional code city of the State of Washington, 
Shelton is vested with all the powers of incorporated cities as set forth in the RCW, 
Constitution of the State of Washington, and Shelton Municipal Code. As a 
Council/Manager Code city, Shelton is specifically governed by Chap. 35A.13 of the RCW.   

Budget 

The budget is the primary tool and road map for accomplishing the goals of the City. The 
budget document is the result of one of the most important processes the City undertakes. 
By adopting the budget, the City Council makes policy decisions, sets priorities, allocates 
resources, and provides the framework for government operations. 

Annual Financial Report 

The annual financial report includes the financial statements of the City for a calendar 
year. It includes the financial condition of the City as reflected in the balance sheet, the 
results of operations as reflected in income statements, an analysis of the uses of City 
funds, and related footnotes.  The annual financial report includes statements for the 
various groups of funds and a consolidated group of statements for the City as a whole. 
 



 

City Council Protocol Manual draft edits accepted version 04242024 – Draft edits 2024February 21, 2023 
 9 

 

Comprehensive Plan 

A state-mandated Comprehensive Plan addresses the City’s long-range planning needs 
relative to land use, transportation, economic development, and other planning elements.  
The City’s Comprehensive Plan is reviewed on an ongoing basis, but may only be revised 
once a year, except as provided by State law. 

Six-year Capital Improvement Program 

The Six-year Capital Improvement Program serves as a guide for determining priorities, 
planning, financing, and constructing capital projects which add to, support, or improve 
the physical infrastructure, capital assets, or productive capacity of city services. 

Disaster Preparedness Plan 

The City maintains a disaster preparedness plan that outlines actions to be taken during 
times of extreme emergency. The Mayor is vested by City Resolution with the authority 
detailed under 35A.13.030 RCW in times of emergency. The City Council may be called 
upon during an emergency to establish policies related to a specific incident. 
 

1.05 Orientation of New Councilmembers 

It is important for Councilmembers to gain an understanding of the full range of services and 
programs provided by the City. As new Members join the City Council, the City Manager and City 
Clerk will host an orientation program that provides an opportunity for Members to tour municipal 
facilities and meet with key staff. Another training opportunity for new Members is the Association 
of Washington Cities-sponsored newly elected officials’ orientation. At any time, if there are facilities 
or programs about which you would like more information, inform the City Manager and 
arrangements will be made to increase your awareness of these operations. 



 

City Council Protocol Manual draft edits accepted version 04242024 – Draft edits 2024February 21, 2023 
 10 

 

Chapter 2 
Shelton City Council: General Powers and Responsibilities 
 
 

2.01 City Council Generally 

Fundamentally, the powers of the City Council are to be utilized for the good of the community and 
its residents; to provide for the health, safety and general welfare of the citizenry. The City Council 
is the policy making and lawmaking body of the City. State law and local ordinances grant the powers 
and responsibilities of the Council. 

It is important to note that the Council acts as a body and speaks with one “corporate voice”. No 
one Member has any extraordinary powers beyond those of other Members. While the Mayor 
has some additional ceremonial and presiding officer responsibilities as described below, when it 
comes to establishing policies, voting, and in other significant areas, all Members are equal. It is also 
important to note that policy is established by at least a majority vote of the Council. While 
individual Members may disagree with decisions of the majority, a decision of the majority does 
bind the Council to a course of action. Councilmembers should respect adopted Council policy. In 
turn, it is staff’s responsibility to ensure the policy of the Council is upheld. 
 
Actions of staff to pursue the policy direction established by a majority of Council do not reflect any 
bias against Councilmembers who held a minority opinion on an issue. 

In order to uphold the integrity of the council-manager form of government, and to provide proper 
checks and balances, Councilmembers shall refrain from becoming directly involved in the 
administrative affairs of the City. RCW 35A.13.120 specifically prohibits interference by 
Councilmembers in the city’s administrative service, including the hiring, firing, and work of city 
staff, with the exception of the City Manager. 

2.02 Role of Councilmembers 

The following outline is a brief description of the primary duties of Councilmembers.  

Establish Policy 

a. Adopt goals and objectives 
b. Establish priorities for public services 
c. Approve/amend the operating and capital budgets  
d. Approve contracts in excess of the dollar threshold signing authorities the Council has 

delegated to the City Manager and other City employees 
e. Adopt resolutions 
f. Amend the Comprehensive Plan 



 

City Council Protocol Manual draft edits accepted version 04242024 – Draft edits 2024February 21, 2023 
 11 

 

 
Enact Local Laws 

a. Adopt ordinances 
b. Amend the Shelton Municipal Code 

Supervise Appointed Officials  

a. Appoint City Manager 
b. Evaluate performance of City Manager 
c. Establish advisory boards and commissions  
d. Make or confirm appointments to advisory bodies 
e. Provide direction to advisory bodies 
f. Confirm the appointment of the municipal court judge 

Provide Public Leadership 

a. Represent the City’s interest at regional, county, state, and federal levels 
b. Communicate the City’s vision and goals to constituents 
c. Call special elections as necessary 
d. Relate wishes of constituents to promote representative governance 

 

2.03   Role of Mayor 

Presiding Officer 

The Mayor serves as the presiding officer and acts as chair at all meetings of the City Council. The 
Mayor is vested with duties defined under RCW 35A.13.030. The Mayor may participate in all 
deliberations of the Council in the same manner as any other Members and is expected to vote in 
all proceedings, except in case of excused absence or if a conflict of interest precludes voting. The 
Mayor does not possess any power of veto. The Mayor may not move an action but may second a 
motion. 

Ceremonial Representative 

Responsibility to act as the City Council’s ceremonial representative at public events and 
functions has been assigned to the Mayor. The Mayor is vested with the authority to initiate and 
execute proclamations.  

 

2.04 Absence of Mayor and Councilmembers 
 

In the absence of the Mayor, the Deputy Mayor shall perform the duties of the Mayor. When 
both the Mayor and Deputy Mayor are absent, the Council may choose from among its Members a 
person to serve as acting mayor, who shall, for the term of such absence, have the powers of 
the Mayor. 



 

City Council Protocol Manual draft edits accepted version 04242024 – Draft edits 2024February 21, 2023 
 12 

 

 

2.05 Election of Mayor and Deputy Mayor 
 
 

Biennially, at the first meeting of the new Council, the Members shall choose a Mayor from their 
number. If a permanent vacancy occurs in the Office of Mayor, the Members of the Council at their 
next regular meeting will select a Mayor from their number for the unexpired term.  
 
Biennially at the first meeting of the new Council, the Council shall decide by majority of those present 
whether to appoint a Deputy Mayor, as provided in RCW 35A.13.035. If the Council chooses to 
appoint a Deputy Mayor, he or she shall be selected using the same process for selecting the Mayor. 

 
The City Clerk will conduct the election for Mayor. The City Clerk will call for nominations. Each 
Councilmember will be permitted to nominate one (1) person, and nominations will not require 
a second. Any Councilmember may nominate him or herself, and Councilmembers may decline their 
nominations. After all nominations are received, the City Clerk shall ask each Councilmember one-by-
one to state his or her vote via voice. The first nominee to receive a majority vote of members present 
shall be appointed the Mayor. If the Council has determined to appoint a Deputy Mayor, the Mayor-
elect will conduct the election for Deputy Mayor in the same manner described for the election 
of the Mayor. 
 
If, on the first voice vote, no Member garners a majority vote of members present, the nominee 
receiving the lowest vote total shall be dropped and a revote conducted. In the event of a tie, run-off 
elections shall be held. 
 
2.06 Appointment of City Manager 
 
The City Council is responsible for appointing the City Manager and shall do so on the basis of his or 
her executive and administrative qualifications with special reference to his or her actual experience 
in, or his or her knowledge of, the duties of the office. The City Manager serves at the pleasure of the 
Council. The City Manager is responsible for the hiring, firing, and supervision of all personnel within 
the city. The City Manager’s appointment of the Municipal Court Judge is subject to confirmation by 
the City Council. 
 
2.07 Advisory Bodies and Council Participation on Outside Boards 
 
Creation of Boards and Commissions 

The City Council is specifically empowered to create or dissolve all advisory boards and 
commissions pursuant to the provisions of Title 35A RCW, or such advisory boards or commissions 
not specifically enumerated, as the Council deems necessary or advisable. In the exercise of this 
power, the City Council m a y  a c t  t o  establish a consistent policy in its decision-making role 
to fairly and equitably evaluate those citizens of the community who demonstrate desire to serve 



 

City Council Protocol Manual draft edits accepted version 04242024 – Draft edits 2024February 21, 2023 
 13 

 

on such boards or commissions. Such policy may be established in the Shelton Municipal Code or 
as a supplement to this Council Protocol. 

 
B. Councilmembers on Outside Boards 
 

The City Council is often requested to appoint Councilmembers to serve on outside boards, 
councils, commissions, or committees.  This type of representation serves to facilitate 
communication and provide interaction with other governmental bodies. The City Council 
appoints members to some of these groups on an as-needed or as-requested basis. 

Membership appointment to these groups shall be made by consensus of the Council.  
If more than one Councilmember desires to serve as a member of a particular outside 
group, the member for that group will be appointed by a majority vote of the Council.  
Council may appoint an alternate to attend outside boards, councils, commissions, or 
committees, if the main delegate to such group is unable to attend a meeting of the group.  

Councilmembers participating in policy discussions at regional meetings will represent the 
consensus of the Council, except where regional appointment requires regional opinion. 
Personal positions, when given, will be identified and not represented as the position of 
the City. Assignment and direction of staff in relation to regional meetings are at the 
discretion of the City Manager. 

C. Councilmembers’ Role and Relationship with City Advisory Bodies 
  

Council members shall not be appointed to City advisory bodies concurrent with their term 
of office as Councilmember. 
 
Unless specifically authorized by majority vote of the full Council, no Councilmember shall 
state or testify to the policy or position of the Council before any advisory board or 
commission of the City. 
 
Councilmembers shall police their own conduct before the City’s advisory boards and 
commissions in order to assure public confidence in the decision-making process and avoid 
the appearance of bias, prejudice, or improper influence.  Toward this purpose, the 
following minimum standards should be observed: 
 
Council members shall not testify in quasi-judicial matters pending before any advisory 
board or commission that will receive, or could potentially receive, future appeal or review 
before the City Council.  
 
Councilmembers shall refrain from providing testimony in legislative or administrative 
matters pending before any advisory board that will receive, or could potentially receive, 
future review or other action before the Council, unless the Councilmember declares on the 



 

City Council Protocol Manual draft edits accepted version 04242024 – Draft edits 2024February 21, 2023 
 14 

 

record that the Councilmember is present in his or her private capacity as an interested 
citizen and not speaking on behalf of the Council.  
 
Councilmembers are expected to attend all meetings except in the cases of excused 
absences.  A council position on appointed advisory bodies shall become vacant if the 
Councilmember fails to attend three consecutive regular meetings of the council without 
being excused by the council.   
 
At the following regular meeting of the City Council following a vacancy on an advisory 
board Council shall appoint a different representative from their members to fill the 
vacancy. 
 

 

2.08   Dual Office Holding 
 
State law prohibits Councilmembers from holding more than one office at a time, if those offices are considered 
to be “incompatible.”  Questions concerning dual office holding or compatibility of offices shall be addressed 
to the City Manager or City Attorney on case-by-case basis. 



 

City Council Protocol Manual draft edits accepted version 04242024 – Draft edits 2024February 21, 2023 
 15 

 

Chapter 3 
Support Provided to City Council 
 
3.01 Staff/Clerical Support 
 
Staff and administrative support to C o u n c i l m e m b e r s  is provided through the City Manager’s 
Office, via the City Clerk’s Office. Secretarial services, including scheduling of appointments, receipt 
of telephone messages, and word processing, are available as needed. Sensitivity to the workload of 
support staff members in the City Clerk’s Office is appreciated.  Please note that individuals may 
have work assignments with high priority. Should requested tasks require significant time 
commitments, the City Manager may modify or reject Councilmember requests for administrative 
support. 
 

3.02 Office Equipment 
 
To enhance Councilmembers’ service to the community and their ability to communicate with staff 
and the public, the City provides meeting facilities and office equipment for City business. 
 
The Information Technology Department (IT) will provide a laptop or tablet, at the request of 
Councilmembers, for official City use. Information Technology will ensure that all appropriate 
software is installed and will also provide an orientation in the use of computers and related 
software. Personal media and programs cannot be stored on City computers.  Councilmembers 
shall agree to follow the City of Shelton Acceptable Use of Information Technology when utilizing City-
owned computers and electronic devices. 
 
3.03 Meeting Rooms 
 
Use of the conference room located at the Civic Center may be scheduled with the City Manager 
or City Clerk. 
 

3.04 Mail and Deliveries 
 
Members of the City Council receive a large volume of mail and other materials that are delivered 
to the Civic Center and distributed to  individual mailboxes foreach Councilmember.. 
Councilmembers are encouraged to check mailboxes often. In addition, City staff will email or 
personally deliver materials that are time-sensitive to a Councilmember’s home or office, if 
appropriate. 
  



 

City Council Protocol Manual draft edits accepted version 04242024 – Draft edits 2024February 21, 2023 
 16 

 

Chapter 4 
Financial Matters 
 

4.01 Council Compensation 

The municipal code provides for payment of a salary to members of the City Council. A seated 
City Council may not increase or decrease its own compensation. Councils may only pass an 
ordinance to adjust the compensation of incoming Council members (Constitutional Article 2, 
Section 25 and Article 30, Section 1). H o w e v e r ,  t h e  C o u n c i l  m a y  e s t a b l i s h  a  Salary 
Commission as provided in RCW 35.21.015, which may adjust salaries mid-term. Also see City 
Ordinance 1913-1217 as it pertains to the salary of elected officials either in office or elected prior 
to January 1, 2018. 

4.02 Expenses 
 
The City budget may include appropriations for expenses necessary for members to undertake 
official City business.  Funding provided may include membership in professional organizations, 
attendance at conferences or educational seminars, purchase of publications and office supplies. 
Councilmembers are responsible for training and travel expenses within their budget allocation, 
subject to review by the City Manager.  

 

4.03 Travel Policy 
 
Members of the City Council, City boards and commissions are subject to the City’s policies 
regarding travel and meal allowances: 
 
Travel Involving an Overnight Stay 

Reasonable transportation expenses for approved travel (as defined in City policies related 
to Travel and Meal Allowances) will be reimbursed if within budgeted allocations and in 
accordance with City policies. Councilmembers are responsible for managing their 
respective travel expenses within the approved budget allocations, subject to review by 
the City Manager.  
 
Elected and appointed officials should endeavor to attend training and conferences 
w i t h i n  the state of Washington whenever possible, if such training or conference is of 
comparable value to that offered out of state. 

 
Pre-authorization of Travel Involving an Overnight Stay 

 



 

City Council Protocol Manual draft edits accepted version 04242024 – Draft edits 2024February 21, 2023 
 17 

 

Anyone traveling on City business on a trip that involves an overnight stay shall submit a 
travel authorization form to the Finance Department. The travel authorization form will 
include a complete estimate of the costs of the trip, including conference registration, 
transportation, lodging, meals, vehicle rentals, and incidentals. The travel authorization 
form will also include the purpose of the trip, the dates of travel, and other pertinent 
details. 
 
The completed travel authorization form, including the appropriate authorizing signatures, 
must be submitted to the Finance Department before departure. The City Manager will 
authorize travel expenses within the legislative budget approved by the Council. The City 
Manager must authorize in advance: 
 

a. Overnight travel by elected or appointed officials 
b. Use of a rental vehicle by elected or appointed officials  
c. Out-of-state travel by elected or appointed officials 
d. Any interpretations to the policies stated herein 

 
Reimbursement of Travel Expenses 

A fully itemized claim for expense reimbursement must be submitted to the Finance 
Department within 10 days of the close of the authorized travel period.  

     Transportation Costs  
Reimbursement costs for transportation will be at the cost of the most reasonable 
means of transport. For example, airline costs will be reimbursed at a coach rate. If 
an elected or appointed official chooses to fly first class, the City will reimburse only at 
the coach rate and the official must pay for the difference. Efforts should be made to 
book air travel at least two weeks or more in advance to take advantage of lower rates. 
Frequent flyer miles earned accrue to the individual and not the City, but should not 
be the criteria for selecting a flight if lower-cost alternatives are available. 

 
Hotel/Motel Accommodations  

Reasonable expenses will be reimbursed at the rate of the single-room rate per 
person.  Government or discount rates should be obtained wherever possible. 

Individual Meals - Same Day Travel  
Reasonable costs of necessary meals while conducting City business are reimbursable, 
in accordance with City policies and current State Per Diem rates amounts, including 
tip: 

a. Receipts are not required for per diem reimbursements. 
b. Reimbursement requests must specify the function attended, date and place 

for purposes of auditing. 



 

City Council Protocol Manual draft edits accepted version 04242024 – Draft edits 2024February 21, 2023 
 18 

 

c. The cost of meals for official functions (political or professional organizations 
- usually include speaker and/or room rental) will be paid at full actual cost, 
even if the cost exceeds the rates above. 

d. Tips are allowable up to 20% and should be considered as a part of the 
maximum allowable amount. 

e. Reimbursement will not be paid for alcoholic beverages. 
f. Reimbursement will not be paid for expenses for spouses, guests, non-

employees, or other persons not authorized to receive reimbursement under 
this policy or State regulations. 

g. Reimbursement may be claimed by one person for several employees or 
officials eating together, as long as all the names are listed on the 
reimbursement claim. 

Per Diem for Out-of-Town, Overnight Meals  
When traveling out of town overnight, officials will receive a per diem allowance for meals 
rather than submitting a request for individual meal reimbursements. No receipts are required 
for meals reimbursed under this section. The daily per diem rates for meals shall be the 
maximum amount as stated in paragraph 3 above. If meals are provided as part of the 
registration fee, no per diem will be paid for those meals. Officials can claim the daily per diem 
rates only for those meals they pay for directly. 

Incidental Expenses 
Reasonable costs for parking, taxis, buses, rental cars (if necessary), etc., will be paid if itemized 
on the claim form and accompanied by a receipt. Use of rental cars must have prior approval via 
the travel authorization form.  

Personal Vehicles  
Mileage for the use of personal vehicles will be reimbursed at the IRS allowable mileage rate.  
Officials using their personal vehicles for City business are advised to review their personal auto 
insurance for coverage of such use. 

Reporting of Actual Expenses 
All actual eligible expenses should be reported on an expense reimbursement request form to 
be filled out by the official within 10 days after completion of travel. Receipts must be attached 
for all expenses claimed, with the exception of per diem for meals. Expense reimbursement 
requests should be signed by the same party originally approving the travel and filed with the 
Finance Department for processing. 

  



 

City Council Protocol Manual draft edits accepted version 04242024 – Draft edits 2024February 21, 2023 
 19 

 

Chapter 5  
Communications 
 
5.01 Overview 
 
Perhaps the most fundamental role of a Councilmember is communication: 
 

• Communication with the public to assess community opinions and needs, and to 
share the vision and goals of the City with constituents; 

• Communication with staff r eg ar d in g  policy direction and to gain an understanding 
of the implications of various policy alternatives. 

Because the City Council performs as a body (that is, acting based on the will of the majority as 
opposed to individuals), it is important that general guidelines be understood when speaking for the 
Council. Equally important, when Members are expressing personal views and not those of the 
Council, the public should be so advised. 

 

5.02 Correspondence from Councilmembers 
 

Members of the City Council will often be called upon to write correspondence to citizens, 
businesses, or other public agencies.  Typically, the Mayor will be charged with transmitting the 
City’s position on policy matters to outside agencies on behalf of the City Council. The City Clerk is 
available to support the Council and Councilmembers in preparing written correspondence. In the 
event a Councilmember self-prepares correspondence related in any way to City business, a copy of 
the document shall be provided to the City Clerk for Public Records purposes and for distribution to 
other Councilmembers. 

 
On occasion, Councilmembers may wish to correspond on an issue on which the Council has yet 
to take a position, or about an issue for which the Council has no position. In these circumstances, 
Members should clearly indicate that they are not speaking for the City Council as a whole, but for 
themselves as one Member of Council. A copy of any correspondence produced should be provided 
to the City Clerk for Public Records purposes and for distribution to other Councilmembers. 

 

5.03 Local Ballot Measures 
 
State statutes prohibit the City and an y  e lect ed of f i c ia l  from using its personnel, equipment, 
materials, buildings, or other resources to support or oppose a candidate for office or a ballot 
measure. What the City can do is distribute neutral and factual information for the purpose of 
informing the public of the facts of an issue. 
 
The City Council may also vote as a body to issue an official resolution supporting or opposing a ballot 



 

City Council Protocol Manual draft edits accepted version 04242024 – Draft edits 2024February 21, 2023 
 20 

 

measure, as long as the number and title of the ballot measure is listed on the meeting agenda and 
any citizens who are supporters or opponents are given an equal chance for public comment.   

 

5.04 Proclamations 
 
Proclamations may be issued as a ceremonial commemoration of an event or issue (e.g., National 
Night Out). Proclamations are not statements of policy; they are a manner in which the City can 
make special recognition of an individual, event, or issue. 
 
Procedure  

1. The person(s) or organization making the request should be a Shelton community member.  

2. The request should be made at least four weeks in advance of a regularly scheduled Council meeting.  

3. The person(s) or organization representative should be in attendance to accept the proclamation.  

4. The City retains the right to modify, edit, or otherwise amend the proposed proclamation to meet its 
requirements, needs, or policy determinations.  

5. The City retains the right to decide if the proclamation will be issued or not.  

6. The person(s) making the request must submit a completed Application Requesting a City Proclamation 
found on the City’s website at https://www.sheltonwa.gov/government/city_manager/city_clerk/index.php 

7. The agenda planning committee will determine if the proposed proclamation meets City policy. 

8. The proclamation will be added to the Council looking ahead agenda.  

9. If not approved, the applicant will be notified of the decision and the reason(s) for the decision. 

 
 

5.05 State Public Records Act 
 
To ensure that business communications submitted to and by elected and appointed officials comply 
with the State Public Records Act, Chap. 42.56 RCW, and the State Open Public Meetings Act, Chap. 
42.30 RCW, the following is set forth: 
 
Records – Generally 

Any documents, including letters, email, social media postings, and text messages, 
which are received, sent, or created by City Councilmembers, the subject of which relates 
to the conduct of government or the performance of any governmental function, are 
public records.  
 
Councilmembers must ensure that all public records are kept in City custody to enable the 
City to satisfy public records requirements. Councilmembers should minimize use of 
personal electronic devices and email accounts to create, send, receive, or modify any 

https://www.sheltonwa.gov/government/city_manager/city_clerk/index.php


 

City Council Protocol Manual draft edits accepted version 04242024 – Draft edits 2024February 21, 2023 
 21 

 

document that meets the definition of a public record.  Any communications or records 
created, sent, or received by the Councilmember on a personal device or account are to be 
immediately transferred to City custody for retention and disclosure.  Councilmembers 
may accomplish this by forwarding records and communications to their City-issued email 
accounts, with a subject line that will allow the record to be found in the event of a search.   

Written Communications 

Written letters and memoranda received by the City, addressed to a Councilmember or 
the Council as a body, will be provided to all City Councilmembers, and a copy kept 
according to the City’s Records Retention Schedule. 

Serial communications 

Councilmembers should use care when communicating amongst each other via email or 
text message concerning any substantive issues of City business.  E-mail or text 
communications shared among four or more Councilmembers, whether concurrently or 
serially, may constitute a “meeting” in violation of the Open Public Meetings Act. If the e-
mail or text includes or lead to deliberations, discussions, considerations, reviews, 
evaluations, or taking a collective positive or negative decision, such communications must 
be held at an open meeting rather than via electronic communication.  

  



 

City Council Protocol Manual draft edits accepted version 04242024 – Draft edits 2024February 21, 2023 
 22 

 

Chapter 6 
Conflicts of Interest and Liability of Elected Officials 
 
6.01 Conflicts of Interest 

The Washington State Code of Ethics for Municipal Officers, Chap. 42.23 RCW, is intended to ensure 
that the judgment of public officers is not compromised or affected by inappropriate conflicts of 
interest, and that confidential matters are appropriately safeguarded. The Code of Ethics has 
provisions that prohibit:   

• Using one’s official position to obtain a special privileges or exemptions.  
• Receiving compensation or gifts for the officer’s services. 
• Accepting employment or engaging in activities that could require or induce an officer to 

disclose confidential information. 
• Disclosing confidential information or using such information for the officer’s personal 

benefit. 
• Being beneficially interested in a contract with the City.     

The consequences of violating the Ethics Code may include: (1) a determination that an action taken 
by the Council is void, (2) financial penalties; (3) consequences assessed by the Council including 
censure; and (4) forfeiture of office through recall. 
 
The application of the Ethics Code must be addressed on a case-by-case basis.  The Ethics Code is not 
generally intended to preclude Council members from voting on legislation with City-wide impact, 
such as land use, police power, and taxation ordinances.  In addition, a Council member might be 
found only to have a “remote interest” in a contract, such that the Council may still approve a contract 
if the interested Council member abstains from the vote.   
 
Councilmembers are encouraged to consider whether public perception and trust would be best 
served by disclosure of individual interests or relationships that are relevant to a policy matter under 
consideration.  To understand the effect of the Ethics Code and its applicability to any particular 
situation, Council members should contact the City Manager and City Attorney as questions arise. 
 
6.02 Liability and indemnification 
 
Chapter 2.82 of the Shelton Municipal Code addresses indemnification of employees and officers, 
including Councilmembers.  It is important to note that violations of certain laws and regulations by 
an individual Member of the City Council may result in the Member being personally liable for 
damages which would not be covered by the City’s insurance. Elected and appointed officials are to 
participate in risk management training to reduce liability due to actions taken. 

 



 

City Council Protocol Manual draft edits accepted version 04242024 – Draft edits 2024February 21, 2023 
 23 

 

Chapter 7 
Interaction with City Staff/Officials 
 
7.01 Council-Manager Plan of Government 
 

Shelton has a Council-Manager plan of government. The City Council’s role is to establish city 
policies and priorities. The Council appoints a City Manager to implement those policies and 
undertake the administration of the organization. 

 
The City Manager is appointed by the City Council to enforce its laws, to direct the daily operations 
of city government, to prepare and monitor the principal budget, and to implement the policies and 
programs initiated by the City Council. The City Manager is responsible to the City Council, rather 
than to individual Councilmembers, and directs and coordinates the various departments.  The City 
Manager is responsible for appointing all department directors (with confirmation of appointment 
of Municipal Court Judge to be provided by the City Council). The City Council authorizes positions 
through the budget process; based upon that authorization, the City Manager makes the 
appointments.  The City Manager appoints members to the Civil Service Commission. 

 
The Council-Manager plan of government is outlined in RCW 35A.13. The powers and duties of the 
City Manager include those defined under RCW 35A.13.080, as now existing or subsequently 
amended, and generally include: 

 
a. General supervision over the administrative affairs of the city 
b. Appoint and remove at any time all department directors and employees 
c. Attend all meetings of the Council at which the manager’s attendance may be required by 

that body 
d. See that all laws and ordinances are faithfully executed 
e. Recommend for adoption by the Council such measures as the manager may deem necessary 

or expedient 
f. Prepare and submit to the Council such reports as may be required by that body, or as 

deemed advisable to submit 
g. Keep the Council fully advised of the financial condition of the City and its future needs 
h. Prepare and submit to the Council a proposed budget for the fiscal year, and to be responsible 

for its administration upon adoption 
i. Perform such other duties as the Council may determine by ordinance or resolution 
j. Implement and administer City Council policy 

 

7.02 City Council Non-interference 
 
The City Council is to work through the City Manager when dealing with administrative services 



 

City Council Protocol Manual draft edits accepted version 04242024 – Draft edits 2024February 21, 2023 
 24 

 

of the City.  In no manner, either directly or indirectly, shall a Councilmember become involved in, 
or attempt to influence, personnel matters that are under the direction of the City Manager. Except 
for the purpose of inquiry, the Council and its Members will deal with the administrative service 
solely through the City Manager or designee, and neither the Council nor any committee or member 
of a committee shall d i r e c t  any subordinate of the City Manager. When requesting information 
from staff, Councilmembers shall be careful not to create new work, nor direct staff performance.  

 
 

7.03 City Manager Performance evaluation 
 
Subject to any applicable employment agreement terms, the City Council shall evaluate the City 
Manager on an annual basis to ensure that both the City Council and City Manager are in agreement 
about performance and goals based upon mutual trust and common objectives.  
 

7.04 City Council/City Staff Relationship 
 
City Councilmember contact with City staff members, exclusive of the City Manager, will generally 
be during regular business hours, except in the case of an emergency. 

 
 

7.05 City Council/City Attorney Relationship 
 
The City Attorney, similar to other Department Director positions, is appointed by the City Manager. 
Legal professional services performed under contract or agreement shall be consistent with the 
City’s adopted Procurement Policy. The City Attorney is the legal advisor for the Council, its 
committees, commissions and boards, the City Manager, and all City officers and employees 
with respect to any legal question involving an official duty or any legal matter pertaining to the 
affairs of the City. The general legal responsibilities of the City Attorney are to: 
 

a. Provide legal assistance necessary for formulation and implementation of legislative policies and 
projects; 

b. Represent the City’s interest, as determined by the City Council, in litigation, administrative hearings, 
negotiations, and similar proceedings; 

c. Prepare or approve as to form ordinances, resolutions, contracts, and other legal documents to best 
reflect and implement the purposes and intentions of the City Council; and 

d. Keep City Council and staff apprised of court rulings and legislation affecting the legal interest of the 
city. 

 
Under Washington law, the municipality as an entity is the City Attorney’s client. Therefore, the City 
Attorney cannot represent one individual Councilmember’s interest in a manner adverse to the 
municipality as an entity, or in a manner adverse to the majority of the Council. 
Because of the complexities and difficulties in precisely defining the identity of the client and 
prescribing the resulting obligations of the City Attorney, a general rule is that the City Attorney serves 



 

City Council Protocol Manual draft edits accepted version 04242024 – Draft edits 2024February 21, 2023 
 25 

 

at the direction of the officer who has a power to decide. Generally, this means service at the direction 
of the City Manager. However, in the event of conflict between the majority of the Council and the 
City Manager, the City Attorney is to represent the interests of the majority of the Council, and the 
City Manager may need to obtain independent legal counsel. 

 
7.06 Roles and Information Flow 
 

A. Council Roles 
 

The full City Council retains the authority to accept, reject, or amend the staff 
recommendation on policy matters. 
 
Councilmembers must avoid intrusion into those areas that are the responsibility of staff. 
Individual Councilmembers may not intervene in staff decision-making, the development 
of staff recommendations, scheduling of work, and executing department priorities 
without the prior knowledge and approval of the City Council as a whole.  This is 
necessary to protect staff from undue influence and pressure from individual 
Councilmembers, and to allow staff to execute priorities given by management and the 
Council as a whole without fear of reprisal. If a Councilmember wishes to influence the 
actions, decisions, recommendations, workloads, work schedule, or priorities of staff, that 
Member must prevail upon the Council to do so as a matter of Council policy. 
 

B. Access to Information 
 

The City Manager is the information liaison between Council and City staff. Requests for 
information from Councilmembers are to be directed to the City Manager and will be 
responded to promptly. The information requested will be copied to all Members of 
Council so that each Member may be equally informed.  The sharing of information with 
City Council is one of the City Manager’s highest priorities. 

 

7.07 Council Attendance Policy 
 
Councilmembers are expected to attend all meetings except in the cases of excused absences.  A 
council position shall become vacant if the Councilmember fails to attend three consecutive regular 
meetings of the council without being excused by the council. 

 
Councilmembers may excuse any absent members by majority vote of those present. 
Councilmembers are encouraged to call the Mayor or City Manager’s Office prior to 5:00 p.m. on 
the day of the meeting to provide an explanation regarding an anticipated absence. 

 



 

City Council Protocol Manual draft edits accepted version 04242024 – Draft edits 2024February 21, 2023 
 26 

 

7.08 Attendance via Electronic Communication 
 
Councilmembers should attend meetings in person if able. If a councilmember is unable to attend 
due to circumstances such as travel, illness, or incapacity, they may attend the meeting remotely. 
Councilmembers who attend remotely shall have full rights of participation, including voting. All 
votes will be conducted by roll call vote on video.   



 

City Council Protocol Manual draft edits accepted version 04242024 – Draft edits 2024February 21, 2023 
 27 

 

Chapter 8 
City Council Meetings 
 

The City Council’s collective policy and law-making powers are put into action at council 
meetings. It is here that the Council conducts its business. The opportunity for citizens to be heard, 
the availability of local officials to the citizenry, and the openness of council meetings all lend 
themselves to the essential democratic nature of local government. 

 

8.01 Meeting Schedule 
 

Regular meetings are held the first and third Tuesday of each month at 6:00 p.m., in the Shelton 
Civic Center, 525 W. Cota Street, Shelton. Special meetings shall be scheduled as needed.  Study 
sessions are held on the second and fourth Tuesday of each month at 6 p.m. Study sessions shall be 
cancelled if not needed. There is no public comment at study sessions, and no final action shall 
be taken at any study session unless the matter has been noted for action on the agenda. 

 

8.02 Public Notice of Meetings and Hearings 
 

The City shall  meet establ ished legal requirements for notifying the public of meetings, 
special meetings, and public hearings. The public shall be notified of the agenda for forthcoming 
regular and special City Council meetings by posting in advance of the meeting, to include posting 
online and at: 

 
Shelton Civic Center 
525 W Cota Street  
Shelton, WA 98584 

8.03 Special Meetings 
 

Special meetings may be called by either the Mayor or Deputy Mayor, or by a majority of 
Councilmembers. Notice of a special meeting will be made by the City Clerk by delivering 
personally, by mail, or by email, written notice to each Councilmember and to each local newspaper 
of general circulation, and to each local radio or television station which has on file with the City 
a written request to be notified of such special meeting or of all special meetings at least 24 
hours before the time of such meeting as specified in the notice. The call and notice shall specify the 
time and place of the special meeting and the business to be transacted. 

 
The notices provided in this section may be dispensed with in the event a special meeting is called 
to deal with an emergency involving injury or damage to persons or property or the likelihood of 
such injury or damage, when time requirements of such notice would make notice impractical 
and increase the likelihood of such injury or damage. 



 

City Council Protocol Manual draft edits accepted version 04242024 – Draft edits 2024February 21, 2023 
 28 

 

 

8.04 Study Sessions 

Study sessions are the forum used by Council to review forthcoming programs of the City, to receive 
progress reports on current issues, to conduct Council open discussion, and to receive information 
and presentation from the City Manager and others. Study Sessions allow Councilmembers to do 
concentrated preliminary work on time consuming, complex matters (i.e., budget, complex legislation 
or reports, etc.).  One of the goals of Study Sessions is to allow a less formal atmosphere within which 
Councilmembers may ask questions of staff and each other, as opposed to taking time on the action 
agenda, thus shortening the time spent at Regular meetings.  
 

8.05 Placing Items on the Agenda 
 
A. Agenda Planning Committee 
 

All matters to be presented to the City Council at its regular meetings are reviewed by 
the Agenda Planning Committee. The Executive Leadership Team, City Manager and City 
Clerk comprise the Agenda Planning Committee. The City Council may change the order 
of business on the Projected Agendas as deemed necessary for efficiency or public benefit.  
The City Manager and Mayor will review the agenda prior to the regular meeting. 
 

B. City Council 
 

A Councilmember may request an item be considered on a future agenda either by making 
an oral request at a City Council meeting or submitting the request in writing to the City 
Clerk or City Manager at least ten working days prior to the meeting for which the item is 
requested to be placed on the agenda. The item shall be presented to the Agenda Planning 
Committee to schedule the item. 
 

C. Advisory Bodies, Boards and Commissions  
 

Advisory bodies of the City Council, Boards, and Commissions may submit items for Council 
by submitting a request in writing to the City Clerk or City Manager at least 15 working 
days prior to the meeting for which the item is requested to be placed on the agenda. 
 

D. Emergency Items 
 

Emergency items may be added to an agenda in accordance with state law.  Emergency 
items are only those matters immediately affecting the public health, safety, and welfare 
of the community, such as widespread civil disorder, disasters, and other severe 
emergencies.  The reason(s) for adding an emergency item to the agenda shall be 



 

City Council Protocol Manual draft edits accepted version 04242024 – Draft edits 2024February 21, 2023 
 29 

 

announced publicly at the meeting, and the issue shall be included in the minutes of the 
meeting. 

 

8.06    Development of the Agenda 
 
Per City of Shelton policy 100-10, Council Agenda Briefings/Reports, it is the policy of the City of 
Shelton to thoughtfully consider decisions, and to allow for meaningful public participation, prior to 
deciding non-emergency matters.  Staff is required to submit an Agenda Briefing Request form for 
each topic of discussion on the City Council agenda. The deadline for submitting these forms to the 
City Clerk’s office is 5:00 pm  two Fridays prior to the date of the meeting for which the item is 
scheduled.  The forms must include supporting documentation, including any information requested 
by Council at the previous Council meeting. Staff are responsible for having coordinated and 
completed any review as necessary with the City Attorney, Finance Director, City Manager, and other 
staff as appropriate prior to the Briefing Request form submittal.    
 
Given the rigorous time frame for agenda development, it is extremely difficult for staff to compile 
or prepare information requested less than f i fteen days in  advance of  the next agenda bill 
deadline. 

 
The Council will generally receive follow-up information at the second Council meeting following the 
date it is requested. This would allow staff sufficient time to prepare reports that require additional 
investigative research and/or additional time due to the complexity of subject matter. 

 

8.07 Order of Business 
 

The City Council, by adoption of this manual, establishes the general order of meetings. This 
section summarizes each meeting component.  The Council may, at any time by simple majority 
of those present, vote to consider items in a different order. 

 
 Call to Order; Pledge of Allegiance  

The Mayor, or in the Mayor’s absence the Deputy Mayor, presides over all meetings of the 
City council, and after determining that a quorum is present, calls the meeting to order. 
Motions may be made to excuse absent Councilmembers. In the absence of the Mayor and 
Deputy Mayor, the City Clerk shall call the Council to order, whereupon a temporary 
Deputy Mayor shall be elected by the Members of the Council present. Following the call 
to order, those in attendance are asked to join the Council in reciting the Pledge of 
Allegiance. 

Commented [MZ1]: Name of policy changed from “three touch 
rule” 



 

City Council Protocol Manual draft edits accepted version 04242024 – Draft edits 2024February 21, 2023 
 30 

 

 Agenda Modifications 

Any Councilmember may use this time to pull an item from the consent agenda for full 
consideration and discussion by the Council.  There may be a consensus or simple majority 
vote to consider items in a different order or remove agenda items.  To avoid surprise and 
allow for staff preparation, if necessary, Councilmembers are highly encouraged to notify 
the City Manager and Mayor of any anticipated agenda modifications in advance of the 
meeting.   
 

C. Council Reports and Recognitions 
 

During this portion of the agenda, Councilmembers will share current activities on regional, 
state, and federal committees, boards, or commissions on which they serve. The City 
Council may receive awards or special recognitions from various agencies, committees, or 
individuals during this segment of the meeting. Chairpersons or other representatives of 
various municipal committees or agencies may be asked to report to the Council 
concerning activities for which they are responsible.  
 

D. General Public Comment 
 

During this portion of the meeting, the Mayor will invite citizens to comment on matters 
of City business that are not scheduled for public testimony on the meeting agenda. All 
speakers are asked to sign the “Sign-In” sheet provided, and to state their full name and if 
they are a City resident. Speakers shall limit their presentations to three minutes. No 
speaker may convey or donate his or her time for speaking to another speaker. If an 
unusual number of people wish to speak during general public comment, Council may, by 
consensus or majority vote: 
 

• Limit the total amount of time dedicated to a single issue of public concern; and/or 
• Reduce the time allotted to every speaker 
• Continue the time for public comment on that issue to a future Council meeting; 

and/or 
• Encourage citizen groups to appoint a single spokesperson to speak for their group.  

 
Written comments may be submitted into the record of a Council meeting by presenting 
the written document to the City Clerk. A copy of the document will be provided to each 
Councilmember; the document will not be read aloud. 
 
 
 
 
 



 

City Council Protocol Manual draft edits accepted version 04242024 – Draft edits 2024February 21, 2023 
 31 

 

E. Consent Agenda 
 

Those matters of business that require action by the Council which are considered to be of 
a routine and non-controversial nature are placed on the consent agenda. The individual 
items on the consent agenda shall be approved, adopted, or enacted by one motion of the 
Council. Examples of such items include: approval of Council minutes; acceptance of 
advisory board and commission minutes; Treasurer’s Report; approval of vouchers; setting 
dates for public hearings/meetings; acknowledging receipt of claims for damages against 
the City; passage of resolutions and/or ordinances which the Council has given directions 
to place on the consent agenda; final acceptance of public works projects as complete; 
procurement of equipment, supplies and materials authorized in the annual budget; grant 
acceptance that Council has previously authorized application.  No discussion shall take 
place regarding any item on the consent agenda. Items on the consent agenda may be 
moved to the action agenda upon the request of a Councilmember for further 
consideration. 

 
F. Business Agenda 
 

Items presented for initial discussion and consideration, with no final action to be taken. 
Public comment on public hearings only.  

 
G.Action Agenda  
 

Items presented for final action, including but not limited to final approval/adoption by 
Council; public hearings.  Council shall proceed on action items in the following order:  Staff 
brief/presentation (if applicable); public comment; motion to approve and second; Council 
discussion; vote.     
 
Individuals desiring to speak during public hearings are to address the Council from the 
speaker podium after giving their name and address. Comments are limited to the specific 
matter for which the public hearing is held and are limited to three (3) minutes. No speaker 
may convey his or her time for speaking to another speaker. Written comments may be 
submitted to the City Clerk before the public hearing is closed.  
 
In the event of single subject group comment, at the discretion of the presiding officer, 
single time allocation for a spokesperson greater than three (3) minutes can be allowed. 
Groups shall submit to the presiding officer, prior to comment, a list of present group 
constituents or others in agreement so that duplication will not occur. 
 
After a public hearing is closed, no member of the public shall be permitted to address the 
Council or the staff. In fairness to members of the public, the City Council shall be 



 

City Council Protocol Manual draft edits accepted version 04242024 – Draft edits 2024February 21, 2023 
 32 

 

considered to be in deliberations from that point forward.  Continuance of the item shall 
place it on the “action” portion of any forthcoming agenda; PROVIDED that additional 
public testimony either that evening or at a future meeting would be precluded until public 
hearing notification procedures required by applicable legal authority are satisfied. 

H. Ordinances and Resolutions  

Prior Administrative Review 
All ordinances and resolutions shall, before presentation to the Council for final action, 
have been approved as to form and legality by the City Attorney or the City Attorney’s 
authorized representative, and shall have been first referred for review to the head of 
the department under whose jurisdiction the administration of the subject matter of 
the ordinance or resolution would devolve, and shall further have been presented to 
the City Manager or authorized representative for review. 

Ordinance Preparation 
The City Attorney shall review all ordinances. The City Attorney shall prepare no 
ordinance unless ordered by a majority vote of the Council or requested by the City 
Manager. 

Ordinance Passage 
No ordinance shall contain more than one subject that shall be fully and clearly 
expressed in its title. Ordinances shall be presented to each Councilmember and the 
City Manager in written form prior to any vote thereon; provided, however, that 
amendments may be made by motion at such meeting.  Ordinances must pass by at 
least four votes. 

I. City Manager’s Reports 

The City Manager may use this time to provide the Council with information or updates, as 
requested by the Council or as deemed timely and appropriate by the City Manager. 
 

J. Upcoming Meetings 

The presiding officer may use this time to briefly announce upcoming meetings of the 
Council. 

K. Executive Session 

The City Council may recess to executive session to privately discuss and consider 
matters for which an executive session may be held under RCW 42.30.110, including: 
 

• Discussion with legal counsel of pending or potential litigation and agency 
enforcement actions 



 

City Council Protocol Manual draft edits accepted version 04242024 – Draft edits 2024February 21, 2023 
 33 

 

• The price at which real estate may be purchased or offered for sale or lease, when 
public awareness of such discussion may result in a detrimental change in price 

• Matters affecting National Security 
• Performance review of publicly bid contracts 
• Complaints or charges brought against a public officer or employee 
• Qualification/performance review of job applicants and employees 
• Evaluate qualifications of candidates for appointment to an elective office 

 
The Council may also meet in private to plan or adopt a strategy or position to be taken 
during collective bargaining, professional negotiations, or grievance or mediation 
proceedings, or to review proposals made in ongoing negotiations. State law specifically 
provides that the Open Public Meetings Act does not apply in the above-noted situations. 
 
Before convening in Executive Session, the presiding officer shall publicly announce the 
purpose for the executive session, the anticipated time when the Executive Session will be 
concluded, and whether the Council anticipates taking action following the executive 
session. An Executive Session may be extended to a stated later time by announcement 
of the presiding officer. 

L. Addressing the Council - Generally 

Oral Communications 
All persons may address the Council verbally, either: 

• During the Public Comment portion of the Agenda for matters of City business 
not on the Action Agenda; 

• During public hearings; 
• Before the vote on items on the Action agenda that are not public hearings, 

following staff comments. 

M. Addressing the Council - Manner & Limits 

Each person addressing the Council will give his or her name and whether they are a City 
resident in an audible tone of voice for the record, and shall limit the address to three 
(3) minutes. All remarks will be addressed to the Council as a body and not to any Member 
thereof.  Councilmembers shall not engage in discussion with citizens during the comment 
period.  The Mayor may ask the City Manager to follow-up with members of the public 
concerning questions raised during the comment period. 

N. Addressing the Council – Decorum 

The Mayor shall preserve decorum and decide all questions of order, subject to appeal to 
the full Council. During Council meetings, Council members shall preserve order and 
decorum and shall not delay or interrupt the proceedings or refuse to obey the legitimate 



 

City Council Protocol Manual draft edits accepted version 04242024 – Draft edits 2024February 21, 2023 
 34 

 

orders of the chair or the rules of protocol. Any person making personal, impertinent, or 
slanderous remarks who creates an unreasonable disruption while addressing the Council 
shall be directed to cease by the mayor.  If the unreasonably disruptive conduct continues, 
the person shall be removed from the meeting. 

O. Meeting time and Adjournment 

Regular meetings and study sessions are limited to two hours unless extended by majority 
vote of the Council.  A Councilmember may propose to close the meeting by moving to 
adjourn. The meeting will close upon the majority vote of the Council. A motion to adjourn 
will always be in order and decided without debate.   

8.08    General Meeting Procedures 
 
Signing of City Documents 

The Mayor, unless unavailable, shall sign all ordinances, resolutions, interlocal 
agreements, contracts and other documents which have been adopted by the City Council 
and require an official signature; except when the City Manager has been authorized by 
Council action to sign documents. In the event the Mayor is unavailable, the Deputy Mayor 
may sign such documents. 

Quorum 

Four (4) Members of the Council shall constitute a quorum and are necessary for the 
transaction of City business. In the absence of a quorum, no meeting may be held nor 
business transacted. 

Minutes 

The City Clerk or designee shall take minutes at all meetings of the City Council. The 
minutes shall be made available for public inspection. 
 
Unless a Councilmember requests a reading of the minutes of a Council meeting, such 
minutes may be approved without reading, if the Clerk has previously furnished each 
Member with a copy thereof. 

Votes Required for Passage 

The passage of any ordinance, grant or revocation of a franchise or license, and any 
resolution for the payment of money, requires an affirmative vote of at least a majority of 
the whole Membership of the Council. 
 
Public emergency ordinances, necessary for the protection of public health, public safety, 
public property, or public peace, may take effect immediately upon final passage (instead 



 

City Council Protocol Manual draft edits accepted version 04242024 – Draft edits 2024February 21, 2023 
 35 

 

of after specified delay), if passed by a majority plus one of the whole Membership of the 
Council. 
 
Passage of an ordinance for an emergency expenditure requires a vote of more than a 
majority of all Members of the Council. 
 
Unless otherwise provided by the rules of parliamentary procedure, all other matters 
require a majority vote of Members in attendance. 

 

8.09 Open Public Meetings Act 
 

All meetings of the Council shall be open to the public, except in the special instances as provided in 
RCW 42.30.140, as now existing or hereafter amended. A meeting takes place when a quorum (a 
majority of the total number of Councilmembers currently seated on the Council) is present and 
information concerning City business is received, discussed, and/or acted upon as defined in 
Washington’s Open Public Meetings Act. Whether the meeting is referred to as regular or special, 
workshop or study session, the notice, agenda and minute-taking requirements must be met.  

 
No action can be taken by the Council except in a public meeting. At a Special Meeting, action can 
be taken only on those items appearing on the posted agenda, except for emergency items as 
defined h e r e i n .  At a Regular Meeting of the City Council, the Council is free to take action on 
non-agenda items, subject to applicable notice requirements in state statutes or local ordinances for 
the subject matter being considered. 

 
  



 

City Council Protocol Manual draft edits accepted version 04242024 – Draft edits 2024February 21, 2023 
 36 

 

Chapter 9 
Parliamentary Procedure 
 
Meetings shall be conducted in accordance with traditional rules of parliamentary procedure.   
Parliamentary rules are intended to assist the Council in conducting business in an orderly manner, 
but strict adherence to parliamentary procedure shall not be required.  Councilmembers are 
encouraged to work through discussions by consensus wherever possible.  In the event that the 
procedure for considering a matter is unclear or in dispute, the following procedure shall be 
employed: (a) a motion shall be made proposing a course of action; (b) a second shall be required; (c) 
thereafter, each Council member shall be afforded the opportunity for discussion; and (d) the Mayor 
shall call for a vote.  Council shall be bound by the results of the vote. 
 
The Mayor or any Councilmember may ask the City Attorney for clarification or guidance on matters 
of parliamentary procedure.  While the primary responsibility for points of order lies with the 
Councilmembers, the City Manager, City Clerk, and City Attorney shall have the ability to raise points 
of order as necessary to clarify the record or prevent the Council from taking illegal or legally deficient 
action.   
  



 

City Council Protocol Manual draft edits accepted version 04242024 – Draft edits 2024February 21, 2023 
 37 

 

Chapter 10 
Protocol Administration 
 

 

10.01  Review 
 
The City Council will review and revise the City Council Protocol Manual as needed to respond to 
changes in state law and local policy. 
 

10.02  Adherence to Protocol 
 

The Council trusts that all members elected to this important office will act with integrity, honesty, 
and in accordance with the Oath of Office and these Protocols.  Nevertheless, the Council wishes to 
adopt the following consequences for violations.  This process should only be used for serious 
violations such as deliberate breaches of confidentiality; violations of the Code of Ethics; repeated 
overstepping of authority, abuse of office, or dishonesty; or refusal to follow open government 
protocols.  Less serious violations should be addressed with reminders and requests for compliance.   
 
Step 1:  Notice and opportunity to cure 

A Council member suspected of violating the Guidelines shall be provided notice and an 
opportunity to remediate the violation prior to the implementation of any further 
consequence.  As a first step, one or two Council members shall discuss the violation 
directly with the accused Council member.  Council members are discouraged from using 
email and text messaging to discuss suspected violations.   

Step 2:  Council meeting discussion 

If Step 1 fails to remediate the violation, an executive session shall be called pursuant to 
RCW 42.30.110(1)(f) to consider and evaluate the complaint.  All Councilmembers, 
including the accused, shall receive advance written notice of the general nature of the 
complaint and the fact that an executive session is being called to discuss it. If the accused 
Council member requests that the discussion be held in a public meeting in lieu of an 
executive session, that request shall be honored.     

Step 3:  Censure and removal from duties 

If Step 2 fails to resolve the violation, a motion may be made and seconded at a regular 
meeting to censure the Council member. The censure motion may be made no sooner than 
thirty (30) days after the completion of Step 2, and the accused Councilmember must 
receive advance written notice that the motion will be made.  The specific violations shall 
be publicly announced, and the accused Council member shall have a chance to make a 



 

City Council Protocol Manual draft edits accepted version 04242024 – Draft edits 2024February 21, 2023 
 38 

 

statement.  At the conclusion of discussion, the accused Council member shall be officially 
censured upon an affirmative vote of at least five members of the Council.   

10.03  City Attorney as Protocol Advisor 
 
The City Attorney shall assist the Mayor and serve as an advisor for interpreting the City 
Council’s adopted Protocol Manual. 
 
 



 

City Council Protocol Manual draft edits accepted version 04242024 – Draft edits 2024February 21, 2023 
 39 

 

Chapter 11 
Additional Training and Resource Materials 
 
11.01  Association of Washington Cities [(800) 562-8981] 
 

www.awcnet.org  The Association is a voluntary, nonpartisan, nonprofit association comprised of all 
incorporated cities and towns in Washington. The Association: 

 
• serves as a resource for information 
• provides news, reports, and reminders affecting cities and towns 
• acts as liaison to State agencies 
• represents the interests of cities before the state legislature 
• publishes training and information manuals for municipal leaders 

 

11.02  National League of Cities [(202) 626-3000] 
 

www.nlc.org  A non-partisan organization serving municipal governments, the NLC works to 
establish unified policy positions, advocates those policies forcefully, and shares information that 
strengthens municipal government throughout the nation. Services include: 

 
• publications and news services 
• inquiry, technical assistance, and project services 
• awards program 
• research programs 

 

11.03  International City/County Management Association [(202) 289-4262] 
 

www.icma.org  ICMA is a professional and educational association of local government administrators 
that serves to enhance the quality of local government through professional management and to 
support and assist professional local government administration.  The Association’s Elected Officials 
Handbook series can be of great value to Councilmembers. Publications are also available through 
ICMA concerning every basic city service. 

 

11.04  International Institute of Municipal Clerks [(909) 944-4162] 
 

www.iimc.com  IIMC is a professional, nonprofit association that assists its membership by providing 
services, resource materials, sample documents, and continuing educational development 
opportunities. 

http://www.awcnet.org/
http://www.nlc.org/
http://www.icma.org/
http://www.iimc.com/


 

City Council Protocol Manual draft edits accepted version 04242024 – Draft edits 2024February 21, 2023 
 40 

 

 

11.05  Government Finance Officers Association [(312) 977-9700] 
 
www.gfoa.org  GFOA is a professional association of state and local finance officers. The Association 
administers a broad range of services and programs related to government financial management, 
including: 
 

• accounting, auditing, and financial reporting 
• budgeting and financial planning 
• capital finance and debt administration 
• cash management and investments 
• retirement administration and finance 
• health care and other employee benefits 

 

11.06  Municipal Research & Services Center of Washington [(206) 625-1300] 
 
www.mrsc.org MRSC is a nonprofit, independent organization created in 1969 to continue programs 
established in 1934 under the Bureau of Governmental Research at the University of Washington. 
One of the principal services of MRSC is to respond to inquiries on virtually every facet of local 
government. MRSC’s resources include professional staff members that are local government 
experts, a comprehensive local government reference library, and an information- packed site on 
the world wide web. Staff experience includes: 
 

• budgeting and finance 
• municipal law 
• public management and administration 
• planning and growth management 
• public works and utilities 
• local government policies 

 

11.07  Appendix 
 
Reference materials are provided in the Appendix of this manual.  

 

11.08  Other Reference Materials 
 
Other reference materials that may be of interest to Council may be obtained and provided 
to the Council by the City Manager’s Office upon Council request. Materials include, but are 
not limited to: 

http://www.gfoa.org/
http://www.mrsc.org/


 

City Council Protocol Manual draft edits accepted version 04242024 – Draft edits 2024February 21, 2023 
 41 

 

 
 

• AWC’s Welcome to City Hall: A Handbook for New Mayors and Council members 
• NLC’s Tools for Leadership: A Handbook for Elected Officials 
• MRSC’s Knowing the Territory: Basic Legal Guidelines for Washington Municipal Officials 
• MRSC’s Handbook for Councilmembers 
• MRSC’s Mayor’s Handbook 
• MRSC’s Public Records Act for Washington Cities and Counties 
• MRSC’s Initiative and Referendum Guide for Washington City and Charter Counties 
• MRSC’s Annexation Handbook for Cities and Towns in Washington State 
• MRSC’s Code City Handbook 
• MRSC’s The Open Public Meetings Act – How it Applies to Washington Cities and 
• Counties 
• ICMA’s Elected Officials Handbook series 
• GFOA’s An Elected Official’s Guide series 
• Robert’s Rules of Order latest edition 
• United States Constitution 
• Washington State Constitution 
• Revised Code of Washington 
• Washington Administrative Code 
• Shelton Municipal Code 
• Shelton Adopted Budget 
• Shelton Comprehensive Plan 
• Shelton Capital Improvement Plan 
• MRSC’s Policy-Making Process 

 



 

 

 

Chapter 12 
Leaving Office 
 
12.01  Return of Materials, Equipment, and Records 
 
During their service on the City Council, Members may have acquired or been provided with 
equipment such as computers or other items entailing a significant expense, as well as copies of 
the Shelton Municipal Code, Comprehensive Plan, , building keys, identification, unused business 
cards, etc. These items are to be returned to the City immediately at the conclusion of a Member’s 
term.  Councilmembers shall ensure that any and all public records located in personal accounts 
or on personal devices have been transferred to City custody for retention and disclosure.   

 

12.02  Filling Council Vacancies 
 
 A Council position shall be officially declared vacant upon the occurrence of any of the causes of 
vacancy set forth in RCW 42.12.010, including resignation, recall, forfeiture, written intent to resign, 
or death of a Councilmember.  The Councilmember who is vacating his or her position cannot 
participate in the appointment process. 

The City Council shall direct staff to begin the Councilmember appointment process and establish 
an interview and appointment schedule, so that the position is filled at the earliest opportunity. 

The City Clerk’s Office shall prepare and submit a display advertisement to the City’s official 
newspaper, with courtesy copies to all other local media outlets, which announces the vacancy 
consistent with the requirements necessary to hold public office: that the applicant (a) be a 
registered voter of the City of Shelton, and (b) have a one (1) year residency in the City of Shelton. 
This display advertisement shall be published once each week for two (2) consecutive weeks.  This 
display advertisement may contain other information, including but not limited to, time to be 
served in the vacant position, election information, salary information, Councilmember powers and 
duties, the deadline date and time for submitting applications, interview and appointment 
schedules, and such other information that the City Council deems appropriate. 

The City Clerk’s Office shall prepare an application form which requests appropriate information for 
City Council consideration of the applicants. Applications may be available at Shelton Civic Center 
and website, and such other locations that the City Council deems appropriate. Copies of the display 
advertisement will be provided to current members of the City of Shelton commissions, 
committees, task forces and other City-sponsored citizen groups. 

Applications received by the deadline date and time will be copied and circulated by the City Clerk’s 
Office, to the Mayor and City Council. Packets may also contain additional information received 
such as endorsements, letters of reference and other pertinent materials. 

The City Clerk’s Office shall publish the required public notice(s) for the meeting scheduled for 
interviewing applicants for consideration to the vacant position. This meeting may be a regularly 
scheduled City Council meeting, or a special City Council meeting. 



 

 

 

The City Clerk’s Office shall notify applicants of the location, date, and time of City Council 
interviews. 

Prior to the date and time of the interview meeting, the Mayor shall accept one interview question 
from each Councilmember. 

Interview Meeting 

Each interview of an applicant/candidate shall be no more than 30 minutes in length 
as follows: 
 
The applicant shall present his or her credentials to the City Council. (5 minutes) 
 
The City Council shall ask the predetermined set of questions which must be responded 
to by the applicant. Each applicant will be asked and will answer the same set of 
questions and will have 2 minutes to answer each question. (14 minutes) 
 
An informal question and answer period in which Councilmembers may ask and 
receive answers to miscellaneous questions. (10 minutes) 
 
The applicants’ order of appearance will be determined by a random lot drawing 
performed by the City Clerk. 
 
The Council may reduce the 30-minute interview time if the number of applicants 
exceeds six (6) candidates, or alternatively, the Council may elect not to interview all of 
the applicants if the number exceeds six (6) candidates. The decision as to which 
applicants to interview will be based on the information contained in the application 
forms. 

Voting 

a. Upon completion of the interviews, Councilmembers may convene into 
Executive Session to discuss the qualifications of the applicants. However, all 
interviews, deliberations, nominations, and votes taken by the Council shall be in 
open public session. 

 
b. The Mayor asks for nominations from Councilmembers for the purpose of creating a 

group of candidates to be considered. No second is needed.  
 

c. Nominations are closed by a motion, second and majority vote of Council.  
 

d. Councilmembers may deliberate on matters such as criteria for selection and the 
nominated group of candidates. 

e. The Mayor polls the Councilmembers to ascertain if they are prepared to vote. Voting 
must take place in a manner in which the public is notified as to the vote of each existing 
Councilmember for which candidate. If there is more than one candidate, a vote must 
be taken for each candidate to record each Councilmember’s vote.  

 



 

 

 

f. The City Clerk records the votes in the meeting minutes.  
 

g. The selection of a candidate to fill the vacancy is made by a majority vote of the 
remaining six members of the Council.  

 
h. If a majority vote is not received for a candidate, the Council may postpone elections 

until another date.  
 

i. The Mayor declares the nominee receiving the majority vote as the new Councilmember 
to be sworn in immediately after the effective date of the resignation. 

 
j. The term of the candidate selected to fill the vacancy will be in effect until a person is 

elected at the next regular election for municipal officers. The interim term would then 
end, and the new term begin upon certification of election results.  

 
k. If the Council does not appoint a qualified person to fill the vacancy within 90 days of 

the occurrence of the vacancy, the County Commissioners will appoint a person to fill 
the vacancy (RCW 42.12.070) 

 
  



 

 

 

 

APPENDIX 
 

Tips for Successful Public Service 
 

• Learn all you can about your city, its operation, its financing. Do your homework. Know your 
city ordinances. 

• Devote sufficient time to your job and to studying the present and future problems of your 
community. 

• Don’t burn yourself out on the little things. Save some energy for the important matters. 
• Don’t act as a committee of one. Governing a city requires a team effort --practically and 

legally. 
• Don’t let honest differences of opinion degenerate into personality conflicts. 
• Remember that you represent all the people of your community, not just neighbors and 

friends. 
• Take your budget preparation job seriously. It determines what your city does or doesn’t 

do for the coming year and will influence decisions and actions in future years as well. The 
budget is an important policy development tool available to govern a city. 

• Establish policy statements.  Written policy statements let the public and the city staff 
knows where they stand. They help the City Council govern and writing them provides a 
process to develop consensus. “That’s the way it’s always been done” is not good enough 
either to stay out of trouble or to get things done. 

• Make decisions on the basis of public policy and be consistent. Treat similar situations 
similarly. 

• Don’t be stampeded into action.  Don’t be misled by the strong demands of special 
interest groups who want it done now, their way.  Your job is to find the long-term 
public interest of the community as a whole, and you may be hearing from the wrong 
people. 

• Don’t be afraid of change.  Don’t be content just to follow the routine of your predecessors.  
Charge your appointed officers and their employees with being responsible for new ideas 
and better ways. Listen to what they have to say. 

• Don’t give quick answers when you’re not sure of the real answer.  It may be embarrassing 
to appear ignorant, but it can be more embarrassing and damaging to tell a person 
something that is wrong. 

• As an individual, even if you’re the mayor, don’t make promises you can’t deliver! Most 
decisions and actions require approval of the City Council, and that takes a majority 
vote. 

• Don’t spring surprises on your fellow Councilmembers or your city staff, especially at 
formal meetings. If a matter is worth bringing up for discussion, it is worth being on the 
agenda.  While surprises may get you some publicity, at the embarrassment of others, 
they tend to erode the “team” approach to governance. 

• Retain competent key employees. Pay them well.  Trust their professional judgment and 
recognize their responsibilities. 



 

 

 

• Don’t bypass the system! You have a city manager. Councilmembers should stick to 
policymaking and avoid personal involvement in the day-to-day operations of the city. 

• Don’t let others bypass your system--insist that people such as vendors or service providers 
first work with your city staff.  If direct contact with Councilmembers is advisable, this 
should be with the Council as a whole, not on a one-to-one basis. 

• Learn to evaluate recommendations and alternative courses of action. Request your staff 
to provide options. Encourage imaginative solutions. 

• Be concerned with the long-term future to avoid unnecessary expense and delay and to 
avoid taking short-term gains at the expense of long-term losses. 

• Balance personal rights and property interests. Balance the possible harm to a few versus 
the good of the many. 

• Be concerned with the total development (physical, economic, social) of your community. 
• Visit other cities, particularly those with a reputation of being well run. Get to know the 

officials of neighboring and similarly sized cities. 
• Don’t act as if the city operates in a vacuum.   Cities must work within the intergovernmental 

system to be effective. Keep in contact and cooperate with your federal, state, county, and 
school officials. 

• Keep your constituents informed. Be friendly and deal effectively with the news media. Lack 
of good communications is one of the big problems of cities. 

• Remember that what you say, privately and publicly, will often be news. Avoid over- 
publicizing minor problems. 

• Appoint citizen advisory committees when you need them but be prepared to follow their 
advice if you use them. 

• Have some goals and objectives. What do you want to accomplish this year? Next year? 
• What do you want the city to accomplish this year? During the next five years? 
• Be a leader as well as part of the team of elected and appointed officials who were 

selected to make your city an even better place to live. 

 
---from the League of Kansas Municipalities 



 

 

 
 

 
 
 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

SUBJECT: 
 
Council Agenda 
Briefings/ReportsThree Touch 
Rule 

GROUP: 
 
Administration 

NUMBER: 
 
100-10 

EFFECTIVE DATE: 
January 1, 2021 

SUPERCEDES: 
Policy 100-10 dated November 21, 2007 

PREPARED BY: 
Jeff Niten 

APPROVED BY: 
Shelton City Council 

 

1.0 PURPOSE: 

To establish a procedure ensuring that the City Council and members of the public are given appropriate 
notice in order to make thoughtful decisions on non-emergency matters. 

2.0 DEPARTMENTS AFFECTED: 

All departments. 

3.0 REFERENCES: 

City of Shelton Protocol Manual adopted by Council via Ordinance 1936-0119 on January 2, 2019.  
Shelton Municipal Code 2.04.  Revised Code of Washington (RCW) 35.18.170. 

4.0 POLICY AND PROCEDURE: 

It is the policy of the City of Shelton to thoughtfully consider decisions, and to allow for meaningful 
public participation, prior to deciding non-emergency matters.  Additionally, it is the policy of the City of 
Shelton to provide opportunity for public comment prior to deciding non-emergency matters. 

The general policy is hereby established to require that the Shelton City Council be given appropriate 
opportunities to consider an issue prior to being asked to decide a non-emergency matter.  Exceptions 
are permitted for subjects where the strict application of this policy is impractical,, or otherwise 
inadvisable or routine business. 

It is recognized that unanticipated circumstances may arise wherein observance of this policy is 
impractical.  See Policy 100-90, Exceptions.  Regardless, those involved in the policy process should 
make every effort to adhere to the expectation embodied in this procedure. 

 



 

 4.1 Looking Ahead Agenda: 

4.1.1 The purpose of the Looking Ahead Agenda is to establish a list of issues that are 
anticipated to be under consideration at future City Council meetings. 

4.1.2   The Looking Ahead Agenda shall be maintained by the City Clerk. 

4.1.3 The Looking Ahead Agenda is to be attached to each City Council Regular 
Meeting Agenda, and published as though it was part of the meeting. 

4.1.4 The Looking Ahead Agenda shall include the anticipated date of the future 
action. 

4.1.5 The Looking Ahead Agenda shall include the date the briefing and supporting 
materials are due for publication to ensure accurate information to the City 
Council and to the public. 

4.1.65 For all matters to be heard by City Council items shall be placed on the Looking 
Ahead Agenda for the anticipated date of consideration at the earliest possible 
opportunity.  In no instance shall items be placed on the Looking Ahead Agenda 
less than one (1) meeting prior to the expected Consent or Action date by City 
Council unless otherwise determined to be impractical. 

 4.2 Other Briefing“Touch” Options/Methods 

4.2.1 Although the Council Deliberation method discussed in this policy associated 
with the Looking Ahead Agenda is expected to be the most commonly used 
methodology, other less formal communications are permitted.  Less formal 
communications include Council briefings scheduled regularly with the City 
Manager or. Study Work Ssessions on specific topics may be utilized to provide 
City Council with additional in-depth information on complex topics.  Whether 
formal or informal practices are used the crucial point is to give notice to the 
City Council and the public about upcoming matters scheduled for Council 
consideration. 

4.2.2 Ordinances, Resolutions and Motions considered by the Shelton City Council 
shall be considered at two (2) public meetings unless the majority of Council 
desires to waive second reading of any agenda item where permitted by law.  
The first public meeting shall be a duly noticed public hearing if required. 

4.2.3 Exceptions, other than those outlined in Policy 100-90, include Consent Agenda 
items such as approvals of Vouchers, approvals of minutes for previous public 
meetings, and presentations to Council that provide information but no 
decisions are necessary. approval of Council minutes; acceptance of 
advisory board and commission minutes; Treasurer’s report; approval of 
vouchers; setting dates for public hearings/meetings; acknowledging 
receipt of claims for damages against the City; passage of resolutions 



and/or ordinances which the Council has given directions to place on the 
consent agenda; final acceptance of public works projects as complete; 
procurement of equipment, supplies and materials authorized in the 
annual budget; grant acceptance that Council has previously authorized 
application.   

  

   

 



 

 

MISSION: City of Shelton strives to build a strong community and quality of life. 

VISION:  Shelton is a community of active lifestyles, accountable government, engaged citizens, safe streets, 
strong work ethic and inspiring leaders.  

VALUES:   CASt   Community |Accountability |Stewardship 

 

Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion: The City of Shelton is a community where diversity is welcomed, valued and 
celebrated. We advocate for recognition, respect, inclusion, and celebration of the community’s diverse people.  

 

1. CLEARLY DEFINE THE FUTURE 
 

• Plan Proactively. 
• Develop and maintain clear, concise, and consistent guiding documents (Comprehensive Plan, Municipal 

Code, Engineering Standards, etc.). 
• Focus on workforce development and succession planning. 
• Develop and maintain transparent long range financial plans across funds. 

 
 

2. COMMUNITY SAFETY 
 

• Focus on Code Enforcement activities. 
• Encourage pride in local neighborhoods. 
• Ensure Public Safety services are funded and staffed appropriately. 
• Manage full lifecycle of community assets. 
• Ensure Building codes are current, clear, and enforceable.  

 

3. ENGAGE THE COMMUNITY 
 

• Ensure implementation of community engagement plans. 
• Engage local partners in planning efforts and encourage feedback. 
• Actively promote Shelton’s unique opportunities and sites. 
• Invest in technology that enables timely and high quality services. 
• Proactively communicate the “what and why” with internal and external communication stakeholders. 

 

City of Shelton  

City Council Strategic 2022 - 2025 Goals  
 

 

 



Council Briefing Form  Revised 07/01/2020 

 

CITY OF SHELTON  
COUNCIL BRIEFING REQUEST 

(Agenda Item E4) 

Touch Date:  03/19/2024 
Brief Date:       05/07/2024 
Action Date:  05/21/2024 

Department: Executive 
   
Presented By:  Mark Ziegler, City Manager 

 
  
APPROVED FOR COUNCIL PACKET: 

  PROGRAM/PROJECT TITLE: 
    Museum Use Agreement 
 

  
  ATTACHMENTS:  
   - Draft Use Agreement 

 
Action Requested: 
 

 Ordinance 

 Resolution 

 Motion 

 Other 
 

ROUTE TO: REVIEWED: 
 

 
 
Dept. Head   

 
 

 
Finance Director   

 
 

 
Attorney  

 
 

 
City Clerk  

 
 

 
City Manager 

 
      

 
DESCRIPTION OF THE PROGRAM/PROJECT AND BACKGROUND INFORMATION:   

 On March 19, 2024, Elizabeth Arbaugh, Executive Director of the Mason County Historical Society presented to 
Council a project to expand the museum structure to add archival space to the south side. The project is 
predicated on a successful Capital Heritage Grant that the Society is applying for this year. The grant requires 
the Society to have control of the building for 13 years after the 2027 grant period ends. Council authorized staff 
to negotiate a new agreement with the Society to meet the grant requirements as the existing agreement 
expires on Dember 31, 2026. 

 
The draft agreement has few changes but does seek the Society to establish and pay for public utilities at the 
site. Following recommendations from the 2023 Financial Sustainability Task Force to divest of properties that 
are not operated by the City, this is a first step in reducing general fund costs to meet that recommendation. 
The cost of utilities in 2023 were $8,192.48.  
 
ANALYSIS/OPTIONS/ALTERNATIVES:  
Council may authorize staff to move forward with the draft agreement or provide recommended edits.  

   
BUDGET/FISCAL INFORMATION:  
The draft lease may save the City over $8,000 annually in utility expenses.  
 
PUBLIC INFORMATION REQUIREMENTS:  
Information may be obtained by contacting the City Clerk. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION/MOTION:  
“I move to place the Use Agreement with Mason County Historical Society on the May 21 City Council action 
agenda for further consideration.” 



DRAFT 
USE AGREEMENT 

BETWEEN 
THE CITY OF SHELTON 

AND 
THE MASON COUNTY HISTORICAL SOCIETY 

 
 THIS AGREEMENT made and entered into this _____ day of ______________, 2024 by 
and between the City of Shelton, referred to as “City”, and the Mason County Historical Society, 
referred to as “Society”, for the use of the former Shelton Public Library building at the S.E. 
corner of Fifth Street and Railroad Avenue, herein referred to as “former Library building”, and 
for the operations of a public museum. 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Shelton, a political subdivision and municipal corporation of the 
State of Washington, has authority to provide for storage, preservation and exhibition of 
historical materials as provided in RCW 35A.27.010 and RCW 36.34.340; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Mason County Historical Society was organized August 12, 1958 and 
incorporated January 17, 1974 as a non-profit corporation in accordance with the provisions of 
RCW 24.03, as an organization dedicated to the preservation and exhibition of historical 
materials; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City has available the former Library building, within the territorial 
limits of the City, which is suitable for the storage, preservation and exhibition of historical 
materials; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the former Library building, which was a gift to the city and was for a time 
the City Hall, itself has sufficient historical significance that it has been listed on the National 
Register of Historical Structures, and is therefore an appropriate place for a historical museum; 
and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Shelton desires to contract with the Mason County Historical 
Society for the operation of an historical museum. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE in consideration of the mutual benefits hereinafter set forth, IT IS 
AGREED as follows: 
 

A. Responsibilities of the Parties: 
 

1. The Society shall: 
 



a. Collect and catalog artifacts and materials of historical interest belonging to or on 
loan to the Society. 

 
b. Operate in the former Library building a museum, open to the public free of 

charge, no less than 60 hours per month for the months of June through 
September and no less than 30 hours per month for the months of October through 
May.  Said museum shall be devoted primarily to the history of Shelton and 
Mason County, in accordance with the Society’s by-laws and adopted policies.  

 
c. Provide all routine internal janitorial cleaning in the building at its own expense, 

including regular cleaning of restrooms, floors, and other surfaces and the 
collection and placement of refuse in bulk containers provided by the City. 

 
d. Utilize the space within the former Library building in such manner as to provide 

display areas equal to at least fifty percent of the floor area. Alterations to the 
interior display areas by the Society shall conform to all appropriate laws and 
regulations. 

 
e. Provide $2,000,000 of general liability insurance and name the City as additional 

insured.   
 

f. Collect and report appropriate sales taxes on publications or other historical 
materials sold at the museum. 

 

f.g. Establish and pay for utility services including electricity, water, sanitary sewer, 
natural gas, and water service.  

 
2. The City shall: 

 
a. Provide the former Library building for the Society’s exclusive use and be 

responsible for maintenance of the interior and exterior of the building, including 
the roof, electrical, lighting, plumbing, heating, and the surrounding landscaping.   

 
b. Provide electricity, water, sanitary sewer and garbage service as needed for 

operation of the museum and pay for same. 
 
c.b. Provide fire insurance coverage for the building and those contents owned by the 

City. 
 

B. Use 
 

1. For the purpose of carrying out the foregoing agreement, the City hereby grants use to 
the Society the following building situated in the City of Shelton, to-wit: 

 
Lot 4, Block N, David Shelton’s 1st Addition to Shelton,  
Washington, Parcel No. 32019-51-14004, commonly known as 
427 West Railroad Avenue. 
 



2. The term shall be May 21, 2024 through December 31, 2040 and may be renewed for 
subsequent five-year terms by mutual agreement of the Parties.  Either Party may 
terminate the Agreement by giving six months written notice to the other party. 

 
3. This agreement may also be terminated in event the building becomes untenantable, 

whether by reason of fire, flood, earthquake, accident, act of God or other cause.  The 
City may in lieu of such termination offer such an alternate facility as may be 
agreeable. 

 
4. If for any reason the Society should become inactive or unable to manage a public 

museum at agreed times, the City shall have the right to regain possession of the 
building and require the Society to remove its artifacts and other possessions from the 
building.  Disposition of the artifacts shall be in accord with legal constraints upon 
the Society. 

 

5. Consideration for the use of the building shall be the Society’s fulfillment of its 
obligations under this Agreement.  No monetary  paymentsmonetary payments shall 
be required. 

 
C. Alterations to the building 

 
1. The Society may make physical improvements and alterations to the building, at its 

sole expense, after having sought and received written approval from the City.  In 
making improvements or alterations to the building, the Society shall follow all 
applicable state and local laws, regulations, and codes governing the improvement or 
alteration as well as the execution of the project.  The City shall incur no obligation to 
contribute funding nor manage any project for improvement or alteration.  The 
Society shall defend, indemnify, and hold the City harmless from and against all 
claims arising from the Society’s alteration or improvement of the building.     

 
2. Any alterations or improvements done that become part of the building structure or 

system shall transfer in ownership to the City at the completion or termination of the 
contract.  

 
3. The City may, at its own expense, repair or upgrade the building during the term of 

the agreement as necessary to achieve code compliance or remedy any defect or 
public safety issue.  Except in the event of emergency, the City shall give the Society 
reasonable advance notice of the repair or upgrade.  The Society shall incur no 
obligation to contribute funding nor manage any project for repair or upgrade.  The 
City shall defend, indemnify, and hold the Society harmless from and against all 
claims arising from the City’s repair or upgrade of the building.  

 
D. Miscellaneous Provisions 

 
1. DISPUTE RESOLUTION. The parties shall meet in person and confer in good faith to resolve 

their differences before litigation is commenced. Should good faith negotiations fail, the parties 
shall submit the dispute to mediation prior to the commencement of litigation. 
 



2. ANTI-DISCRIMINATION. In all hiring or employment made possible or resulting from this 
Agreement, there shall be no discrimination against any employee or applicant for employment 
because of sex, age, race, color, creed, national origin, sexual orientation, gender identity or 
expression, age (except minimum age and retirement provisions), marital status or 
the presence of any sensory, mental, or physical handicap, unless based upon a 
bonafide occupational qualification. This requirement shall apply to but not be limited 
to the following: employment, advertising, lay-off, or termination, rates of payor, or 
other forms of compensation, and selection for training, including apprenticeship. 
Further, no person shall be denied or subjected to discrimination in receipt of the 
benefit of any services or activities made possible by or resulting from this 
Agreement on the grounds of sex, race, color, creed, national origin, sexual 
orientation, gender identity or expression, age (except minimum age and retirement 
provisions), marital status, or the presence of any sensory, mental, or physical 
handicap. Any violation of this provision shall be considered a violation of a material 
provision of this Agreement and shall be grounds for termination or suspension in 
whole or in part of this Agreement. 
 

3. COMPLIANCE WITH ALL LAWS AND REGULATIONS. The City and the 
Society agree to comply with all applicable laws, ordinances and regulations from 
any and all authorities having jurisdiction over it, the activities contemplated in this 
Agreement.  

4. NO EMPLOYMENT RELATIONSHIP. The Society is an independent Contractor, 
and neither it nor its officers, agents, employees, or subcontractors are employees of 
the City for any purpose. The City assumes no responsibility for the payment of any 
compensation, wages, benefits, or taxes by, or on behalf of the Society, its employees, 
subcontractors and/or others by reason of this Agreement. The Society shall protect, 
indemnify, and save harmless the City, its officers, agents, and employees from and 
against any and all claims, costs, and/or losses whatsoever occurring or resulting from 
(1) the Society's failure to pay any such compensation, wages, benefits, or taxes, 
and/or (2) the supplying to the Society of work, services, materials, or supplies in 
connection with or support of the performance of this Agreement.  
 

5. INDEMNIFICATION AND HOLD HARMLESS; RELEASE AND WAIVER. The 
City and the Society agree to defend, indemnify and hold harmless each other, their 
respective officials, agents and employees, from and against any and all claims, 
damages, injuries, liabilities, actions, fines, penalties, costs and expenses (including 
reasonable attorney fees) that arise out of or are related to the negligent acts or 
omissions of the indemnifying party, (and its officials, agents, employees acting 
within the course and scope of their employment) the performance of said party’s 
obligations under this Agreement or the exercise of a party’s rights and privileges 
under this Agreement.  In the event any such liability arises from the concurrent 
negligence of the indemnifying party and the other party the indemnity obligation of 
this section shall apply only to the extent of the negligence of the indemnifying party 
and its actors. 

 
The foregoing provisions specifically and expressly intend to constitute a waiver of 
each party’s immunity under industrial insurance, Title 51 RCW, as respects the other 
party only, and only to the extent necessary to provide the indemnified party with a 
full and complete indemnity of claims made by the indemnitor’s employees.  This 
waiver has been mutually negotiated. 



 
6. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This Agreement and any and all attachments expressly 

incorporated herein by reference and attached hereto shall constitute the whole 
agreement between the Society and the City. It replaces all other negotiations and 
agreements. There are no terms, obligations, allowances, covenants, or conditions 
other than those contained herein.  
 

7. WAIVER. Waiver or breach of any provision of this Agreement shall not be deemed 
to be a waiver of any other or subsequent breach and shall not be construed to be a 
modification of the terms of the Agreement unless stated to be such through written 
approval by the Parties, which shall be attached to the original Agreement. 

 

 
This agreement is entered into the date first above set forth and mutually agreed to by the parties. 

 
 

Dated this ______ day of ______________, 2024 
 
 
 
CITY OF SHELTON, WASHINGTON 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
_________________________________  _________________________________ 
City Clerk       City Manager  
 
        
 
 
MASON COUNTY HISTORICAL SOCIETY 
 
       _________________________________ 
       President 
 
        



Council Briefing Form  Revised 07/01/2020 

 

CITY OF SHELTON  
COUNCIL BRIEFING REQUEST 

(Agenda Item E5) 

Touch Date:  04/23/2024  
Brief Date:     05/07/2024  
Action Date:  05/21/2024  

Department: Executive 
   
Presented By:  Mark Ziegler, City Manager 

 
  
APPROVED FOR COUNCIL PACKET: 

PROGRAM/PROJECT TITLE: 
C Street Landfill Environmental 
Covenant 
   
ATTACHMENTS: 

1. Before and After Photos 
(included in this briefing) 

2. Resolution No.1330-0424  
3. Environmental Covenant 

   

 
Action Requested: 
 

 Ordinance 

 Resolution 

 Motion 

 Other 
 

ROUTE TO: REVIEWED: 
 

 
 
Dept. Head   

 
 

 
Finance Director   

 
 

 
Attorney  

 
 

 
City Clerk  

 
 

 
City Manager 

 
      

 
DESCRIPTION OF THE PROGRAM/PROJECT AND BACKGROUND INFORMATION:   

Under the Washington State Model Toxics control act, the Washington State Department of 
Ecology mandated the closure of the City’s C Street Landfill. In 2015, the City contracted with 
Aspect Consulting to assist the City in negotiating an Agreed Order with the Department of 
Ecology, assist with grant applications, and complete a remedial investigation and feasibility 
study. 
 
An Agreed Order issued by the Dept. of Ecology in 2021 determined the cleanup action plan 
and outlined remaining elements required for the C Street Landfill to be deemed closed. In 
2022, the City contracted with Aspect Consulting to prepare construction plans and 
specifications outlined in the Agreed Order. 
 
The cleanup commenced in 2022 and the City Council formally accepted construction of the 
project as complete on October 3, 2023 through Resolution No. 1293-0923.      
 
As part of the Cleanup Action Plan and in accordance with the Terms and Conditions of the 
Agreed Order, the Department of Ecology requires an environmental covenant be placed on 
the landfill site. This covenant limits the activity and use of the landfill site to maintain the 
integrity of the low permeability soil cap and water movement through the solid waste 
remaining in place. 
 

ANALYSIS/OPTIONS/ALTERNATIVES:  
N/A 
   
BUDGET/FISCAL INFORMATION:  
None 
 



Council Briefing Form  Revised 07/01/2020 

PUBLIC INFORMATION REQUIREMENTS:  
All materials for this project are maintained by the City’s Public Works Department.  Please contact Public 
Works directly to view the construction documents.   
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION/MOTION:  
“I move to place Resolution No. 1330-0424 on the May 21 action agenda for further consideration.” 
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

C Street Landfill Clean-Up During Construction 

 
 

C Street Landfill Clean-Up Final Product 



Council Briefing Form  Revised 07/01/2020 

 



 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 1330-0424 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SHELTON, WASHINGTON, 
ACCEPTING THE WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF ECOLOGY’S 

ENVIRONMENTAL COVENANT FOR THE C STREET LANDFILL 
 
WHEREAS, under the Washington State Model Toxics control act, the Washington State 
Department of Ecology mandated the closure of the City’s C Street Landfill; and 
 
WHEREAS, in 2015, the City contracted with Aspect Consulting to assist the City in 
negotiating an Agreed Order with the Department of Ecology, assist with grant applications, and 
complete a remedial investigation and feasibility study; and  
 
WHEREAS, in 2021, the Department of Ecology drafted Agreed Order No. DE 19541 to 
implement the cleanup action plan and outline remaining elements required for the C Street 
landfill to be deemed closed; and 
 
WHEREAS, in 2022, the City contracted with Aspect Consulting to prepare construction plans 
and specifications outlined in the Agreed Order; and 
 
WHEREAS, on November 15, 2022, a Contract for the C Street Landfill Cleanup Construction 
Project was awarded to Brumfield Construction Incorporated; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council formally accepted construction of the project as complete on 
October 3, 2023 through Resolution No. 1293-0923; and  
 
WHEREAS, as part of the Cleanup Action Plan and in accordance with the Terms and 
Conditions of Agreed Order No. DE 19541, the Department of Ecology requires an 
environmental covenant be placed on the landfill site to ensure that the cleanup protects future 
users of the property.  
 
THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Shelton that the City 
Manager is authorized to sign the Environmental Covenant for the C street Landfill.  
 
INTRODUCED AND PASSED by the City Council of the City of Shelton on the 21st day of May 2024. 
 
 
__________________________________ 
Eric Onisko, Mayor 
 
 
 
AUTHENTICATED:  
   
___________________________  
Donna Nault, City Clerk   



STATE OF WASHINGTON 

DEPARTMENT OF ECOLOGY 
Southwest Region Office 

PO Box 47775 • Olympia, WA 98504-7775 • 360-407-6300 

April 3, 2024 

Mark Ziegler 
City Manager 
City of Shelton 
525 W Cota Street 
Shelton, WA 98584 
mark.ziegler@sheltonwa.gov 

Re: Proposed Activity and Use Restrictions at the following Cleanup Site: 

• Site Name: Shelton C Street Landfill
• Site Address: Intersection of West C Street and US Highway 101
• Cleanup Site ID: 2295
• Facility/Site ID: 1186
• Tax Parcels: 42024-21-60430

Dear Mark Ziegler: 

The Department of Ecology (Ecology) has completed a review of your cleanup for the above-
referenced site. Because residual contamination will remain on the above-referenced property at 
the completion of the cleanup, Ecology has determined that certain future activities and uses of 
the property need to be restricted under WAC 173-340-440 to protect the integrity of the cleanup 
and protect human health and the environment. 

Draft Covenant 

Accordingly, we have attached the DRAFT environmental covenant (hereafter “Covenant”) to 
implement the following restrictions on the property: 
The property shall not be used for residential purposes. The property contains contaminated soils 
and solid waste under a low permeability soil cap. Any activity that will compromise the 
integrity of the cap is prohibited without prior approval by Ecology. Any future development of 
stormwater facilities is prohibited within the landfill boundary. Any future development of 
structures is prohibited within the landfill boundary. No new water wells may be installed on the 
property due to the set-back restriction in Chapter 173-160-171 Washington Administrative 
Code (WAC) of 1,000 feet from the boundary of a landfill. The grantor shall maintain clear 
access to monitoring wells on the property and protect them from damage. 
We have also preliminarily consulted with City to seek their review of the restrictions in 
accordance with RCW 70.105D.030(1)(f). Their initial feedback is that the restrictions are 
compatible with their land use plan and development regulations for this property. 

Ecopy

mailto:jeff.niten@sheltonwa.gov


RE: C Street Landfill  
Site ID #: 2295 

Mark Ziegler 
April 3, 2024 
Page 2 

Next Steps 

Here are the next steps to complete this process: 
1. Please compile the environmental covenant with attachments.
2. Obtain the signatures of each person holding a recorded interest in the property. Each of

these persons will need to sign the Covenant as a grantor.

3. Submit the Covenant to Ecology for our signature as the grantee.
4. Record the Covenant in every county where the real property subject to the Covenant is

located. For detailed recording instructions, please refer to Chapter 65.04 RCW.
5. Return the original signed and recorded Covenant to Ecology and provide a copy of the

recorded Covenant to the following persons:

• Each person who signed the Covenant.
• Each person holding a recorded interest in the real property subject to the

Covenant. This includes persons who signed subordination agreements.
• Each person in possession of the real property subject to the Covenant at the time

the Covenant is executed (i.e., renters).
• The local government planning authority in which real property subject to the

Covenant is located.
• Any other person to whom the Covenant expressly grants the power to enforce the

Covenant.
• Any other persons Ecology requires.

The copy must be legible, and the recording number must be evident. 

http://apps.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=65.04


RE: C Street Landfill  
Site ID #: 2295 

Mark Ziegler 
April 3, 2024 
Page 3 

More Information 

For more information on environmental covenants, see: 

• Ecology’s environmental covenant template:
http://www.ecy.wa.gov/programs/tcp/policies/tcppoly.htm

• Ecology’s Toxics Cleanup Procedure 440A:
http://www.ecy.wa.gov/programs/tcp/policies/tcppoly.html.

• The Uniform Environmental Covenants Act (UECA), Chapter 64.70 RCW
(http://apps.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=64.70).

• WAC 173-340-440 of the Model Toxics Cleanup Act (MTCA) Cleanup Regulation
(http://apps.leg.wa.gov/WAC/default.aspx?cite=173-340-440)

If you have questions about how to complete the Covenant template or any of the directions 
provided above, please contact me at 360-485-3987 or andrew.smith@ecy.wa.gov. 

Sincerely, 

Andrew Smith, PE, LHG 
Toxics Cleanup Program 
Southwest Region Office 

Enclosure:  Proposed Environmental Covenant 
 

cc by email: Andrew Smith, PE, LHG, andrew.smith@ecy.wa.gov 

http://www.ecy.wa.gov/programs/tcp/policies/tcppoly.htm
http://www.ecy.wa.gov/programs/tcp/policies/tcppoly.html
http://apps.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=64.70
http://apps.leg.wa.gov/WAC/default.aspx?cite=173-340-440
http://apps.leg.wa.gov/WAC/default.aspx?cite=173-340-440
mailto:andrew.smith@ecy.wa.gov


This page intentionally left blank



Enclosure A 

Proposed Environmental Covenant 



This page intentionally left blank



Publication Number: 15-09-054 Attachment C page 1 Revised: December 22, 2016 

After Recording Return 
Original Signed Covenant to: 1 
Andrew Smith, PE, LHG 
Toxics Cleanup Program 
Department of Ecology 
300 Desmond Drive 
Olympia, Washington 98504  

Environmental Covenant 

Grantor: City of Shelton 
Grantee: State of Washington, Department of Ecology (hereafter “Ecology”) 
Brief Legal Description: TR 43 OF NE NW S 45/68 
Tax Parcel Nos.: 42024-21-60430 
Cross Reference:  Agreed Order DE 19541 

RECITALS 2 
a. This document is an environmental (restrictive) covenant (hereafter “Covenant”) executed
pursuant to the Model Toxics Control Act (“MTCA”), chapter 70.105D RCW, and Uniform
Environmental Covenants Act (“UECA”), chapter 64.70 RCW.
b. The Property that is the subject of this Covenant is part or all of a site commonly known
as Shelton C Street Landfill Site, Facility ID # 1186. The Property is legally described in Exhibit
A, and illustrated in Exhibit B, both of which are attached (hereafter “Property”).  If there are
differences between these two Exhibits, the legal description in Exhibit A shall prevail.
c. The Property is the subject of remedial action conducted under MTCA. This Covenant is
required because residual contamination remains on the Property after completion of remedial
actions.  Specifically, the following principal contaminants remain on the Property:

Medium Principal Contaminants Present 
Soil Dioxins/furans, carcinogenic polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, 

metals (barium, copper, lead, mercury, selenium, silver, zinc) 
Groundwater Metals (iron, and manganese) 
Surface Water/Sediment Not applicable 

d. It is the purpose of this Covenant to restrict certain activities and uses of the Property to
protect human health and the environment and the integrity of remedial actions conducted at the
site. Records describing the extent of residual contamination and remedial actions conducted are
available through Ecology. This includes the Remedial Investigation and Feasibility Study Report
(Aspect, 2021); Agreed Order No. DE 19541, including the Cleanup Action Plan; and the
Construction Completion Report (Aspect, pending).

1 Some counties keep the original Covenant, others don’t.  If the signed original is available, it must be 
sent to Ecology.  If the signed original is not available, send a legible copy to Ecology. 
2 This section is primarily used to describe this document and its purpose.  It should not be used for 
substantive binding provisions. 



Publication Number: 15-09-054 Attachment C page 2 Revised: December 22, 2016 

e. This Covenant grants Ecology certain rights under UECA and as specified in this
Covenant. As a Holder of this Covenant under UECA, Ecology has an interest in real property,
however, this is not an ownership interest which equates to liability under MTCA or the
Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act, 42 U.S.C. § 9601 et
seq.  The rights of Ecology as an “agency” under UECA, other than its’ right as a holder, are not
an interest in real property.

COVENANT 

The City of Shelton, as Grantor and fee simple owner of the Property, hereby grants to the 
Washington State Department of Ecology, and its successors and assignees, the following 
covenants.  Furthermore, it is the intent of the Grantor that such covenants shall supersede any 
prior interests the Grantor has in the Property and run with the land and be binding on all current 
and future owners of any portion of, or interest in, the Property.  

Section 1. General Restrictions and Requirements. 
The following general restrictions and requirements shall apply to the Property: 
a. Interference with Remedial Action.  The Grantor shall not engage in any activity on the
Property that may impact or interfere with the remedial action and any operation, maintenance,
inspection or monitoring of that remedial action without prior written approval from Ecology.
b. Protection of Human Health and the Environment.  The Grantor shall not engage in
any activity on the Property that may threaten continued protection of human health or the
environment without prior written approval from Ecology.  This includes, but is not limited to, any
activity that results in the release of residual contamination that was contained as a part of the
remedial action or that exacerbates or creates a new exposure to residual contamination remaining
on the Property.
c. Continued Compliance Required.  Grantor shall not convey any interest in any portion
of the Property without providing for the continued adequate and complete operation,
maintenance and monitoring of remedial actions and continued compliance with this Covenant.
d. Leases. Grantor shall restrict any lease for any portion of the Property to uses and
activities consistent with this Covenant and notify all lessees of the restrictions on the use of the
Property.
e. Preservation of Reference Monuments.  Grantor shall make a good faith effort to
preserve any reference monuments and boundary markers used to define the areal extent of
coverage of this Covenant. Should a monument or marker be damaged or destroyed, Grantor
shall have it replaced by a licensed professional surveyor within 30 days of discovery of the
damage or destruction.
Section 2. Specific Prohibitions and Requirements. 
In addition to the general restrictions in Section 1 of this Covenant, the following additional 
specific restrictions and requirements shall apply to the Property.  
a. Land use. The Property shall not be used for residential purposes.
b. Containment of soil/waste materials. The remedial action for the Property is based on
containing contaminated soils and solid waste under a low permeability soil cap. This soil cap is
located as illustrated in Exhibit B. The purpose of this soil cap is to prevent direct contact and
minimize infiltration of precipitation through the contaminated soils and solid waste.



Publication Number: 15-09-054 Attachment C page 3 Revised: December 22, 2016 

Any activity on the Property that will compromise the integrity of the cap including drilling; 
digging; piercing the cap with sampling device, post, stake or similar device; grading; excavation; 
installation of underground utilities; removal of the cap; or, application of loads in excess of the 
cap load bearing capacity, is prohibited without prior written approval by Ecology. The Grantor 
shall report to Ecology within forty-eight (48) hours of the discovery of any damage to the cap. 
Unless an alternative plan has been approved by Ecology in writing, the Grantor shall promptly 
repair the damage and submit a report documenting this work to Ecology within thirty (30) days 
of completing the repairs. 

The Grantor covenants and agrees that it shall annually, or at another time as approved in writing 
by Ecology, inspect the soil cap and report within thirty (30) days of the inspection the condition 
of the soil cap and any changes to the soil cap that would impair its performance. 
c. Stormwater facilities.  There are no existing stormwater facilities on the Property. Any
future development of stormwater facilities is prohibited within the landfill boundary. Any future
development of stormwater facilities outside the landfill boundary but within the parcel boundary
shall be performed in compliance with all applicable laws.
d. Vapor/gas controls. The residual contamination on the Property includes municipal solid
waste that may generate methane, a combustible gas. No methane was observed during the RI/FS
(Aspect, 2021). There are no existing structures and no existing vapor or gas controls on the
Property.

Any future development of structures is prohibited within the landfill boundary. Any future 
development of structures outside the landfill boundary but within the parcel boundary shall be 
performed in compliance with all applicable laws.  
e. Groundwater use. The groundwater beneath the Property remains contaminated and shall
not be extracted for any purpose other than monitoring. No new water wells may be installed on
the Property due to the set-back restriction in Chapter 173-160-171 Washington Administrative
Code (WAC) of 1,000 feet from the boundary of a landfill.
g. Monitoring. Several groundwater monitoring wells are located on the Property to monitor
the performance of the remedial action.  The Grantor shall maintain clear access to these devices
and protect them from damage.  The Grantor shall report to Ecology within forty-eight (48) hours
of the discovery of any damage to any monitoring device.  Unless Ecology approves of an
alternative plan in writing, the Grantor shall promptly repair the damage and submit a report
documenting this work to Ecology within thirty (30) days of completing the repairs.

Section 3. Access.  

a. The Grantor shall maintain clear access to all remedial action components necessary to
construct, operate, inspect, monitor, and maintain the remedial action.
b. The Grantor freely and voluntarily grants Ecology and its authorized representatives, upon
reasonable notice, the right to enter the Property at reasonable times to evaluate the effectiveness
of this Covenant and associated remedial actions, and enforce compliance with this Covenant and
those actions, including the right to take samples, inspect any remedial actions conducted on the
Property, and to inspect related records.
c. No right of access or use by a third party to any portion of the Property is conveyed by this
instrument.

Section 4. Notice Requirements.  



Publication Number: 15-09-054 Attachment C page 4 Revised: December 22, 2016 

a. Conveyance of Any Interest. The Grantor, when conveying any interest in any part of the 
Property, including but not limited to title, easement, leases, and security or other interests, must: 

i. Provide written notice to Ecology of the intended conveyance at least thirty (30) days 
in advance of the conveyance.3 

ii.  Include in the conveying document a notice in substantially the following form, as well 
as a complete copy of this Covenant:   

NOTICE:  THIS PROPERTY IS SUBJECT TO AN ENVIRONMENTAL 
COVENANT GRANTED TO THE WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF 
ECOLOGY ON [DATE] AND RECORDED WITH THE MASON COUNTY 
AUDITOR UNDER RECORDING NUMBER [RECORDING NUMBER].  USES AND 
ACTIVITIES ON THIS PROPERTY MUST COMPLY WITH THAT 
COVENANT, A COMPLETE COPY OF WHICH IS ATTACHED TO THIS 
DOCUMENT. 

iii. Unless otherwise agreed to in writing by Ecology, provide Ecology with a complete 
copy of the executed document within thirty (30) days of the date of execution of such 
document.  

b. Reporting Violations.  Should the Grantor become aware of any violation of this 
Covenant, Grantor shall promptly report such violation in writing to Ecology. 
c. Emergencies. For any emergency or significant change in site conditions due to Acts of 
Nature (for example, flood or fire) resulting in a violation of this Covenant, the Grantor is 
authorized to respond to such an event in accordance with state and federal law.  The Grantor 
must notify Ecology in writing of the event and response actions planned or taken as soon as 
practical but no later than within 24 hours of the discovery of the event.  
d. Notification procedure.  Any required written notice, approval, reporting or other 
communication shall be personally delivered or sent by first class mail to the following persons. 
Any change in this contact information shall be submitted in writing to all parties to this 
Covenant.  Upon mutual agreement of the parties to this Covenant, an alternative to personal 
delivery or first-class mail, such as e-mail or other electronic means, may be used for these 
communications. 
 

 
3 Ecology may waive this notice provision for some units at a property where the anticipated use is a 
multi-tenant/owner building where some owners or tenants are unlikely to be exposed to residual 
contamination. For example: upper story apartments or condominiums, or commercial tenants in a strip 
mall, with limited rights to use the grounds under and around the building (such as for parking).   

If Ecology agrees to such a waiver, the circumstances of the waiver must be detailed in paragraph 4.a.i.  
In addition to the specific circumstances, this provision must include the following statement:  “Waiver of 
this advance notice to Ecology for these transactions does not constitute waiver of this notice for the 
entire Property nor a waiver of the requirement in Section 4.a.ii. to include this notice in any document 
conveying interest in the Property.” 



Publication Number: 15-09-054 Attachment C page 5 Revised: December 22, 2016 

City Manager 
City of Shelton 
525 W. Cota Street 
Shelton, WA 98584 
(360) 426-4491
cityofshelton@sheltonwa.gov

Environmental Covenants Coordinator 
Washington State Department of Ecology 
Toxics Cleanup Program 
P.O. Box 47600 
Olympia, WA  98504 – 7600 
(360) 407-6000
ToxicsCleanupProgramHQ@ecy.wa.gov

Section 5. Modification or Termination. 

a. Grantor must provide written notice and obtain approval from Ecology at least sixty (60)
days in advance of any proposed activity or use of the Property within landfill boundary in a
manner that is inconsistent with this Covenant. 4  For any proposal that is inconsistent with this
Covenant and permanently modifies an activity or use restriction at the site: 5

i. Ecology must issue a public notice and provide an opportunity for the public to
comment on the proposal; and 

ii. If Ecology approves of the proposal, the Covenant must be amended to reflect the
change before the activity or use can proceed. 
b. If the conditions at the site requiring a Covenant have changed or no longer exist, then the
Grantor may submit a request to Ecology that this Covenant be amended or terminated.  Any
amendment or termination of this Covenant must follow the procedures in MTCA and UECA and
any rules promulgated under these chapters.
c. By signing this agreement, per RCW 64.70.100, the original signatories to this agreement,
other than Ecology, agree to waive all rights to sign amendments to and termination of this
Covenant. 6

Section 6. Enforcement and Construction. 

a. This Covenant is being freely and voluntarily granted by the Grantor.
b. Within ten (10) days of execution of this Covenant, Grantor shall provide Ecology with
an original signed Covenant and proof of recording and a copy of the Covenant and proof of
recording to others required by RCW 64.70.070.
c. Ecology shall be entitled to enforce the terms of this Covenant by resort to specific
performance or legal process.  All remedies available in this Covenant shall be in addition to any
and all remedies at law or in equity, including MTCA and UECA.   Enforcement of the terms of
this Covenant shall be at the discretion of Ecology, and any forbearance, delay or omission to
exercise its rights under this Covenant in the event of a breach of any term of this Covenant is

4 Example of inconsistent uses are using the Property for a use not allowed under the covenant (i.e. 
mixed residential and commercial use on a property restricted to industrial uses), OR drilling a water 
supply well when use of the groundwater for water supply is prohibited by the covenant. 
5 An example of an activity that is unlikely to be considered a permanent modification is a proposal to 
disturb a cap to repair an existing underground utility that passes through the site.  However, installing a 
new underground utility within a capped area would be a permanent change. 
6 As time passes, the original grantor and other signers of the Covenant may no longer exist as viable 
entities.  This provision is intended to allow future amendments or termination of the Covenant without 
Ecology having to seek court authorization, as provided by RCW 64.70.100.  

mailto:ToxicsCleanupProgramHQ@ecy.wa.gov


Publication Number: 15-09-054 Attachment C page 6 Revised: December 22, 2016 

not a waiver by Ecology of that term or of any subsequent breach of that term, or any other term 
in this Covenant, or of any rights of Ecology under this Covenant. 
d. The Grantor shall be responsible for all costs associated with implementation of this
Covenant.  Furthermore, the Grantor, upon request by Ecology, shall be obligated to pay for
Ecology’s costs to process a request for any modification or termination of this Covenant and
any approval required by this Covenant.

e. This Covenant shall be liberally construed to meet the intent of MTCA and UECA.
f. The provisions of this Covenant shall be severable.  If any provision in this Covenant or
its application to any person or circumstance is held invalid, the remainder of this Covenant or its
application to any person or circumstance is not affected and shall continue in full force and
effect as though such void provision had not been contained herein.
g. A heading used at the beginning of any section or paragraph or exhibit of this Covenant
may be used to aid in the interpretation of that section or paragraph or exhibit but does not
override the specific requirements in that section or paragraph.

The undersigned Grantor warrants he/she holds the title to the Property and has authority to 
execute this Covenant. 

EXECUTED this ______ day of __________________, 20___. 

_______________________________________ 

by: ________Mark Ziegler_________________ 

Title: ______City Manager, City of Shelton____ 



Publication Number: 15-09-054 Attachment C page 7 Revised: December 22, 2016 

REPRESENTATIVE ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 
STATE OF  
COUNTY OF 

On this   day of    , 20__, I certify that  Mark Ziegler  
personally appeared before me, acknowledged that he/she signed this instrument, on oath stated 
that he/she was authorized to execute this instrument, and acknowledged it as the _City 
Manager___  of __City of Shelton__ to be the free and voluntary act and deed of such party for 
the uses and purposes mentioned in the instrument. 

__________________________________________ 
Notary Public in and for the State of Washington 15 
Residing at  ________________________________ 
My appointment expires   _____________________ 



Publication Number: 15-09-054 Attachment C page 8 Revised: December 22, 2016 

The Department of Ecology, hereby accepts the status as GRANTEE and HOLDER of 
the above Environmental Covenant. 

STATE OF WASHINGTON 
DEPARTMENT OF ECOLOGY 

______________________________________________     

by: ________ Jerome Lambiotte _________ 

Title: ___Section Manager, TCP-Southwest Region________ 

Dated: _____________________________ 

STATE ACKNOWLEDGMENT 

STATE OF  

COUNTY OF 

On this   day of    , 20__, I certify that ___________________________ 
personally appeared before me, acknowledged that he/she is the  
of the state agency that executed the within and foregoing instrument, and signed said instrument by 
free and voluntary act and deed, for the uses and purposes therein mentioned, and on oath stated that 
he/she was authorized to execute said instrument for said state agency. 

__________________________________________ 
Notary Public in and for the State of Washington 

Residing at  ________________________________ 

My appointment expires  ______________________ 



Publication Number: 15-09-054 Attachment C page 9 Revised: December 22, 2016 

Exhibit A 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

The North half of the Northeast quarter of Section 24, Township 20 North, Range 4 West, 
W.M., in Mason County, Washington.

EXCEPTING therefrom a 250 foot strip of land within said North half of the Northeast 
quarter of the Northwest quarter quitclaimed to Rayonier Incorporated by the City of 
Shelton and described with particularity in Quitclaim Deed from the City of Shelton to 
Rayonier Incorporated dated July 12, 1949, and recorded in the Office of the County 

Auditor of Mason County, Washington, in Deed Record No. 125 at page 549.  

ALSO EXCEPTING therefrom that part of the North half of the Northeast quarter of the 
Northwest quarter of Section 24, Township 20 North, Range 4 West, W.M., in Mason 

County, Washington, lying Easterly of the Easterly line of a 250 foot wide strip of land 
conveyed to Rayonier Incorporated by deed dated July 12, 1949, and recorded in Volume 

125 of Deeds, page 549.  



Publication Number: 15-09-054 Attachment C page 10 Revised: December 22, 2016 

Exhibit B/C 

PROPERTY MAP  
MAP ILLUSTRATING LOCATION OF RESTRICTIONS 



Publication Number: 15-09-054 Attachment C page 11 Revised: December 22, 2016 



AMW-3

AMW-1

AMW-4
AMW-2

X

160

160
165

165

170

170

175

175

180

180

155

155

15
0

15
0

150

150

15
515

5

16
0

16
5

16
9

17
0

160

165

169
15

0
15

5

16
0

16
0

16
5

15
5 16

0

165

169

165

160

155

Feet
0 100 200

POINT OF COMPLIANCE GROUNDWATER
MONITORING WELL

GRADE CONTOURS

LANDFILL PARCEL

CHAIN LINK FENCE LOCATION

LIMIT OF CLEAR, GRUB & DISTURBANCE

FORESTED AREA BOUNDARY

ELEVATION CONTOUR (2FT INTERVAL)

TRANSMISSION LINE EASEMENT BOUNDARY

LEGEND

*

X

60

GATE

EXHIBIT B / C
Containment Soil Cap Extent

C Street Landfill
Shelton, Washington

Nov-2023
1

ALC/CMV

-150074C

FIGURE NO.BY:

REVISED BY:PROJECT NO.

CA
D

 P
at

h:
 Q

:\
Ci

ty
 o

f S
he

lto
n\

15
00

74
 S

he
lto

n 
C 

St
re

et
 L

an
df

ill
\2

02
3-

11
 E

xh
ib

it\
15

00
74

-0
3.

dw
g 

 L
ay

ou
t: 

C-
03

  |
| 

  D
at

e 
Sa

ve
d:

 1
1/

10
/2

02
3 

11
:1

2:
42

 A
M

   
 |

| 
  U

se
r: 

ca
ro

lin
e.

va
ns

ly
ke

CHAIN LINK FENCE
INSTALLED AT EXTENT
OF SOIL CAP



Council Briefing Form  Revised 07/01/2020 

 

CITY OF SHELTON  
COUNCIL BRIEFING REQUEST 

(Agenda Item F1) 

Touch Date:   01/31/2024  
Brief Date:     04/16/2024   
Action Date:   05/07/2024   

Department: Police Department/General Fund 
   
Presented By: Mike Githens, Finance Director 

 
  
APPROVED FOR COUNCIL PACKET: 

PROGRAM/PROJECT TITLE: 
Police Department Vehicle Purchase 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
1. Resolution No. 1317-0224  
2. Dept. of Enterprise Services Quote 
3. Purchase Order 24-200   

 
Action Requested: 
 

 Ordinance 

 Resolution 

 Motion 

 Other 
 

ROUTE TO: REVIEWED: 
 

 
 
Dept. Head  

  Chief 
Kostad 

 
 

 
Finance Director  M. Githens 

 
 

 
Attorney  

 
 

 
City Clerk D. Nault 

 
 

 
City Manager 

 
      

 
DESCRIPTION OF THE PROGRAM/PROJECT AND BACKGROUND INFORMATION:   
The Police Department 2024 budget requested and was approved for the purchase of one new patrol 
Interceptor to replace a 2013 Dodge Charger police vehicle with 117,000 miles. The new 2024 model Ford 
Interceptor SUV AWD police vehicle is priced at a total cost of $70,212 with upfitting for the City’s 
specifications for a police response vehicle and is under budget. 

   
ANALYSIS/OPTIONS/ALTERNATIVES:  
Replacing our police fleet with new vehicles keeps the fleet more refreshed and limits potential repair costs of 
the older vehicles. 

 
BUDGET/FISCAL INFORMATION:  
Budget request of $86,000 was approved in the adopted 2024 Police Department budget.   
 
PUBLIC INFORMATION REQUIREMENTS:  
All information on this vehicle purchase has been included within the packet materials for this Council item.  

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION/MOTION:  
“I move to approve Resolution No. 1317-0224 as presented.”   



   

RESOLUTION NO. 1317-0224 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF SHELTON, WASHINGTON AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO SIGN 
A PURCHASE ORDER FOR THE ACQUISTION OF A 2024 FORD INTERCEPTOR SUV AWD PATROL VEHICLE 

TO SUPPORT POLICE OPERATIONS 
 

 
WHEREAS, the 2024 adopted budget included an expenditure of $86,000 out of the General Fund for a 
new police vehicle to support police operations; and  
 
WHEREAS, the City needs this vehicle to perform police duties, including times of inclement weather to 
ensure the proper functioning of the public safety vehicles and to replace a similar vehicle that has 
reached its useful service life; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City solicited bids, utilizing the Department of Enterprise Services Contract #05916, for 
which the City can utilize, under agreement with the State of Washington; and 
 
WHEREAS, the quote and relevant information pertaining to this proposed purchase has been included 
within the attached quote to this Resolution. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, by the City Council of the City of Shelton, WA, that the City 
Manager is authorized to sign purchase orders not to exceed $86,000 for a new police vehicle and 
additional needed equipment/hardware, as approved within the adopted 2024 budget.  
 
INTRODUCED on the 16th day of April 2024 and passed by the City Council of the City of Shelton on this 
7th day of May 2024. 
 
                                                                          __________________________________ 
ATTEST:                                                                Mayor Onisko 
 
   
____________________________  
City Clerk Nault 











PURCHASE ORDER

VENDOR NAME & ADDRESS: SHIP TO NAME & ADDRESS:

P.O. #
P.O. 

DATE REQUESTER     SHIP VIA F.O.B. 
POINT TERMS

QTY UNIT DESCRIPTION BARS #
UNIT 

PRICE TOTAL

PURCHASE JUSTIFICATION SHIPPING

SUBTOTAL

Tax (8.8%)

APPROVING MANAGER TOTAL

Enter this order in accordance with the prices, terms, delivery method, and specifications listed above.
Please notify the Department Contact immediately if you are unable to ship as specified.

Please send a copy of your invoice to the mailing address below and to the attention of the Requester identified above.

525 W. Cota St., Shelton, WA 98584
Tel: (360) 426-4491

Website:www.sheltonwa.gov

http://www.sheltonwa.gov/

	1 Agenda_20240507
	2 2024 Looking Ahead
	3 Vouchers_20240507
	4 DRAFT Minutes_20240305
	COUNCILMEMBERS AND PERSONNEL

	5 DRAFT Minutes_20240312_Study Session
	COUNCILMEMBERS AND PERSONNEL
	ADJOURN
	Mayor Onisko adjourned the meeting at 7:07 p.m.

	6 DRAFT Minutes_20240319
	COUNCILMEMBERS AND PERSONNEL

	7 2024 PW Week Proclamation
	8 2023 Annual Report_Updated
	9 Transportation Benefit District 2023 Annual Report
	City of Shelton�Transportation Benefit District �2023 Annual Report
	Transportation Benefit District �Annual Report Statement�The City of Shelton is pleased to present its Transportation Benefit District (TBD) 2023 Annual Report. This report is written to summarize 2023 revenues and expenditures associated with TBD funds and project schedule updates. �Background�The Shelton City Council created the Shelton Transportation Benefit District (TBD), a quasi-municipal taxing jurisdiction authorized by State law to fund street maintenance. Shelton voters approved a sales tax increase of 0.2% (Two-tenths of one percent) for ten years to fund street maintenance projects within the City limits. Revenues collected from this additional sales tax levy are held in separate accounts and used only for authorized street maintenance projects.�Governance�When the Transportation Benefit District was established in 2015, the Shelton City Council assumed Governance to oversee activities, expenditures, and revenues. The Transportation Benefit District special revenue fund was created in 2021 to clearly show the beginning and ending fund balances as well as budgeted transfers to authorized uses. The money will remain in these funds until it is allocated by the City Council, through Resolutions, for use on qualifying projects. All business for the Shelton Transportation Benefit District will take place during regular City Council meetings.�Why was the TBD Established?�City street infrastructure is aging, and funding is needed for street and sidewalk maintenance. Transportation infrastructure is one of the City’s most valuable investments, and deferred maintenance drives repair costs higher. State and Federal funding for maintenance and preservation of City streets has been reduced in recent years. While these revenues have decreased, costs continue to rise, making it difficult for the City to adequately preserve and maintain streets and sidewalks.�TBD Leverage Strategy�The City continues to use the strategy of leveraging future TBD funds as a local match when applying for grants of State and Federal funds. Each time the City is successful in receiving grant funds, large planned pavement maintenance projects are completed at a fraction of the total cost, benefiting all the residents in the City.
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5

	10 Agenda Briefing WWTP Back_Up Disinfection Grant Acceptance
	APPROVED FOR COUNCIL PACKET:

	11 Resolution No 1328-0324 WWTP Grant Acceptance Disinfection
	12 Attachment A , DOH Agreement & Parametrix Scope of Work
	Scan Shelton_20240424_164412
	04_Scope Budget Parametrix
	SheltonDinfectionSystemSOW_20240417
	General
	Basis Of Design
	Assumptions

	Task 3 – Design Services
	Subtask 3.1 – Project Management
	Subtask Objectives
	Approach
	Assumptions
	Deliverables

	Subtask 3.2 – Preliminary Design
	Subtask Objectives
	Approach
	Assumptions
	Deliverables

	Subtask 3.3 – 85% Design
	Subtask Objectives
	Approach
	Assumptions

	Deliverables
	Subtask 3.4 – 100% Bid Documents
	Subtask Objectives
	Approach
	Deliverables



	04_SheltonDisinfectionSystemBudget_20240417


	13 Council Briefing, WWTP Satellite Treatement Plant Tank
	APPROVED FOR COUNCIL PACKET:

	14 Resolution No 1331-0424 WWTP Wetland Delineation
	15 Attachment A Wetland Scope_Budget Krippner Consulting
	Wetland_scope_Shelton_20240326
	G&O Fee Estimate  - RWT Wetlands

	16 Council Protocol Manual Revisions Briefing
	APPROVED FOR COUNCIL PACKET:

	17 City Council Protocol Manual draft edits accepted version 04242024
	OATH OF OFFICE
	Foreword
	Chapter 1
	Introduction and Overview
	1.01 Council-Manager Form of Government
	1.02 Association of Washington Cities and Municipal Research & Services Center of Washington
	1.03 Purpose of City Council Protocol Manual
	1.04 Overview of Basic City Documents
	Shelton Municipal Code
	Personnel Policies and Procedures Handbook
	Revised Code of Washington
	Budget
	Annual Financial Report
	Comprehensive Plan
	Six-year Capital Improvement Program
	Disaster Preparedness Plan

	1.05 Orientation of New Councilmembers


	Chapter 2
	Shelton City Council: General Powers and Responsibilities
	2.01 City Council Generally
	2.02 Role of Councilmembers
	Establish Policy
	Enact Local Laws
	Supervise Appointed Officials
	Provide Public Leadership

	2.03   Role of Mayor
	Presiding Officer
	Ceremonial Representative

	2.04 Absence of Mayor and Councilmembers
	2.05 Election of Mayor and Deputy Mayor
	2.06 Appointment of City Manager
	2.07 Advisory Bodies and Council Participation on Outside Boards
	Creation of Boards and Commissions

	2.08   Dual Office Holding


	Chapter 3
	Support Provided to City Council
	3.01 Staff/Clerical Support
	3.02 Office Equipment
	3.03 Meeting Rooms
	3.04 Mail and Deliveries


	Chapter 4
	Financial Matters
	4.01 Council Compensation
	4.02 Expenses
	4.03 Travel Policy
	Travel Involving an Overnight Stay
	Pre-authorization of Travel Involving an Overnight Stay
	Reimbursement of Travel Expenses
	Individual Meals - Same Day Travel
	Per Diem for Out-of-Town, Overnight Meals
	Incidental Expenses
	Personal Vehicles
	Reporting of Actual Expenses




	Chapter 5
	Communications
	5.01 Overview
	5.02 Correspondence from Councilmembers
	5.03 Local Ballot Measures
	5.04 Proclamations
	5.05 State Public Records Act
	Records – Generally
	Written Communications
	Serial communications



	Chapter 6
	Conflicts of Interest and Liability of Elected Officials
	6.01 Conflicts of Interest
	6.02 Liability and indemnification


	Chapter 7
	Interaction with City Staff/Officials
	7.01 Council-Manager Plan of Government
	7.02 City Council Non-interference
	7.03 City Manager Performance evaluation
	7.04 City Council/City Staff Relationship
	7.05 City Council/City Attorney Relationship
	7.06 Roles and Information Flow
	7.07 Council Attendance Policy
	7.08 Attendance via Electronic Communication


	Chapter 8
	City Council Meetings
	8.01 Meeting Schedule
	8.02 Public Notice of Meetings and Hearings
	8.03 Special Meetings
	8.04 Study Sessions
	8.05 Placing Items on the Agenda
	8.06    Development of the Agenda
	8.07 Order of Business
	Call to Order; Pledge of Allegiance
	Agenda Modifications
	H. Ordinances and Resolutions
	Prior Administrative Review
	Ordinance Preparation
	Ordinance Passage

	I. City Manager’s Reports
	J. Upcoming Meetings
	K. Executive Session
	L. Addressing the Council - Generally
	M. Addressing the Council - Manner & Limits
	N. Addressing the Council – Decorum
	O. Meeting time and Adjournment

	8.08    General Meeting Procedures
	Signing of City Documents
	Quorum
	Minutes
	Votes Required for Passage

	8.09 Open Public Meetings Act


	Chapter 9
	Parliamentary Procedure

	Chapter 10
	Protocol Administration
	10.01  Review
	10.02  Adherence to Protocol
	Step 1:  Notice and opportunity to cure
	Step 2:  Council meeting discussion
	Step 3:  Censure and removal from duties

	10.03  City Attorney as Protocol Advisor


	Chapter 11
	Additional Training and Resource Materials
	11.01  Association of Washington Cities [(800) 562-8981]
	11.02  National League of Cities [(202) 626-3000]
	11.03  International City/County Management Association [(202) 289-4262]
	11.04  International Institute of Municipal Clerks [(909) 944-4162]
	11.05  Government Finance Officers Association [(312) 977-9700]
	11.06  Municipal Research & Services Center of Washington [(206) 625-1300]
	11.07  Appendix
	11.08  Other Reference Materials


	Chapter 12
	Leaving Office
	12.01  Return of Materials, Equipment, and Records
	12.02  Filling Council Vacancies
	Interview Meeting
	Voting



	APPENDIX
	Tips for Successful Public Service


	18 Policy #100 -10 Council Agenda Briefing - Reports draft 04242024
	19 Council Strategic Goals_2022 edits 03182024
	20 Musem Use Agreement Briefing Briefing
	APPROVED FOR COUNCIL PACKET:

	21 Historical Society Museum Lease 04232024 v1
	22 C Street Landfill Environmental Covenant Briefing
	APPROVED FOR COUNCIL PACKET:

	23 Resolution No.  1330-0424 C Street Landfill Covenant
	24 C Street Landfill Draft Environmental_Covenant_4_3_2024 (002)
	ADP33E4.tmp
	Environmental Covenant
	RECITALS 1F
	COVENANT
	Section 1. General Restrictions and Requirements.
	Section 2. Specific Prohibitions and Requirements.
	Section 3. Access.
	Section 4. Notice Requirements.
	Section 5. Modification or Termination.
	Section 6. Enforcement and Construction.
	Exhibit A
	Exhibit B/C
	Property Map


	ADP87EA.tmp
	Enclosure A


	25 Agenda Briefing Resolution 1317-0224 Police Dept. Vehicle Purchase
	APPROVED FOR COUNCIL PACKET:

	26 Resolution 1317-0224, Police Dept. Vehicle Purchase
	27 2024 Police Interceptor DES Contract 05916
	28 PURCHASE ORDER 24-200 Bud Clary Ford Hyundai
	525 W. Cota St., Shelton, WA 98584


	Text1: Bud Clary Ford/Hyundai700 7th Ave.Longview, WA 98632-2107
	Text2: City of Shelton525 W. Cota St.Shelton, WA 98584
	Text3: 24-200
	Text4: 4/1/2024
	Text5: Calvin Moran
	Text6: 
	Text7: 
	Text8: 
	QTY ROW 1: 1
	Text10: 
	Text11: 2025 Ford police Interceptor AWD Pursuit-Rated Utility/SUV
	Text12: 302-000-000-59421-6000
	UNIT PRICE ROW 1: 64673.17
	TOTAL ROW 1: 64673.17
	QTY ROW 2: 
	Text16: 
	Text17: 
	Text18: 
	UNIT PRICE ROW 2: 
	TOTAL ROW 2: 0
	QTY ROW 3: 
	Text22: 
	Text23: 
	Text24: 
	UNIT PRICE ROW 3: 
	TOTAL ROW 3: 0
	QTY ROW 4: 
	Text28: 
	Text29: 
	Text30: 
	UNIT PRICE ROW 4: 
	TOTAL ROW 4: 0
	QTY ROW 5: 
	Text34: 
	Text35: 
	Text36: 
	UNIT PRICE ROW 5: 
	TOTAL ROW 5: 0
	QTY ROW 6: 
	Text40: 
	Text41: 
	Text42: 
	UNIT PRICE ROW 6: 
	TOTAL ROW 6: 0
	QTY ROW 7: 
	Text46: 
	Text47: 
	Text48: 
	UNIT PRICE ROW 7: 
	TOTAL ROW 7: 0
	Text51: Approved 2024 budget request ($70,000) to purchase a new AWD Ford Interceptor SUV for the Police Department.  WA Department of Enterprises Contract #05916.
	SHIPPING ROW 8: 
	SUBTOTAL ROW 9: 64673.17
	TAX: 5538.83
	TOTAL ROW 11: 70212
	Text56: 


